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PREFACE

This text was developed as the result of a perceived need for non-financial
managers to know enough about financial management in the context of
health services to be successful in their day-to-day managerial activities
while not burdening them with an approach bordering on overkill. As a
result, this text is not an “everything you ever wanted to know about fi-
nancial management, but were afraid to ask” tome. Instead, it is a plain
talk, introductory text that provides enough information to be useful and
completely sufficient for non-financial managers while at the same time
providing a sound basis for additional study.

Only basic math is required: multiply, divide, add, and subtract. The
reader must possess a reasonable level of common sense and a willing-
ness to ask questions and challenge the answers the simple math provides:
Does the answer make sense? Is it achievable? Was the right math applied
to the wrong data?

The combination of simple mathematics, a positive attitude, a question-
ing approach, and the tools provided in this text will go a long way to
helping managers succeed in achieving their objectives.

Please note that with the exception of historical values and amounts,
the volume amounts, dollar values, costs, prices, productivity rates, and so
on are solely for demonstration purposes and are not meant to represent
real-world values.
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INTRODUCTION

For decades, managers in health care have risen to those positions from
the various technical and professional ranks. The best nurse became the
nurse manager. The best pharmacist became the pharmacy director. The
best social worker was promoted to director of social work. Few, if any,
possessed the necessary business skills to perform well in managerial posi-
tions. A cartoon in the New Yorker several years ago portrayed this well. It
depicted two men chatting at a bar over drinks. One turns to the other and
says, “Then I made the leap from skilled labor to unskilled management.”

This is not to say that the best nurse, pharmacist, and social worker
cannot also become strong managers. In fact, one of the most important
tasks for any manager is overcoming the pervasive myth that non-financial
managers are incapable of managing the financial resource. This myth
may have begun in the earliest days of the modern health care era (gen-
erally defined as beginning with the implementation of Medicare in the
mid-1960s) when department-level managers often concentrated only on
their professional work (nursing, labs, environmental services, etc.) and
paid scant attention to their operating budgets. In today’s environment,
these same managers do pay attention to their financial performance, but
they are handicapped by the carryover notion that mere mortals cannot do
financial management. It is a challenge to confidence. Lacking the confi-
dence that one can perform certain functions, one has difficulty with those
functions. Again, this is based on the notion of living up to or down to
expectations. The truth is that anyone capable of four simple mathematical
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tasks (multiplication, division, addition, subtraction) can be a good finan-
cial manager as long as he or she applies a sound level of common sense
to the results of his or her mathematical efforts.

Like it or not, health care has become a business. Resources are scarce
and stretched to the breaking point. Doing more with less is routine. The
need for sound financial management tools—survival skills—is para-
mount. These tools and survival skills form the heart of this book. Man-
agers need proficiency in planning and budgeting, financial analysis, and
resource maximization. These skills are critical if health care organiza-
tions are to achieve their missions and operating units are to contribute to
“bottom-line” results.

Planning and budgeting skills include (1) being able to calculate a vol-
ume budget and a revenue budget based on workload and prices; (2) deter-
mining staffing levels that support a given degree of business activity and
that take productivity and idle time into account; (3) preparing a salary
budget that includes base salary, raises during the year, shift, and other
premium payments; and (4) developing a budget for supplies, services,
and equipment.

Examining financial performance requires that managers know how to
do volume-adjusted variance analysis to help understand the real drivers
of a deviation from budget. They need to know how to put together a vari-
ety of financial analyses to support business planning, investigate emerg-
ing opportunities, and make prudent, sound decisions.

Performance reporting is essential to maximize scarce resources. Man-
agers must be able to read and understand the reports, focus on the im-
portant elements, and use the information gleaned from row upon row of
numbers to better manage their resources.

Because so many managers do not possess these skills, organizations
often fail to achieve the results they had hoped for. This text will pro-
vide these new managers, as well as their more experienced colleagues,
with the tools they need to manage scarce resources and achieve their
objectives.



Chapter 1

WELCOME TO HEALTH CARE
AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The principal role of a manager is to achieve the organization’s objec-
tives. That role is not necessarily to achieve the objectives solely of the
department but rather the organization as a whole. That is to say, managers
should focus on both their department’s objectives and the entire organi-
zation’s objectives. This is because health care organizations are really
systems rather than individual departments.

Consider the example of the laboratory manager who wishes to achieve his de-
partmental objective of having the lowest possible cost per test. The easiest way
to do this is to eliminate evening, night, and weekend staffing; batch process all
specimens using high-capacity instruments; and ban STAT testing and exotic,
high-cost tests. These strategies will achieve the lowest possible cost per test. At
the same time, however, there will be a significant, adverse effect on the orga-
nization’s objective of providing quality, timely care because laboratory results
will be delayed, causing treatment to be delayed. Let’s say that a patient presents
in the emergency department on a Sunday evening with a hot belly. The patient
will languish there while waiting until Monday morning for the labs to reopen.
By then, a simple case of appendicitis may have degenerated into a more serious
case: a ruptured appendix and the associated peritonitis. This strategy is certainly
not good for patient care but successful from the standpoint of a manager trying
to hit a department cost target. Further, because a lack of timely test results slows
patient care throughout the hospital, the institutional revenue flow suffers, drop-
ping faster and further than the drop in operating cost.

Managers need to strike a balance between departmental and organiza-
tional objectives. Instead of shooting for the lowest possible cost per test, a
more reasonable cost target that would have kept the 1ab fully functioning
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might have been established while at the same time not blocking the flow
of patients. In this way, cost could have been reduced, although not as
dramatically, revenue would not have been negatively impacted, and the
bottom-line result would have been significantly better.

Unfortunately, many managers don’t see the “big picture” and do not
understand how their actions impact the rest of the organization. Many are
incentivized via performance review systems to focus solely on depart-
mental objectives. Health care organizations, and particularly hospitals,
are extremely compartmentalized, with each department functioning in
isolation in its own compartment with little or no sense of what is happen-
ing in the other compartments. This is one of the contributors to organiza-
tional dysfunctionality and is a principal reason that patient flow is not as
smooth as it could be. Inefficiencies abound in these compartmentalized
organizations.

DEFINING FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Financial management is the art of maximizing wealth or value: wealth for
the stockholders in a for-profit organization and value for the stakeholders
in a nonprofit setting. It involves getting the most out of the resources. In
either setting, profit is essential. In fact, to reinforce the proper mind-set,
it is far better to avoid the use of the terms “for-profit” and “nonprofit,”
instead using “taxable” for the for-profit organizations and “tax exempt”
for the nonprofits. People often live up to or down to expectations. And
so, if the expectation is that the organization is nonprofit, then not mak-
ing a profit is perfectly acceptable. Changing the vocabulary changes the
expectation.

What parents would ever suggest to their school-age child that they aim
for a “B” grade? Missing a bit low can result in a “C” which is not a very
good grade. Instead, parents encourage their children to strive to achieve
“A’s.” A miss there will still result in a B—a good grade.

As the late Sister Irene Kraus, former head of the Daughters of Charity
National Health System, so eloquently put it, “No margin, no mission!”
Without profits (margin), there is no monetary fuel to drive the mission of
the organization. Where does the money come from to acquire new tech-
nologies, to fund new program initiatives, to renew and expand hospitals
and clinics, and to do all the other things that patients have come to expect?
The answer is from the bottom line—the profits of the organization.

But the focus needs to be balanced, not focused solely on the bottom
line. To borrow from Sister Irene, the focus must simultaneously consider
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both margin and mission. Proper consideration must be given to the clini-
cal and service implications when making business and financial deci-
sions. And the business and financial reality must be taken into account
when clinical and service decisions are being made.

Consider a hospital that is in need of reducing operating costs. The materials
management department is preparing to let a contract for a year’s worth of re-
placement fluorescent bulbs for all of its light fixtures. Historically, the hospital
spends $3 million on bulbs each year. The hospital management has received
three bids: Supplier A at $2.5 million, Supplier B at $2.75 million, and Supplier
C at 2.6 million. All three are 75 watt with an expected life of two years in nor-
mal hospital use. Ordinarily, one would expect to go with Supplier A as the low
bidder—a strictly business decision. But what if that brand of bulb gave off light
that caused the patients’ skin to take on an off-color glow? Would this be a good
business decision, but a poor clinical one? And how could the decision be bal-
anced? If the goal were to reduce cost while providing good clinical care, going
with Supplier C ($2.6 million) would allow the hospital to achieve a substantial
cost reduction while simultaneously safeguarding good clinical care: a balanced
decision.

The best way to visualize this notion of balance is the functioning of a
grandfather clock. Just as the pendulum of the clock seen in Figure 1.1
must swing back and forth in order for the clock to keep good time, so
too must the decision process swing back and forth between the clini-
cal/service imperative and the business/financial reality. Neither side can
trump the other. Both sides need to be given proper consideration so that a
prudent, balanced decision is made.

STRATEGIES FOR SUCCESS

The best way to improve financial performance, reported in an organi-
zation’s operating statement, is by employing a series of business strat-
egies to improve the bottom line and in so doing improve and expand
its mission. These strategies (Figure 1.2) begin with the notion that the
bottom-line profit is devoted to supporting the organizational mission.
One could argue that in a for-profit (taxable) entity the mission exists
in order to make profits, the return on investment for the stockholders,
while in a nonprofit (tax exempt) entity the profit exists to drive mission.
Regardless, there has to be a healthy bottom line, or the organization will
cease to exist. Losing money year after year after year is a prescription for
bankruptcy.



Clinical Business and

and Service Financial
Imperative Reality
Figure 1.1

The grandfather clock will keep good time as long as the pendulum swings
back and forth between the clinical/service imperative and the business/fi-
nancial reality. If the pendulum sticks to either side, the clock will stop. Good
decisions require that the pendulum keep swinging.

Mission Survival Strategies

Revenue

(Volume, Price, Collections) Growth Strategles

Expenses Control Strategies
_ Maximization and/or
Profits Optimization Strategies
Figure 1.2

All four strategies combine to drive the mission—the ultimate goal of the
organization. Each strategy reinforces and supports the others.
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The first strategy to achieving business success is a survival strategy
for the mission—to keep the business in business. This means the busi-
ness must flourish and, more important, grow. This is no different than a
newborn baby who must also flourish and grow. Failing to do so portends
a bleak future; a diagnosis of failure to thrive is not good news to new
parents. The same is true for health care organizations. The profits fuel
everything from day-to-day operations to the acquisition of new technolo-
gies, all of it designed to support and grow the mission.

The survival strategy leads to the second strategy: a maximization or
optimization strategy for the profit line, that is, making the most profit in
order to get the most mission. This can be a maximization strategy—the
largest possible profit—or an optimization strategy—the largest amount
possible while at the same time avoiding an adverse reaction from the
“three Ps”: the press, politicians, and the public. The exact amount that
triggers such a reaction is unknown. It depends on location, circumstances,
and a number of other factors. What is clear is that the three Ps have no
idea how profits work or why they are so vitally important. All they see is
the juxtaposition of a profit amount and the nonprofit notation. Given the
current environment surrounding profits, it is best to maintain a low profile
and optimize versus maximize the bottom line.

The third strategy is revenue growth, and it involves three elements:
business volume, pricing, and collections. Improvements in any of these
elements or a combination of all three will generate increased revenue—the
fuel for the business. Revenue growth is what all successful businesses
pursue. It is so much easier than trying to cut expenses. And as Tom Peters
advises, “You can’t shrink your way to greatness.”' This advice applies to
the fourth and final strategy as well: cost control.

Not to be confused with cost reduction, cost control strategies seek to
limit the growth of spending. As will be discussed in Chapter 3 “Cost
and Cost Behavior,” operating costs are largely fixed. Because of this,
strategies to control cost growth are not that difficult to implement given
that the costs themselves have to remain fairly constant. If, for example,
volume grows by 10%, the amount of cost growth can be limited to a mere
fraction of that.

While it is certainly important to track and manage performance in the
current time frame (this month, this quarter, this year), it is also impor-
tant to maintain a long-term perspective. What strategies need to be in
place in the current time frame in order to assure financial success two,
three, or four years into the future? Are there sacrifices, which must be
made this year, to assure a steady stream of business and profits in the out
years? While losing money consistently is a major problem, losing money
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this year because of actions designed to safeguard future years may be an
acceptable business strategy.

A key component of thinking strategically is the ability to anticipate
what is likely to happen and take appropriate action. Retired hockey star
Wayne Gretzky provides a marvelous insight into the notion of strategic
thinking. He advises anticipation, “A good hockey player plays where the
puck is. A great hockey player plays where the puck is going to be.”
It is far easier to achieve positive results if one can anticipate how vol-
ume will change, what new regulations will influence reimbursement, or
how events in the marketplace will affect future labor costs. Too often,
however, managers lose sight of the future and concentrate all of their
efforts on today’s issues. While this is important, it handicaps their ability
to deal with the challenges of the future. Keep in mind that health care
organizations, particularly hospitals, long-term acute care (LTAC) facili-
ties, and nursing homes do not maneuver quickly. Because of this, more
of a long-term view must be taken.

For many years, financial strategies used by large health care organiza-
tions have concentrated on cost reduction, a strategy that seeks to continue
providing care while reducing the amount of resources used to provide
that care. And although getting the most from every available resource
dollar is essential, the result, by and large, has been deterioration in the
quality of health care provided. No longer can a one-size-fits-all cost
reduction approach be taken to improving the bottom like. Two abso-
lutes must be kept in mind. The first is that reducing cost never improves
quality. The best it’s going to do is leave quality unchanged. The second
absolute is that improving quality always improves cost performance. In a
worst-case scenario, it will improve cost efficiency. Failure to comprehend
these two absolutes compromises both business and clinical outcomes.
The insistence on cost reduction leads to dysfunctionality, which makes
revenue-generating throughput more and more difficult. This reduces
bottom-line results and leads to another round of cost reduction. The orga-
nization falls into a downward spiral from which it may not recover. Clini-
cally, a concentration on cost reduction leads to more mistakes and errors,
and worse clinical outcomes.

It is also important that managers concentrate on proper communica-
tion. This involves not only understanding the language of finance and
using it properly but also making sure that questions and answers in a
finance discussion match up with each other. For instance, the answer to
the question “How much budget do I have?” is not “You have plenty of
money.” If the manager does not understand the question, how can he or
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she give a good answer? How can the manager avoid misleading people
and making a poor business decision? If one does not understand the ques-
tion, ask for it to be clarified. Remember, the one responsible for assuring
a good dialog is the one starting the dialog. Questions need to be phrased
simply and in understandable language.

PARADIGMS TO GUIDE PERFORMANCE

Success in managing money is governed by two important paradigms. The
financial management paradigm (Figure 1.3) encompasses three areas that
managers must focus on: performance planning, performance measure-
ment, and performance management.

Performance planning deals with developing statements of intent, bud-
gets and plans, and ideas of what is to be accomplished. So the questions
to be asked in this element of the paradigm are, what do we want to accom-
plish? what are our objectives?, and what is it that we wish to have achieved
when all is said and done? This is the “where do we want to be?” element.

The second element, performance measurement, answers the question,
“where are we?” in the journey to achieve the objectives. Are we ahead of

Performance
Planning

Performance
Measurement

Performance
Management

Figure 1.3

Managers must focus on all three elements of the financial management par-
adigm: planning what they want to accomplish, measuring progress toward
that goal, and managing resources to get there.
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the plan or behind? Is business growing faster than expected or slower? Is
corrective action needed to achieve the objectives? This sort of informa-
tion helps managers understand how their performance is and what, if any,
action they need to take to improve their performance.

Depending on what is reported and how well or poorly actual results
compare with the original performance plan, the third paradigm element,
performance management, comes into play. What analyses must the man-
ager perform to determine the cause of a performance deviation? What
will be the financial effect of proposed remedial action? How should per-
formance be modified to get back on track to achievement of the budgeted
performance? In essence, what does the manager need to do to get the first
two disks of the paradigm, performance planning and performance mea-
surement, to overlap; what does the manager need to do to get “where are
we?” to be the same as “where do we want to be?”

In managing financial resources, follow a monthly cycle of activities as
depictedin Figure 1.4. These activities begin with a thorough examination of
actual performance of business volume, revenues, and operating expenses.
Following these, a prudent manager will prepare forecasts—Ilooking at

Actual Performance Operating
Results , Analyses Budget
(Variance, Spending, Revenue, etc.)
Forecasting

Will the Budgeted — VYes

Results Be Achieved?

— Action Plan +<— No

Await Subsequent Reports

Figure 1.4

The cycle of management: examining performance and comparing it with
the budget, developing a forecast of the future, and putting together an ac-
tion plan to remedy problematic performance are among the monthly tasks
for managers.
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future business volume, future revenue, and future operating expenses—to
determine if managerial action is needed to achieve compliance with the
operating budget. In those rare instances when no action is needed, the
manager can move on to other activities and await the subsequent month’s
performance reports. But in most cases, action will be needed to correct
performance deviations. This will require an action plan without which
nothing ever happens.

The second essential paradigm deals with management in general: the
management success paradigm. Its three elements (Figure 1.5) are respon-
sibility, authority, and accountability.

Responsibility

Accountability

Figure 1.5

The management success paradigm: assigning specific responsibility, del-
egating appropriate levels of authority, and holding individuals accountable
for achievement of objectives are essential to success.

In order to succeed, someone needs to be made responsible for the
achievement of something. Examples include a financial objective, the
implementation of a new program, or the installation of some new tech-
nology. It is important that whatever is to be achieved should be clearly
defined and compliant with the concept of SMART objectives—Specific,
Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and Timely or 7ime bound. (For a more
detailed description of the SMART objectives, visit the IOM website at
www.iom.edu and enter the keyword SMART.) The following scenario
illustrates the use of SMART objectives.
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A physician practice currently has a patient satisfaction score of 3.5 on a five-point
scale. The leadership of the practice wants to improve patient satisfaction. The
practice manager is charged with achieving an improvement in patient satisfac-
tion scores. After six months’ effort, the latest survey shows that the satisfaction
score stands at 3.7. Mission accomplished! But the physicians are not happy.
They had expected more. They would have been better served to have stated the
target as “improved patient satisfaction scores to 4.7 or higher within the next six
months.” Now the manager knows exactly what is expected: the target is specific,
measurable, achievable, relevant (to the success of the physician practice), and
timely (needing to be accomplished within six months).

In assigning responsibility, focus on individuals and not teams or groups.
There can be too much confusion if responsibility is assigned to more than
one person. Phrases like “I thought Sally would handle that” or “I was
waiting for Bob before I took action” are common problems when respon-
sibility is assigned to more than one person.

The second element of this management success paradigm is author-
ity. The person responsible needs to be given the necessary authority to
achieve the objective: not too much and not too little. Whether this involves
schedule changes, resource reallocation, or work process changes, the per-
son responsible should be able to make the changes without needing to
request approval from a higher authority. If the person is constantly ask-
ing for permission, then he or she is not really in charge. The assignment
of too much authority must also be avoided. The manager responsible for
reducing waiting times in the clinic cannot have the authority to change
corporate policy governing fringe benefits or vacation time accrual.

The final element is accountability: the individual needs to be held
accountable for what was, or was not, achieved. This means some form
of positive reward for achievement and a penalty for not achieving.
Often, the notion of accountability carries with it a negative connotation.
Fail to achieve and bad things happen. But better results are achieved
with positive accountability (good things happening to the individuals
involved); it sends a clear message to everyone that success is rewarded.
It is based on the old adage, “you can catch more flies with honey than
with vinegar.”

TODAY’S HEALTH CARE DILEMMA

Health care, specifically the high cost of health care and the resulting
need for reform, has been one of the hottest topics of discussion in several
presidential election campaigns during the 20th century and in the early
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21st-century. Why health care reform? The answer lies in the fact that
millions of Americans have no insurance coverage and must pay out of
pocket for the care they receive. Others who do have coverage face high
deductibles. At the same time, premium costs are growing at alarming
rates. There is no health care system-wide cost containment program. Pol-
iticians are quick to grasp the fact that so many uninsured or underinsured
Americans represent a sizable block of votes. Health care has progressed
rapidly from an annoyance to a national campaign issue. But this is not
a new issue. It first surfaced when Roosevelt was running for office. But
not Franklin Roosevelt, Teddy Roosevelt and his Bull Moose Party had
national health insurance as part of their campaign platform in the early
days of the 20th century. Now, over a century later, it remains a hot politi-
cal issue.

Economic recessions contribute to the situation and will likely continue
to do so in the future. Between the Great Depression (1929-1933) and the
Great Recession (2007-2009), there have been 12 such economic down-
turns lasting from a few months to over a year. In each, a large and vocal
segment of the population has lost their employer-provided health insur-
ance coverage when they lost their jobs. In turn, the states felt the effects
in the form of lowered tax revenues and the swelling of medical assistance
rolls. The decreased state tax revenues, coupled with “balanced budget”
spending caps in many states, resulted in significant Medicaid program
cuts. Such issues as cost, affordability, and access will remain until a
workable and lasting solution is developed. One thing is clear: health care
reform has been and will remain a hot political topic for many years to
come. The only question is the pace and scope of the reform efforts.

But what exactly is the health care delivery system that many say is in
such dire need of a massive overhaul? Some facts and figures can help
to define it. In a 2014 snapshot, the U.S. health care system comprised
approximately 5,700 hospitals, approximately two-thirds of which were
in multihospital systems. Hospitals operated over 920,000 beds, with an
occupancy rate below 70%. They employed nearly 40% of the total health
care workforce.>* Nearly 15,500 nursing homes operated 1.6 million
beds.’ Just under 900,000 physicians were active as of September 2014,
split fairly evenly between primary care physicians and specialists.

In 2013, Americans spent approximately $2.9 trillion (Table 1.1), with
the majority spent on hospitals and physician services.

The cost of these services (Table 1.2) was spread among several payers,
with employers picking up nearly half of the tab through health insurance
premiums.
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Table 1.1
Health Care Spending by Segment, 2013¢

Health Care Segment Dollars in Billions
Hospitals $936.9
Physicians and clinics 586.7
Prescription drugs 271.1
Nursing care and continuing care retirement facilities 155.8
Other health, residential, and personal care services 148.2
Dental care 111.0
Other professional services 80.2
Home health care 79.8
Other nondurable medical products 55.9
Durable medical equipment 43.0
All others—nonspecific 431.4
Total $2,900.0

Source: Adapted from data found in “National Health Expenditures 2013 Highlights,” Centers for

Medicare and Medicaid Services.

Table 1.2
Paying for Health Care

Payment Source Approximate Proportion (%)

Private (employer)
Medicare

Medicaid

Other public

Out of pocket and uninsured

Total

Note: As of 2013, private and employer-provided insurance covered over a third of the
cost, with government programs paying about 40%. A large segment of the population

remained uninsured.

Source: National Health Expenditure Data, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
(http://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/
NationalHealthExpendData/index.html?redirect=/NationalHealthExpendData/).

Regrettably, Americans do not live significantly longer despite spend-
ing more per capita than any other nation. Table 1.3 shows the comparative
per capita spending on health and life expectancy of selected countries.
Japanese spend a bit over a third of their American counterparts but live

five years longer.


http://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/index.html?redirect=/NationalHealthExpendData/
http://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/index.html?redirect=/NationalHealthExpendData/
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Table 1.3

Spending More but Living Less’

Country Per Capita Spending ($) Life Expectancy
United States 8,895 79

Canada 4,676 82

Germany 4,617 81

Japan 3,378 84

United Kingdom 3,495 81

Source: “Life Expectancy, Both Sexes, 2012; Per Capita Total Expenditures on Health,” World Health
Organization, 2012.
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Figure 1.6

Total health care spending has grown at a compound annual growth rate of
9.66 % since the advent of Medicare and Medicaid in the mid-1960s. (Califor-
nia HealthCare Foundation)

The excessive spending in the U.S. system is nothing new. As Fig-
ure 1.6 illustrates, spending has been growing almost asymptotically since
the advent of Medicare and Medicaid in the 1960s. It now accounts for
17.9% of gross domestic product.?
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Whether focusing on the total national health care expenditures,
patient out-of-pocket amounts, health insurance premiums, or per cap-
ita spending, health care has become “too expensive.” With an average
annual spending of close to $9,000 per person, the question becomes,
how can an individual afford health care? Consider the impact on a
patient suffering from the wet form of age-related macular degenera-
tion. Given an average charge of about $2,500 a month or $30,000 a
year, an uninsured or underinsured patient could face two unpleasant
choices: blindness or bankruptcy. In short, without insurance, health
care services have largely become unaffordable except for the wealthy
and well insured.

As a result, increasing pressure has been applied to providers to avoid
expensive, and possibly unnecessary, tests and procedures. The challenge,
given the reality that no two patients are alike, is to determine which tests
and procedures are truly unnecessary. The move to population health is
the latest effort in this regard. Keeping patients healthy and, thus, able to
avoid expensive health care (or is it health repair?) encounters is far more
cost-effective.

To understand fully how the health care delivery system in the United
States got into this mess, it is necessary to understand two critical
elements—the public’s expectations of the system and the way health care
is financed.

THE PUBLIC’S EXPECTATIONS

The following open letter to the American public may help explain how
the public and the health care delivery system work together to create the
dilemma now facing the country.

[Dear American Public:]

I can’t stand it any longer—it’s me—I am guilty—I did it. I listened to your
demands for more of everything, and I supplied them. You wanted more and bet-
ter educated people to take care of you, and I supplied them. You wanted new and
higher levels of care, and I brought them to you. The pressure to create bright,
beautiful facilities became a goal for you, and I have responded. You wanted more
time in life and I gave it to you. You want me to be close by—and you want me
to be ready for anything at anytime—and I am. You want me to pull you into this
life and you want me to gently caress your hand as you leave it, and I do. And yes,
it costs. It cost a lot more than you like and much more than I would like—and
I will continue to create the best possible system for you to use. And I will always
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be aware of the resources I consume and the financial burden I contribute to—but
I will be here—it’s me—I did it—I'm guilty.

Sincerely,

Your American Healthcare System’

The letter was written in 1987, but the sentiments are as current as this
morning’s newspaper headlines. The health care delivery system contin-
ues to give the public everything it asks for, but now the public doesn’t
like the price. The public wanted excess capacity, standby capacity, and
no long waits for service, but now the public does not like the price.
The public wants to abuse its bodies and have transplants and other
high-technology treatments available—without rationing—but now the
public does not like the price. Health care providers are doing things today
that were unimaginable just a decade ago, but now the public does not like
the price. Health care providers find themselves in a difficult position: the
public wants more, but wants to pay less for it, and smart politicians are
encouraging this.

HOW HEALTH CARE IS FINANCED

To achieve an understanding of how health care is financed, it is necessary
to begin with a lesson on basic economic theory—supply and demand. The
normal economic system exists in a monetary environment. The parties
involved include suppliers (those who supply the goods and services) and
consumers (also referred to as orders or payers who “demand” goods and
services). As Figure 1.7 illustrates, this is essentially a two-sided exchange
between the supplier and consumer accomplished via the exchange of
money (or the promise of money) for supplies and services. The economy
has operated in this manner for centuries. In the early days, wampum belts
and animal skins were quite successful as a unit of exchange.

In the world of supply and demand, price acts as a great equalizer. It
establishes an equilibrium (Figure 1.8) so that supply and demand equal
each other. Given an economy free of outside pressures (price controls and
so on), a lack of equilibrium will cause prices to rise or fall so that equilib-
rium can once again be established. This concept became painfully obvi-
ous with the gasoline crisis of the 1970s. At 30¢—40¢ per gallon, demand
exceeded supply. With prices controlled by the government and unable
to rise, equilibrium was not easily achieved and long lines and rationing
resulted. Since price controls were lifted, prices have been able to float
freely up and down to maintain the balance of supply and demand. The
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The Normal Economy

Monetary Environment

Demanding
Supplying | <€ | Consuming
Paying

Figure 1.7
In the normal economic environment, all parties function within the mon-
etary environment.

Supply and Demand Equilibrium

Demand

Figure 1.8

Price increases and decreases act to balance supply and demand. When de-
mand is higher than supply, price will rise to mitigate demand and spur sup-
ply. When there is an excess of supply, price will decrease to boost demand.

long lines at gas stations during the 1970s were caused by the disequilib-
rium between supply and demand.

The ability of price to act as the great equalizer is rooted in an eco-
nomic principle called price elasticity or, as it is sometimes called, price
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Price Sensitivity of Demand
Quantity

Q:

Qi

P P. Price

Figure 1.9

As price increases, demand falls. At price P, Q, of quantity will be de-
manded. As price increases to P,, demand drops to Q,. Conversely, as price
drops, demand rises.

sensitivity. Simply stated, this principle holds that the amount of change
in demand for (desirable) goods and services is a function of the amount
of change in the price of those goods and services. As can be seen in Fig-
ure 1.9, as price decreases, demand for goods and services increases and
vice versa. It follows therefore that as price decreases to zero, demand for
goods and services will increase to the point of becoming insatiable. This
is important to remember as it relates to health care because during the
late 1960s and into the 1970s, the price of the average American who was
“demanding” health care became, by virtue of insurance coverage, essen-
tially zero. The result was an insatiable demand for health care. As supply
increased to meet this insatiable demand, the cost to the nation for health
care rose at an alarming rate.

This can be understood more clearly by examining the differences
evident in the health care economic environment as compared with the
normal economic environment. As depicted in Figure 1.10, the monetary
environment has remained but has shrunk and no longer includes all of the
parties. The relationship between the parties has undergone a significant
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The Health Care Economy

Monetary Environment

Supplying Demanding

Consuming

Figure 1.10
In the health care economic environment, only the supplying and paying par-
ties function in the monetary environment.

change. Supply continues to be provided by a single party. Demand, how-
ever, which previously included three parties (orderer, consumer, and
payer) within the monetary environment, is now divided into three sepa-
rate parties—the orderer and the consumer, who function outside the mon-
etary environment—and the payer who continues to function inside the
monetary environment. The problem in the health care economic system
began with this significant change. The cause of the problem stems from
the fact that only the supplier and payer function inside the monetary envi-
ronment. However, the orderer and the consumer function outside of the
monetary environment; therefore, price is not able to influence demand.
Since neither the orderer nor the consumer (physician and patient) is con-
cerned with price, demand becomes insatiable. Efforts to alter this sit-
uation via increased shifting of insurance premium costs to employees
and higher deductibles and co-pays have met with little success. This is
because after decades of repetitive action the behavior of demand is now
habitual. Americans, plain and simple, want lots of care and they do not
like paying much for it.

The lack of price sensitivity on the part of the public finds its genesis in
the growth of health insurance coverage following World War II. During the
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war, approximately 10% of the population was insured. That amount grew
until, with the advent of Medicare and Medicaid, about 85% of the popula-
tion was insured. As more and more people became insured, the price (the
amount paid out of pocket) plummeted, and demand increased. Adding
fuel to the fire, insurance coverage often encouraged the use of high-cost
services to the exclusion of less expensive ones. Certain treatments, for
example, were covered only if performed in inpatient setting, even though
the same services could be safely provided in less expensive outpatient set-
tings. In essence, health care suffers from demand push inflation—the cost
of health care is being driven up by demand. People want more and that
costs more. Any reversal of this half century of growth in coverage leads
directly to a public outcry over the high cost of health care.

Coupled with this was the introduction of Medicare and Medicaid in the
mid-1960s. These two programs instituted a reimbursement methodology
called cost reimbursement. The underlying principle was that since the
government covered so many patients, the programs should get a good
“deal” from hospitals by buying services at cost. In theory, at least, that
was fine, but in practice it introduced the notion to providers that “the
more you spent, the more you got.” In effect, cost reimbursement taught
hospitals to spend money—to supply health services to the expanding
demand at almost any cost. The flaw in the cost reimbursement logic can
be illustrated by the following example.

A wealthy gentleman approaches an automobile dealer and explains that he is
in the market for automobiles for all of his five grandchildren. “I want to buy an
automobile for each; however, since I am buying so many cars, I don’t want to
pay the sticker price; I will only pay your cost.” With that, the gentleman explains
where to deliver each automobile and where to send the bill. Is the dealer likely to
send the grandchildren the least expensive or most expensive automobiles?

Substituting Medicare and Medicaid for the wealthy gentleman, hospital
for automobile dealer, program beneficiary for grandchildren, and hospital
service for automobile produces the following version of the story.

Medicare and Medicaid approach a hospital and explain that they are in the mar-
ket for hospital services for all of their beneficiaries. “We want to buy hospital
services for each; however, since we are buying so much, we don’t want to pay
the sticker price; we will only pay your cost.” With that, Medicare and Medicaid
explain where to deliver the hospital services and where to send the bill. Is the
hospital likely to provide the beneficiaries the least expensive or most expensive
hospital services?
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In the decades following the birth of Medicare and Medicaid, government
spending has risen sharply. And because one of the rules of cost reim-
bursement (the programs paid the “lower of cost or charges”) required that
the prices charged to non-Medicare and Medicaid patients be higher than
the cost to Medicare and Medicaid, the prices charged to patients and their
insurers climbed as well—hospitals proactively raised their prices to make
sure they were well above the cost to Medicare and Medicaid.

IS THERE A SOLUTION?

Will the United States be able to get out of this financial mess? Hopefully,
the answer is “yes,” but only if care is taken to avoid “trendy” approaches,
if a number of popular myths can be debunked, if the multiple agendas of
the various players in the melodrama can be avoided, and if all the parties
begin to focus on the real problem and not just the symptoms.

A number of trendy ideas are making the rounds these days. A num-
ber of academics and policy experts point to the Canadian system, for
example, and see it as a way to deal with America’s problem. Canadians
spend less and live longer. The problem with this idea is that the Canadian
approach to life in general is completely different from that in America.
Canadians believe in peace, order, and good government. Americans
believe in life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness. There is a high price to
be paid for the (reckless) pursuit of happiness. The fundamental difference
in the two populations (Canadians are orderly. Americans are not—stuck
in the “Wild West” mentality of a bygone era) can be illustrated by visit-
ing the subway systems of New York City and Toronto. In New York
City, a subway train pulls to a stop, the doors open, and the crowd on the
platform pushes into the cars even as the passengers in the cars are trying
to exit. It is chaotic almost to the point of anarchy. In Toronto, quite the
opposite is the case. There, a subway train arrives at the station, the doors
open, and those on the platform clear a path so that the passengers on the
train can exit. Then, once those exiting are finished, they file into the train
in an orderly manner. The kind of health system that provides care for an
orderly population can never be expected to succeed in dealing with an
American population, which wants instant gratification and refuses to wait
in line.

Another myth is that providing even more insurance will solve the
problem. But the growth of insurance is at the heart of the escalation in
demand and cost and is not likely to ameliorate the problem. Still another
myth holds that a single-payer, national health insurance program will
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work—the Bull Moose Party’s approach. Hopefully, it will fare no better.
The government has clearly demonstrated its inability to deal effectively
with health care since the 1960s and will likely repeat its failings again
and again. One need only look at Amtrak, the Postal Service, the Internal
Revenue Service, and the Transportation Security Administration to get
an idea of what could be in store with a noncompetitive, federally operated
system of national health insurance operated by a single payer. And, in a
worse-case scenario, were the government to federalize the entire system,
it would mean VA style health care for all.

A global budget approach has been suggested as a way to hold down
cost. In this approach, each hospital is given a total annual revenue amount
and is expected to live within that monetary amount when providing care
to its patients. This, however, forces providers into the uncomfortable posi-
tion of managing the lives of patients (one of the principles of account-
able care and population health) so they do not need health care services.
Carried to the extreme, one could envision the “health police” carefully
monitoring what people eat, how much they exercise, their life styles, and
other factors that influence demand. Such an approach does nothing to
effectively deal with the demand for service. Rather, it constrains supply.
Will the American public, which prefers instant gratification and no lines,
tolerate this approach over time?

Another popular myth is that insurance companies should insure every-
one, even those with expensive, preexisting conditions. Usually the most
poignant cases are used to illustrate the “unfairness” of the situation. If the
social objective is to insure all, regardless of risk, then everyone should
understand that doing so is expensive and amounts to cost shifting. The
very idea behind insurance is to provide a hedge against uncertainty. Insur-
ing those with expensive-to-treat preexisting conditions means taking on
an obligation that is certain to occur. There is no risk; there is certainty.
At best this represents cost shifting. At worst it is a prescription for bank-
rupting the insurance industry when the premiums increase higher and
faster than is now the case and the buyers of those insurance services stop
buying. Cost shifting is fine as long as those to whom the cost is being
shifted agreed to accept that cost. Further, if the pool of insured is unbal-
anced (more sick people than healthy ones), cost shifting can be quite bur-
densome. As the population ages, to whom will the cost be shifted? Will
rationing be used to rebalance the cost shifting equation?

The final myth in need of debunking is that profits in health care are
wrong and that nonprofit providers should make no profits, and, if they
do, it is proof that they are abusing the public. And for-profit providers
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had better not make too much profit (however too much profit might be
defined). The public needs to be educated about profits and the need for
them if health care providers, be they for-profit or nonprofit, are to sur-
vive. Profits provide the funds necessary to replace aging physical plants,
acquire modern equipment, develop new and improved programs, and
so on. Lacking profits to fund these, where will the money come from?
Depreciation on yesterday’s equipment will in no way pay for tomorrow’s.

Political agendas must be set aside. Telling the public that it has a right
to unlimited access to high-quality, low-cost health care is irresponsible at
best. While those are noble goals, it is the notion of unlimited access that is
at the heart of the cost problem. As a result, unlimited access and low cost
simply do not go hand in glove. Unlimited access is achievable, but health
care will cost significantly more. Suggesting that providers alone should
be responsible for the health of individual patients (the notion promoted
by the Affordable Care Act) is wrong. Providers can only be responsible
and be held accountable for their actions in providing care. Obviously,
they can suggest appropriate behaviors for their patients (better diet, more
exercise, healthier life styles, etc.), but acquiescence and compliance with
those suggestions is the responsibility of patients.

CRITICAL PLAYERS IN THE HEALTH CARE DILEMMA

In order to achieve a solution, all of the parties must take an active role,
or there will be no lasting solution, only another quick fix that may cure
one or more of the symptoms at the expense of the other parties. All of the
parties will have to give up something if there is to be a lasting solution.
Everyone will have to compromise. Just who are all these parties, and
what stake does each have?

Most of the money spent on health care goes to the providers of care:
hospitals, physicians, and so on. They will be interested in a reimburse-
ment stream that satisfies their need to cover the realistic cost of doing
business, including a stream of profit necessary to ensure survival and
growth. Indirect providers like drug companies and manufactures of
durable medical equipment will need enough of a profit stream to cover
research and development and provide sufficient return on investment to
keep stockholders happy. In exchange for this, they may find themselves
more regulated.

The people paying the bills must be involved. Insurers, employers,
and government programs want to reduce the amounts they pay out for
health care. For insurers, the driver is premium-based competition. For
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employers, the picture is more complex. A reduction in fringe benefit costs
translates into an increased ability to offer competitive benefits programs
to attract and retain good employees. An overall decrease in premium cost
translates into improved business competitiveness. The government, too,
should keep down the cost of entitlement programs. To achieve this objec-
tive, the payers must be willing to stop the gamesmanship designed to
reduce cash expenditures. Questionable business practices to avoid paying
claims—delaying payment or refusing to pay on the basis of technicali-
ties, raising the burden of proof for providers of services, or refusing to
divulge the criteria used in determining if a claim will be paid—raise ethi-
cal questions.

Those who shape public perception and understanding, the politicians,
most certainly must be involved. These are the folks telling the general
public that there is a free lunch. This must stop. Instead of telling the pub-
lic what it wants to hear, they must begin telling the public what it needs
to hear: that living a healthy lifestyle and being prudent consumers will
reduce their cost of health care. The risk to politicians is that telling the
public anything it does not want to hear is usually a prescription for losing
an election. These are, however, our leaders, and they should lead!

Finally, the people the health care industry is expected to serve, the
public, must take an active part in the dialogue. Expectations will have to
be changed. Access, immediacy, and cost will be affected by the compro-
mises that all parties must make. The public needs to take more responsi-
bility for its own well-being.

THE REAL PROBLEM

Understanding the following formula is essential to resolving the dilemma:
cost = price x volume. Simply stated, the cost of health care is a function
of two variables: the prices charged for the various services provided and
the volume of services provided. Until now, attempts to solve the dilemma
of high health care cost have focused mainly on price. State-sponsored
rate control, global budgets, and similar measures have attacked price and
revenue. Volume has not been effectively influenced. It must be under-
stood that the high cost of health care is a function of supply and demand.
Those initiatives that have dealt with volume have concentrated on the
supply side. The demand side, however, has been almost completely
ignored. As an inescapable result, the cost of health care is not being con-
trolled, despite all of the efforts. The demand for health services must be
controlled, and a one-sided approach will never succeed.
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In reality, the problem is not the high cost of health care. The excessive
and uncontrolled demand for health care is the real underlying problem.
In effect, we have been treating the symptoms and not the underlying dis-
ease. Is it any wonder the patient (the health care system) is getting sicker?

A number of factors influence the demand for health care services and
thus drive up cost. The first of these is the broad category of lifestyle
choices: the way in which Americans consciously choose to live causes
the system to be used more than necessary. When a motorcyclist expresses
his constitutional right not to wear a helmet and smashes his bike and his
body into a roadside utility pole, the cost of putting it back together again
is accounted for as a part of “the high cost of health care.”

Abortion is far more costly than contraception as a form of birth con-
trol. The cost of abortion services is accounted for as part of the high cost
of health care. Diet and exercise are involved as well. Americans overeat
and underexercise and wonder why heart disease is the leading cause of
death. The American public seems bent on mistreating the body for 40 or
so years and then relying on transplants and other costly high-tech inter-
ventions to make everything right. “Life in the fast lane” is an expensive
proposition. The public needs to recognize this fact. Again, the cost is
accounted for as part of the high cost of health care.

When a 14-year-old can walk into a school with a loaded handgun and
kill some classmates, the cost of that social problem adds to the “high cost
of health care.” As a society, behavior problems have been “medicalized.”
Spouse abuse, child abuse, alcohol and drug abuse, and a host of other anti-
social behaviors are thought of as diseases. The sense of personal respon-
sibility for one’s behavior has given way to a belief that the health care
system should treat these diseases. Needless to say, the cost of these aber-
rant behaviors is accounted for as a part of “the high cost of health care.”

Abuse of the medical malpractice insurance system has done wonders to
drive up cost. A man and woman look into a mirror and see two very ugly
people. They have a baby who looks just like them. They sue the obstetri-
cian for malpractice! A bit of an exaggeration, perhaps, but the example
serves to illustrate the fact that the public has come to expect a financial
reward as the outcome of almost any event it does not like. It matters not
whether the care was properly rendered, but whether the patient likes the
result. Tort reform is essential. The losing plaintiff in a malpractice case
should be required to pay all of the costs of the winning defendant.

Finally, technology has made significant advances. So much more can
be done to heal the human body and to meaningfully extend life. These
advances justifiably cost more—and they are worth it. As with most other
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things in life, there is abuse, which adds needless cost to the nation’s health
care bill. But the benefits of technological advances far outweigh the cost.

WHAT IS REALLY NEEDED?

Two elements must be blended together to produce an effective lasting
solution: a national health policy and leadership at the local and national
levels to develop, implement, and maintain it. A national health policy
must be developed to reduce needless demand, promote healthy lifestyles,
mandate preventive care, eliminate excess capacity, promote basic insur-
ance coverage, potentially provide coverage for those who cannot afford
it, and protect against catastrophic loss.

How often does the general public present at the hospital emergency
department with a cold or upper respiratory tract infection? Cases like
these belong at the drugstore or perhaps at a general practitioner’s office
or urgent care center, but certainly not an expensive emergency depart-
ment. How much cosmetic surgery is really necessary? This kind of nee-
dles demand fails to improve the health status of Americans but succeeds
in adding to the high cost of health care. Healthy lifestyles will allow
Americans to reduce the demand for health care; less demand translates
into less cost. Preventive care has been shown to be far less expensive than
interventional, reparative care.

The excess capacity in the delivery system must be eliminated. Too
many hospitals are operating at an occupancy rate that cannot be justified.
Operating at occupancy rates that are well below 70% cannot be justified
or sustained. Rather than reducing the number of beds in each hospital,
there need to be fewer hospitals. This approach eliminates more cost and
reduces individual hospital capacity. The difficulty lies in selecting the
hospitals to close. Most hospital executives would support hospital clo-
sure, so long as the hospitals chosen for closure are someone else’s. With
so many empty beds in the civilian sector, can a separate, parallel Veterans
Administration Medical System be justified? If the idea is to provide for
the brave men and women who put their lives on the line for the country,
why not give them a “gold” card and let them use whatever hospitals and
doctors they want—just like everyone else?

As a nation, basic health insurance coverage and protection against cat-
astrophic loss should be made available. A basic level of coverage should
be available to all citizens, with expanded coverage available to those
willing to pay for it. There should be some form of “stop loss™ protec-
tion against catastrophic illness, but it should be structured in a way that
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avoids the everything-for-everyone, one-size-fits-all dilemma. The role of
government should be limited to encouraging, perhaps mandating, others
to provide the insurance coverage as opposed to being the insurer itself.
Instead of Medicare and Medicaid being payers, the government should
issue vouchers so individuals can buy coverage in the marketplace that
makes sense for them.

The second, and perhaps most critical, element is leadership at both the
national and local levels. Leadership is needed at the local level because the
creative solutions necessary to achieve success are best developed locally
to meet the needs of a diverse population as opposed to a uniform solution
in which everything is either black or white with no shades of gray. The
role of national leadership should be to develop a national framework on
which effective local solutions will be assembled. Local experimentation
can provide valuable lessons and pathways to enhancements that a single
countrywide approach cannot.

The leadership agenda must make meaningful, sustainable, and realis-
tic cost containment a high priority. While the high cost of health care is
largely a result of demand for services, providers must make sure that each
unit of services is delivered at the lowest possible cost. This has not been
a priority. Systems available in other industries could be “borrowed” and
adapted to health care, but there has been a reluctance to do so.

Leadership is needed to involve all the parties: those demanding care,
those receiving it, and those paying the bills. All will need to compro-
mise so a solution can be achieved, but none will be willing to be the first
to compromise. Leadership must force the necessary compromises while
making sure that none of the parties is disadvantaged.

If an effective, lasting solution is to be achieved, a fundamental change
in the public’s perception of the health care system is essential. A pro-
gram of public education is key. America’s leaders must be willing to tell
the public what it must hear, not just what it wants to hear. Leadership is
needed to convince the public that health is the responsibility of the indi-
vidual, not the system. If an effective, lasting solution is to be achieved,
leadership is needed to help make the difficult choices that must be made.
Leadership is needed to rally everyone’s support. Americans have grown
accustomed to instant gratification, and leadership must force the focus to
be on the long term as opposed to the short term. The problems with the
health care system of the United States did not spring up overnight, and
the solutions will, likely, not spring up overnight either. Further, because
the solutions will be somewhat painful, leaders must “stay the course,” or
else one set of problems will merely be exchanged for another.



HEALTH CARE AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 27

THE MANAGEMENT BALANCING ACT

As health care managers begin to focus more and more on financial results
(the “bottom line™), it is vitally important to remember what health care
is about: the provision of health services to the public. Survival requires a
balance between the dictates of the business and financial reality and the
clinical and service imperative.

The delivery of health services without regard for the financial aspect
invites disaster; likewise the fixation on dollars and cents to the exclu-
sion of concern for the clinical aspects is equally disaster prone. Balance
requires understanding—understanding by those involved with caregiv-
ing of the financial impact of their actions and understanding by those
involved with the finances of the effect their decisions have on the delivery
of care.

The two disciplines can be combined in such a way as to provide
high-quality, cost-effective health care. This is the challenge to manag-
ers. Meeting the challenge will mean success, both for managers them-
selves and for their organizations. This text will help managers meet that
challenge.
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Chapter 2

BASIC BUSINESS AND
ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS

In order to run a business successfully, one must understand the basic
business model, the drivers of the business. The same is true in health
care. How does the physician practice operate from a business standpoint?
What causes a hospital to be successful? How can an imaging center make
money?

From a business standpoint, it all begins with volume. As depicted in
Figure 2.1, volume leads to revenue for the organization. Revenue, in turn,
allows the organization to hire and pay staff and purchase supplies and
equipment to be used in providing the services. Profits result when rev-
enue is greater than operating expenses. The profit can be used to make
investments in new programs, buy equipment, construct facilities, and
increase the capacity of the organization. This allows it to generate even
more volume. The resulting upward spiral leads to a growing, successful
organization.

Two real-life success stories help illustrate the benefits of growing
business volume. The turnaround of what was then Baltimore City Hos-
pitals (now Johns Hopkins Bayview Medical Center) was accomplished
by growing admissions, and the associated revenue, by as much as 20% a
year. The former municipal hospital had lost $70 million over a 10-year
stretch before a three-member executive team from Hopkins accom-
plished the turnaround. The focus of the team was on volume growth
and selective investments in staffing, renovations, and program develop-
ment. Costs were increased to achieve improved operating functionality,
but revenues grew significantly faster. The team was able to get black
ink on the bottom line within nine months. A similar turnaround was
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Capacity Volume

Organizational

Profit Revenue
Performance
Supplies and St;arf]réng
=quipment ~ Salaries
Figure 2.1

The basic business model in health care begins with volume—providing ser-
vices that patients want. Lacking this, the organization cannot succeed.

accomplished at Newton Wellesley Hospital outside Boston by a newly
appointed executive team that stressed new program development to
grow the top line while controlling costs and boosting quality. In both
cases, dramatic results were achieved as a result of volume growth that
drove an increase in revenue.

Keeping track of business activity is the role of accounting. It is the
art of collecting, analyzing, and recording; summarizing and presenting;
and interpreting financial and operating data. This is done to support the
information needs of audiences that are both internal (the leadership and
management of the organization) and external (the public, stockholders,
stakeholders, and others with a vested interest in the organization).

All of the organization’s transactions are collected and analyzed to
understand their impact on the financial condition of the business. Then,
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they are recorded in monetary terms in the various books and records of
the organization. The financial statements of the organization and the vari-
ous internal performance reports are prepared using the data that have
been recorded.

A few basic definitions will help in understanding the practice of account-
ing. Assets represent those items of value with an estimated life of greater
than a year to which an organization has legal title or in which a business
possesses an interest or claim. Examples of assets include such things as
cash and investments in securities, accounts receivable, inventories of parts
or supplies, expense items paid in advance, equipment, and facilities.

Liabilities consist of items owed by the organization and include such
things as accounts payable and long-term debt. Equity represents either
the claims of the owners or, in a nonprofit organization, the net asset value
(assets — liabilities). Revenue is the amount paid for the organization’s ser-
vices during the accounting period. These could include room and board
charges, lab and imaging fees, and physicians’ professional fees. Expenses
include such items as salaries and wages, fringe benefits, supplies, interest
on debt, and deprecation of assets.

ASSET VALUATION

The two most important assets in terms of balance sheet valuation are the
accounts receivables and the facilities and equipment. Health care pro-
viders seldom require payment at the time of service. Instead, bills are
sent to insurance companies, to Medicare and Medicaid, or to individuals
who are responsible for their own bills. Providers are seldom paid the
face amount of the bills they render. Discounts accrue to large payers like
Medicare and Medicaid. Some patients cannot afford to pay and are given
charity discounts. Others refuse to pay for one reason or another, and this
results in a bad debt. As a result, in order to accurately display the value
of the receivables on the balance sheet, an analysis must be prepared to
determine their realizable, or “net,” value.

To determine the realizable value, an aging analysis is prepared. This
examines how old the outstanding receivables are and combines that
information with collection probabilities to determine approximately how
much will actually be collected. This amount is the realizable value of the
receivables. Table 2.1 shows such an analysis.

Nominally, the receivable has a value of $11,910,000. But how much is
it really worth? To answer this important question, the amounts are sepa-
rated into buckets based on the amount of time that has elapsed since the
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charges were billed. The logic is that the older an account becomes, the
greater the probability that it will not be paid either entirely or in part.

First, the receivable is broken into buckets based on the number of days that
have elapsed since it was originally billed. In this case, of the $11,910,000
of total accounts receivable, $3,210,000 is less than 30 days old. The prob-
ability of collecting that amount is estimated to be 98%. In the far-right col-
umn in Table 2.1, $465,000 is greater than180 days old and the probability
of collecting it is estimated to be only 45%. When the probability rates are
multiplied by the receivable amounts in each of the buckets, the estimated
value of the receivable can be determined. In this case, it is estimated that
the $3,210,000 of receivable that is less than 30 days old will likely result
in a collection of $3,145,800 (98% of the original amount). Similarly, of the
$465,000 that is greater than 180 days old, the estimate is that only $209,250
will probably be collected. When all of the buckets are summed together, the
analysis indicates that the receivable is likely worth only $10,438,750.

The value to be reported on the balance sheet is $10,438,750. But in the
interest of full disclosure, it is often reported broadly as shown in Table 2.2.
Both the gross amount and the net amount are shown along with the associ-
ated allowance for those accounts that may not be collected in full or in part.

The importance of this receivable valuation analysis cannot be under-
stated. Overstating their value or understating it can result in an overstate-
ment or understatement of company profits. It is possible to manipulate
the profit picture based on the valuation. For this reason, independent
accountants carefully review the analysis and the receivable valuation as
part of the annual audit.

Another high-value asset that must be properly valued on the balance
sheet is the facility and equipment asset. These assets become expenses as
they are “consumed” in the normal conduct of business. A new CT scanner
is partially consumed each year as it is used to generate business volume
and revenue. From an accounting standpoint, it is important to recognize
this consumption and, as well, associate the cost of consuming the scanner
with the revenue activities of the organization. The accounting technique
that accomplishes this is called depreciation (for property, plant, equipment

Table 2.2

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable $11,910,000
Less Allowance for Uncollectable Accounts 1,471,250

Accounts Receivable — Net $10,438,750
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like the CT), amortization (for intangible assets like the value of a brand
name), and depletion (for natural resources like oil and natural gas).

Four main methods are used for depreciating plant and equipment assets.
The straight-line method charges an equal amount to each accounting period
benefited. The sum of the years’ digits and the double declining balance
methods, referred to generically as accelerated depreciation methodolo-
gies, apportion a higher percentage of depreciation to the earlier years of an
asset’s life and smaller amounts to the later years. The units-of-production
method depreciates assets using some measure of output. Using this method
in a hospital, a CT or MRI might be depreciated using the number of scans
performed as opposed to an amount per month or per year. An organization’s
finance department will determine which method is the best for it to use.

Depreciation expense is balanced by accumulated depreciation. The
expense is reported on the operating statement and is used in the calcula-
tion of profits or losses. Accumulated depreciation, on the other hand,
is the amount of annual depreciation that has been accumulated thus far in
the life of the asset. Once the asset is fully consumed or fully depreciated,
the accumulated depreciation will equal the asset acquisition cost less any
salvage value. The salvage or residual value of an asset is the amount for
which the asset can be sold at the end of its useful life. This value is used
in all of the depreciation formulas except the double declining balance
methodology. The depreciation formulas are shown in Table 2.3.

To see how these various methods work, consider the example of Memo-
rial Community Hospital that on January 1 purchased a new lab instrument
for $65,000. The estimated useful life is five years and it has a salvage value
of $5,000. The instrument will perform 100,000 tests over its life (14,000 in
the first year; 26,000 in the second; 28,000 in the third; 12,000 in the fourth;
and 20,000 in the fifth). The depreciation for the instrument would be calcu-
lated as shown in Table 2.4. The annual depreciation amount will be slightly
different depending on the method chosen by the organization.

Accelerated methods of depreciation are customarily used by for-profit
or taxable organizations as a way to defer taxes. This is because the higher
amounts of depreciation in the early years reduce profits in those years and
defer them to the later years when the depreciation amounts are smaller.
Although the same amount of depreciation will be recorded and the same
amount of profits realized over the years, the taxes on those profits are
deferred to the future when the value of a dollar is less.

When a long-term operational asset is purchased during a year, depre-
ciation is taken for a partial year only. The amount of depreciation is usu-
ally calculated as a percentage of the year; that is, if an asset is purchased
on April 1, nine-twelfths of a full year’s depreciation is taken, no matter
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Table 2.3

Depreciation Formulas for Facilities and Equipment Assets

Depreciation

Method Formula

Straight Line (Cost of the Asset — Salvage Value) + Asset Life

Sum of the Years’ (Years of Asset Life Remaining + Sum of the Years’
Digits Digits) x (Cost of the Asset — Salvage Value)

Double Declining ((1 = Life in Years) x 2) x (Cost — Accumulated
Balance Depreciation)

Units-of-production (Number of Units Produced in the Current Year +

Total Number of Units to Be Produced over the
Asset’s Life) x (Cost of the Asset — Salvage Value)

which method is used. Some organizations employ a half-year convention:
only a half-year of depreciation is taken in the year of acquisition and
again in the year of disposition, regardless of the real date of acquisition.

THE PURPOSE OF ACCOUNTING

The accounting process is designed to collect, categorize, and transform
accounting data into a usable form. The general-purpose financial state-
ments like the balance sheet and operating statement that are prepared for
external users are important outputs of the accounting process. Financial
accounting focuses on the information needs of investors, creditors, and oth-
ers who are interested in the future performance of the organization. These
outside parties are concerned with liquidity (a company’s ability to pay its
current obligations), solvency (a company’s ability to pay its long-term
debts and other obligations), and profitability (a company’s ability to gener-
ate revenues in excess of the expenses incurred to produce the revenues).

An accounting standard of full disclosure requires that all relevant
information be presented in an unbiased, understandable, and timely man-
ner. Full disclosure of accounting information helps external users better
assess the performance of the organization.

APPROACHES TO RECORDING TRANSACTIONS

Two methods are available for recording business transactions. The
accrual basis recognizes events (revenue and expense) when they happen.



‘onfeA

aSeA[es ()0 S$ AU YoraI 0} PAPaSU JUNOWE Y} SI Jey) Se ‘pasn SI $gHc$ ‘uonerdardop Jo junowe oYy J0J 09°69¢ €S ALOIPUI P[NOM UOTR[NO[RD AY) YSNoy) Uy .

(000°0 X 09°0) (PTr'8$ X %0t) (000°S$ — 000°59$) X (ST/1) $/(000°S$ —~ 000°59$)
=000CI$ = PTH'ES =000'7$ =000°CI$ § Teax
(000°T1 X 09°0) (OP0'F1$ X %0t) (000°S$ — 000°59$) X (S1/2) $/(000°S$ —~ 000°59$)
=00T'L$ =919°6$ =000'8$ =000°CI$ b 10K
(000°8T X 09°0%) (007*€T$ X %0t) (000°S$ — 000°59$) X (S1/€) $/(000°S$ —~ 000°59$)
=008'91$ = 09€°6$ =000C1$ =000°CI$ € Teax
(000°9 X 09°0%) (000°6€$ X %0t) (000°S$ — 000°59$) X (ST/t) $/(000°S$ —~ 000°59$)
=009°S1$ =009°S1$ =000'91$ =000°CI$ DN
(00071 X 09°0%) (000°59$ X %0t) (000°S$ — 000°59$) X (S1/S) $/(000°S$ —~ 000°59$)
= 001'8$ =000'9¢$ =000°0$ =000°CI$ [ 18X
$1591/09°0$ %0b =Ws/T =T % e[NULIO}
= $159) 000°001/000°09$ e/l =awy gad 1 =SHSIp s1eak oy jo wing [ Teak-aAL] jo siseq

uondNpoId jo syun

uereq
SururpPa( dqnoq

SNSI SI.IX d1P) Jo Wing

aur'y yysreng

suone[mde) uonendda [endsoy Aunwuio)) [BLIOWIA]

V¢ olqBL



BASIC BUSINESS AND ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS 37

Revenue is recorded when it is earned and expenses are recorded when
they are incurred. This method of recording transactions is used when
businesses are operating under generally accepted accounting principles,
and it the only method of transaction recording upon which an indepen-
dent audit firm can render an opinion as to its veracity.

The second method of recording events is the cash basis of accounting.
Events are recognized and recorded only when the cash changes hands. As
a result, revenue is recorded when cash is received and expenses are rec-
ognized when cash is paid out. This approach is not subject to generally
accepted accounting principles, and independent accountants cannot pro-
vide an opinion of any financial statements prepared using this approach.

For most individuals, the cash basis is the most easily understood
because most individuals think this way in their day-to-day lives. They
recognize revenue (their personal income) when they are paid. They rec-
ognize expenses when they make a payment. The business world, on the
other hand, relies solely on the accrual basis.

Some simple transactions can help illustrate the difference between
these two approaches. Consider the following expense-related events tak-
ing place in the months of March, April, and May:

On March 10, $1,000 of expense items are ordered. On March 15, a shipment of
$600 worth of items arrives, but no payment is made to the vendor. On March 31,
the books of the organization are closed for the month of March so interim finan-
cial statements can be prepared. On April 10, the final shipment of $400 worth of
items arrives, but, once again, no payment is made. At the end of April the books
are again closed for the preparation of the interim financial statements. Finally,
on May 15, the vendor issues an invoice for the full $1,000 worth of items and it
is promptly paid by the organization. No other events occur in May. On May 31,
the books are again closed. During March, the business served 60 customers and
served another 40 during April. In May, however, they served no customers.

The two different methods of recording these events will result in two very
different portrayals of the company’s activities. As seen in Table 2.5, the
accrual basis accurately records the expenses in the months in which the
supplies were received and used. But the cash basis approach misstates
the business activities. It shows no expense transactions in March and
April, thereby understating expenses. Then, in May, it rebounds and over-
states company expense by recording $1,000 in a month in which no ex-
pense items were received or used.

The use of accrual accounting accurately matches financial and busi-
ness activity in a way that analysis would be able to identify correlations
and relationships between, for example, business volume and expenses.
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Table 2.5
Accrual and Cash Basis Recording of Expense Transactions
Month Accrual Basis Accounting Cash Basis Accounting
March expense $600 $0
April expense $400 $0
May expense $0 $1,000
March cost per customer $10 $0
April cost per customer $10 $0
May cost per customer - Infinite value
Table 2.6
Accrual and Cash Basis Recording of Revenue Transactions
Accrual Basis Cash Basis
Month Accounting Accounting
March revenue $1,000 $0
April revenue $1,400 $0
May revenue $0 $2,400
March revenue per customer $10 $0
April revenue per customer $10 $0
May revenue per customer - Infinite value

Cost per customer, for instance, can be calculated accurately and provide
valuable insights in comparing this business with other similar companies
and competitors.

Similarly, these two approaches record revenue differently, as shown
in Table 2.6. Again, consider the following revenue-related events taking
place in the months of March, April, and May:

One hundred customers are seen throughout March and invoices amounting to $1,000
for services are sent to them on March 25. No payments are received in March. In
April, services are provided to 140 customers that amount to $1,400 and, once again,
invoices are mailed out, but no payments are received. Finally, in mid-June, pay-
ments totaling $2,400 are received. No other customer activity occurs in May.

Again, the use of accrual accounting accurately matches financial and
business activity. Revenue is properly recorded in the month in which
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there was business activity. And while the cash basis understates financial
and business activity in March and April and overstates them in May, the
accrual basis properly matches time, money, and activity.

BASIC TERMINOLOGY

In order to carry on a proper conversation with finance staff, it is essen-
tial that non-financial managers understand some basic finance terms and
avoid confusing them so as not to lose credibility.

“Revenue,” sometimes called charges, is the term applied to funds derived
from the provision of goods or services. The fee charged by a physician for
an office visit, a hospital’s bill for an invasive procedure, or the price paid
for a prescription at a pharmacy is considered revenue. Gross revenue is
what is billed for the services, and net revenue is what is collected. In health
care settings, net revenue is customarily far less than gross revenue except
for certain instances where payment is required before service is rendered.
Laser vision correction is one example of this. The procedure is not covered
by insurance, and the patient is expected to pay directly. If payment is not
made, the procedure is not performed. Concierge physician services are
similar to this. In this instance, the patient pays a flat amount per month and
in return enjoys having a physician who has time to pay attention to impor-
tant details, 24/7 access to the physician, including nights and weekends,
same-day or next-day appointments, and more face-to-face office time with
the doctor. Insurance is not accepted. Both physicians and patients like this
arrangement. Physician office costs are reduced because they do not have
to deal with billing and insurance company bureaucracy. Patients appreciate
the fact that physicians charge less in a no-insurance-accepted environment.

“Expense,” sometimes referred to as cost, is the term given to the cost
associated with providing goods and services: salaries, benefits, supplies,
depreciation, interest, and so on. For the most part, these are cash items, but
depreciation and amortization are expenses that do not require a cash outlay.

Profit, or loss, is the amount remaining when all the expenses of running
a business are deducted from the revenue. A business that has $1,000,000
of revenue and $750,000 of expenses would record a profit of $250,000.
Conversely, if a company had revenue of $750,000 and expenses of
$1,000,000, it would record a loss of $250,000. Typically, losses are
recorded with brackets around the amount to easily distinguish them from
profits. A loss of $250,000 would be written as ($250,000).

An expenditure is an outlay of cash for any reason. While the terms sound
very similar, do not confuse expenditure with expense. It is entirely possible
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to make an expenditure for something other than an expense. A payment for
purchase of a lab instrument is an expenditure but not an expense. Making
a payment to the bank to retire debt is not an expense but rather an expendi-
ture. It is a reduction of a liability. Conversely, an expense does not neces-
sarily involve an expenditure. The depreciation of a company’s assets is an
expense, but it does not involve an expenditure. The expenditure took place
in the, perhaps distant, past when the assets were originally purchased.

Revenue, the money flowing in, is not the same as profit, the money
retained after covering the expenses. Profit and income are not the same
thing. Income is what is coming in. Net income, very similar sounding,
is the same as profit because it carries the notion of net—what is left over
after the expenses are taken care of.

Two other terms that should not be confused are cost efficiency and cost
reduction. Cost efficiency involves getting the most from the costs incurred
in providing goods or services. Total cost is not lowered but instead is
used more effectively, more efficiently. Cost reduction, on the other hand,
involves cutting expenses. This can lead to dysfunctionality and unfavorably
affect the organization’s bottom-line performance. Both cost efficiency and
cost reduction are discussed at length in Chapter 3, Cost and Cost Behavior.

Do not confuse cost and charges. Both have been defined earlier, but
clinicians and others writing in the clinical literature often confuse them.
This happens because of the changing nature of cost and charges. As
depicted in Figure 2.2, the costs the hospital or other provider incurs are
used as the basis for the charge, the bill, for the services. When that bill
is sent to the payer (an insurance company, Medicare or Medicaid, or the
patient), it changes from charge to cost and becomes the cost to the payer.

Consider the example of a patient who enters the hospital for a CABG procedure.
The hospital incurs costs to provide this service. Assuming those costs hypo-
thetically are $20,000 and that the hospital marks up its costs to cover bad debts,
charity care, and discounts, the bill might be $25,000. Now answer this simple
question. How much did the CABG cost? There are two answers. It cost the hos-
pital $20,000 but cost the payer $25,000.

Often, those writing in the clinical literature focus on the cost to the payer
and assume it is the same for the provider. So when they assert that they
can reduce hospital cost by reducing the length of time spent in the hospi-
tal, what they are really saying is that they can reduce the cost to the payer.
The charges, the revenue of the provider, are also reduced, but the pro-
vider’s cost does not really go down because most provider cost is fixed
in nature. In effect, they are misleading their audience by their assertions
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Cost Cost

Salaries Hospital Charges

Supplies Provider Physician Fees Payer for
etc. Organization etc. Services

L N
{ |

Charges Payments to
Room and Board Providers
Pharmacy
Imaging

Physician Fees
etc.

Figure 2.2

What enters provider organizations as cost (salaries, supplies, etc.) exits as
charges. In turn, the charges enter the payer organization as cost. So whose
cost is being described in the literature? This confusion often leads to a
misunderstanding of how quality improvement initiatives benefit provider
organizations.

about cost. Hospital costs do not drop, but hospital revenue does. What
CEO wants to be told his or her cost will drop only to learn it was the
revenue that went down?

For this reason, the clinical literature that purports to describe hospital
cost reduction opportunities should be looked at with a wary eye. This
subject is covered in greater depth in Chapter 15, The Business Case for
Quality and Patient Safety.

In order to record transactions properly as well as to understand what
is reported, the practice of accounting is guided by a number of princi-
ples or conventions that govern the recording and reporting of the various
transactions.

BASIC ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS

The Money Measurement Concept requires that a record be made only of
those facts that can be expressed in monetary terms. This provides a com-
mon language in expressing business events. For this reason, market share
is not given a value in the books and records of the organization.
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The Concept of the Going Concern specifies that unless there is good
evidence to the contrary, accountants must assume that a business will
continue to operate for an indefinite period of time. Consequently, assets
that are used to generate business are recorded at their acquisition cost and
not at their current value to an outsider interested in purchasing them. The
land on which a hospital has been built will likely have a higher current
market value than its original acquisition cost. But to realize this increased
value, the hospital would have to sell the land and presumably go out of
business to realize the increased land value. Thus, the increased value can-
not be realized, and thus, it is not recorded in the books and records of the
organization.

Closely related to the concept of the going concern is the Cost Con-
cept. This stipulates that an asset (buildings, equipment, etc.) is ordinarily
recorded at its purchase price (its cost), which becomes the basis for all
subsequent accounting for the asset. Do not mistakenly think that the value
at which the asset appears on the reports is its actual market value. While
cash, certain investment assets, and accounts receivables are recorded and
reported at their actual or estimated market value, this is not the case for
all assets of the organization. Accounts receivable represent one of the
largest assets of a health care provider organization; and their value, the
amount actually expected to be realized as opposed to their face value,
must be properly reported in the financial statements. Similarly, property,
plant, and equipment assets that have long, but limited, service lives are
systematically reduced over the course of that life by a process called
depreciation. This gradually reduces the value of the asset and transforms
it into a cost of operating the business.

SUMMARY

Understanding the basic concepts of any business, the basic business
model, and the rules and conventions that guide accountants in recording
and reporting the business activity is essential for any manager. Success in
any business requires an understanding of how that business works, how
the actions of the manager affect volume and throughput, and how these,
in turn, influence revenue, profits, and capacity. Knowing how accoun-
tants think and how they look at business activity will assist managers in
discussing business opportunities with the finance staff. It allows for coop-
eration and collegiality based on a common understanding of business and
the role of accounting.



Chapter 3

COST AND COST BEHAVIOR

In order to be successful as a manager, it is important to understand the
behavior of the various costs associated with the services provided. What
are the types of costs to be managed? What drives these costs to rise or
fall? How does cost behavior affect business strategy and vice versa? How
much influence can a manager have on the behavior of these costs? And
based on the amount of influence, what actions should a manager take?
What are the best strategies to employ to improve cost performance?

UNDERSTANDING COST BEHAVIOR

In health care, the costs of providing services include salaries and wages
paid to workers, the fringe benefits (life insurance, tuition reimbursement,
pension contributions, etc.), supplies and services, interest on borrowed
money, and depreciation. These costs generally fall into one of three cat-
egories: fixed, variable, or semi-variable.

Fixed costs are those that are held constant regardless of the amount
of business volume. Consider, for example, the salary costs of a clinic
staff. Whether the clinic provides services for 1,000 patients each month
or 1,050 patients, the staff will be paid.

Variable costs, on the other hand, rise and fall as business volume
rises and falls. In an immunization clinic, being operated by a city health
department, for example, one would logically expect that if the volume
of patients being immunized rose by 5% the cost of vaccines would also
rise by 5%. If the number of patient meals prepared in a hospital kitchen
dropped by 3%, the cost of food would also be expected to drop by 3%.

Semi-variable costs are a bit of both. They are fixed over a range of vol-
ume, then vary sharply with a change in volume, and then become fixed
again. Often they are called “step costs” because, graphically, they resem-
ble a set of steps (Figure 3.1). Staffing is an example of a semi-variable
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Staffing Cohorts

| | Patients

1,000 2,000 3,000

Figure 3.1

The movement of semi-variable costs resembles steps, thus the term ‘“step
costs.”” They remain fixed over a range of volume, become variable as volume
passes a threshold, and then become fixed again until the next threshold is
reached.

cost. A small physician practice, for example, consisting of one physician,
one nurse, and one technician is able to accommodate a panel of 1,000
patients. If that panel of patients were to grow to 1,200 patients, staffing
would double but would then remain at that level until the volume reached
2,000 patients. If the size of the practice were to grow again beyond the
2,000 patients, a complete third cohort (physician, nurse, and technician)
would be needed. This happens because it is not possible to expand the
staff by the fraction by which the panel of patients has grown. This is
referred to as a diseconomy of scale. Adding volume makes each unit of
volume more expensive. Conversely, if staffing was in place to accom-
modate a panel of 1,400 patients, volume growth from a base of 1,000
patients to 1,200 patients would not require any added staff. This would
be considered an economy of scale. Adding the volume in this case makes
each unit less expensive.

While semi-variable costs cannot be disregarded entirely (they are usu-
ally associated with a significant change in the scope of business), manag-
ers usually deal with just two kinds of costs: fixed and variable.
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THE NATURE OF OPERATING COSTS

As shown in Table 3.1, the operating costs of health care institutions are,
for the most part, fixed. They consist mostly of labor costs that can range
as high as 65% to 70% at the organizational level and even higher in indi-
vidual departments. While some claim that labor is a variable cost, the test
of that assertion is this: can the workers be dismissed for short periods of
time without pay if volume drops? While this might be possible in some
locales, given the overall shortages in the health care labor market, work-
ers dismissed without pay are likely not to return. While predominantly
fixed, some labor truly is variable—overtime wages, travelers and agency
staff, float pool, per diem staff, and so on—and can be made to vary up
and down with volume. Supplies and services also lean heavily to the fixed
side of the ledger, with perhaps a third of supply costs being variable.
Finally, interest expense (the cost of borrowing money) and depreciation
expense (the cost of consuming fixed assets) are entirely fixed.

As a result of these varying proportions by expense category, overall, the
costs of operations are approximately 90% fixed. Some variation from one
institution to another is certainly possible, but the important message is that
health care is a high-fixed-cost enterprise. This reality drives business success.

Understanding this high-fixed-cost proportion is essential to good busi-
ness operation and the development of successful business strategies. If an
organization with high fixed costs begins to experience falling volume, the
impact on the bottom line is significant and immediate. The revenue goes
away instantly while the costs are reduced only a small amount. Take, for
example, the business illustration described in the following scenario.

High Hope Health Company is running at just above breakeven, having a mod-
est profit of $100,000. Revenues are $1,100,000 and operating costs consist of
$650,000 of staff costs, $150,000 of supplies and services, and $200,000 of

Table 3.1
The Proportion of Fixed and Variable Costs by Category

Total Fixed Variable
Expense Category Cost Portion Portion
Salaries and fringe benefits 65% 60% 5%
Supplies and services 15% 10% 5%
Interest 10% 10% 0%
Depreciation 10% 10% 0%

Total operating costs 100% 90% 10%




46 HEALTH CARE BUDGETING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

interest and depreciation. A small drop in volume, just 5%, will have a devastat-
ing impact on the bottom line. Revenues will decline by $55,000, while expenses,
which are 90% fixed, decline by only $5,000, thereby reducing the organization’s
profit to $50,000.

But if a similar organization with similar high fixed costs pursued a strat-
egy to grow its volume, the impact would be positive and significant.

Success Health Practice achieves an annual profit of $100,000. Similar to High
Hope Health, its revenues are $1,100,000 and operating costs are $1,000,000.
Employing a business strategy to increase volume, Success Health is able to at-
tract 5% more visits each year. As a result, revenue grows by 5% ($55,000) while
expenses, which are 90% fixed, grow only slightly ($5,000), thereby providing a
$50,000 boost to the organization’s bottom line—a 50% growth in profits!

These two organizations perform this way because of the nature of busi-

ness volume, revenue behavior (entirely variable), and operating cost be-
havior (largely fixed), as illustrated in Figure 3.2.

Monetary Value
Revenue

- —-=" Cost

Volume
Figure 3.2

As volume rises, revenue grows in direct proportion to the volume because it
is 100 % variable with volume. Cost, on the other hand, rises and falls at a far
slower rate because is it largely fixed. Knowing this allows for the develop-
ment of better strategies to guide the business.
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Knowing how costs behave, understanding the influence a manager can
have on those costs, and understanding the relationships between costs
and revenue and costs and volume will allow managers and leaders to
select appropriate strategies for controlling and/or reducing costs and for
seeking out appropriate levels of business volume to achieve operating
efficiencies and improve bottom-line performance.

IMPORTANT COST CONCEPTS

The cost of a service can be described in four different ways: Average
cost, marginal cost, opportunity cost, and standard cost. Each provides
an answer to a different question and each is designed for a different
purpose.

Average cost identifies the cost of producing a single unit of work
output—the average unit. To determine average cost, the total cost of pro-
viding a service is divided by the total number of services provided. In
the ICU, for instance, the cost per case is determined by dividing the cost
of running the ICU (salaries, fringe benefits, supplies, services, etc.) by
the number of cases cared for. This provides an overall approximation of
the cost per unit of service, which is essential if comparisons are to be
made to other providers. Is the cost higher or lower than other provid-
ers? If higher, what causes that? Can the unit cost be lowered in order to
be more competitive? Are economies or diseconomies at play? Average
cost is useful in determining competitiveness and the direction of unit
performance.

Marginal cost, on the other hand, looks at the cost of producing not
the average unit, but rather the very next unit of output. It is calculated by
dividing only the variable costs associated with the service by the total
number of services provided. This view of cost is essential for making
sound decisions about incremental volume. Only the variable costs are
used in the calculation because only the variable costs will rise with the
addition of the next unit of service. The fixed costs are already present,
and no added fixed costs will be added in order to accommodate the new
unit of service.

Table 3.2 shows a typical department’s costs and the calculations of its
average and marginal costs. Note that the calculation of average cost in the
far-right column uses all the cost ($1,200,000), while the calculation of
marginal cost in the middle number column uses only the variable costs.

In health care, well-intentioned decisions are often based on average
cost, and these decisions are often incorrect. Consider a hospital whose
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Table 3.2
Average versus Marginal Cost

Marginal Average Cost

Total Costs Cost Logic Logic

Fixed operating costs $1,000,000 $1,000,000
Variable operating costs $200,000 $200,000 $200,000
Total operating costs $1,200,000 $200,000 $1,200,000
Volume of services (Vvisits) 20,000 20,000 20,000
Marginal cost per visit $10.00
Average cost per Vvisit $60.00

average cost per case in the emergency department (ED) is $1,000. If a
patient were to present with merely a runny nose, would the hospital lose
money treating this patient? The conventional thinking suggests that the
hospital would be reimbursed perhaps only $15 from the patient’s insur-
ance company as a triage fee. Thus, based on average cost logic, the hos-
pital would lose $985 ($1,000 — $15). But in reality, the hospital would
profit from this patient. The marginal revenue of $15 is offset by perhaps
$1.00 for a dose of an antihistamine, leaving $14 of marginal profit. The
decision using marginal cost logic is to welcome the patient. Regrettably,
most hospitals look at this patient from an average cost perspective and,
erroneously, see him or her as a losing proposition.

Opportunity cost gets at what could be done with resources had they
been used in a different way. The person who spends $75,000 for a hot
sports car could have invested the money in a collage education instead.
Thus, the opportunity cost of the car is the college degree. In the runny
nose scenario, the only reason to turn down that patient is if treating the
patient with a runny nose blocks a room that might yield even more rev-
enue. The opportunity cost of taking the runny nose is the thousands of
dollars of revenue associated with a potential heart attack or trauma case.
The costs of the ED are already in place, so the question becomes how
best to use the costs, how best to use the ED resources: with a runny nose,
a trauma case, or no case at all?

Using average cost logic to decide if a losing business should be
expanded is also problematic. Consider a hospital that is losing money.
It has an average cost per case of $12,000, of which $10,000 is fixed cost
and $2,000 is variable cost. The hospital’s net revenue is $10,000 per case,
resulting in a loss of $2,000 per case. If an opportunity to add 100 cases
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Table 3.3
Thinking Average versus Marginal
Average Marginal
Cost Logic Cost Logic
Net revenue per case $10,000 $10,000
Operating cost per case 12,000 2,000
Profit or (loss) per case ($2,000) $8,000

presented itself, should the hospital defer those cases? Regrettably, some
decision makers would because “we lose money on every case.” But as
Table 3.3 shows, the use of average as opposed to marginal cost logic can
lead to poor decisions.

In this case, the hospital has an opportunity to improve financial per-
formance by taking the 100 cases that would have contributed $800,000
to the bottom-line results. The marginal cost of each of these incremental
cases is only $2,000 (the variable cost), which the net revenue per case
easily covers, leaving an $8,000 profit on each case. While the decision
to take these cases will not eliminate the overall bottom-line loss, it will,
nonetheless, help the situation.

Having an understanding of cost behavior and the basics of a volume-
driven business, managers and leaders are better able to make correct
decisions that benefit the institution. Lacking this understanding, they are
likely to implement strategies that will not serve their institutions well.

The fourth and final way to describe cost is standard cost: the cost that
should be incurred to produce a unit of output. This is the most precise
determination of product-specific cost and is the most effective method
for controlling cost. Standard costs are used throughout manufacturing to
help control the cost of products rolling off the assembly line. Each prod-
uct is studied to learn the exact, appropriate amount of resources needed
to produce it. Managers must carefully explain deviations from these stan-
dards of resource use. In health care, a budget for the operating rooms, for
example, is developed before the year begins and is based on the number
of cases and historic amounts of resource cost. It’s a reasonable way to
control spending. In manufacturing, no such budget would be prepared.
Instead, once the number and types of cases are known, standard amounts
of resources would be ‘“earned” by the department, and this standard
amount would be compared to actual resource spending. An operating
room director, for example, would then be expected to explain the reasons
for any deviations from the standards.
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It is a far more rigorous method of controlling costs and, for this reason,
is employed in manufacturing. In that setting, every product is carefully
studied to determine its resource load and a “bill of materials” is prepared
that forms the basis of the cost standard. The standard can be adjusted up
or down as the product is modified, the manufacturing process is altered, or
prices for the resources change. Deviations from standard are thoroughly
investigated because of their implications for financial performance,
product quality, and overall business performance. Standards-based per-
formance is then tied to accountability for manufacturing department
managers.

Is such an approach worth implementing in health care? Is it even pos-
sible? The answer to both of these questions is a resounding “yes!” One
of the best ways to achieve consistent, high-quality care is to follow a
predetermined, peer-reviewed, best practice approach and follow it con-
sistently. Such an approach (whether it is called a clinical pathway, a criti-
cal path, a protocol, etc., is unimportant) can provide both high-quality
and cost-efficient outcomes that can be justified to regulators, payers, the
public, and any other group interested in how care is provided and how
much it costs. It would be difficult for congress or the Centers for Medi-
care and Medicaid (CMS) to skimp on reimbursements if providers could
demonstrate a lack of waste and argue effectively for fair and reason-
able payments for work-based, documented effort and resource use. It is
impossible for CMS to deny the existence of something that is thoroughly
documented and which results from expert, peer-reviewed efforts.

Manufacturing has been doing this for decades. The information sys-
tems exist. All that’s missing is the will to borrow proven methods and
the willingness to roll up the sleeves and determine the true best practice
approach to care. Certainly there are arguments against doing so: each
case is different, there are too many diagnoses and complicating comor-
bidities, it represents cookbook medicine.

FIXED VERSUS VARIABLE COSTS

While semi-variable costs cannot be disregarded entirely (they are usually
associated with a significant change in the scope of business), managers
usually deal with just two kinds of costs: fixed and variable. The propor-
tion of costs that are fixed or variable will change as volume rises or falls.
As seen in Figure 3.3, as the volume rises, the fixed cost remains the same
while variable cost rises. As a result, the variable portion of total cost rises
right along with volume. Thus, a department such as the operating rooms
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Monetary Value
Variable Cost

P Fixed Cost

Volume
Figure 3.3

The proportionality of fixed and variable costs changes as volume changes.
As volume rises, the amount of fixed cost remains constant, but the variable
costs increase. This, in turn, changes the proportions, and the department’s
costs become more and more variable with volume.

may be 50% variable at 1,000 surgical procedures but become 75% vari-
able when the surgical load moves to 2,000 procedures.

REAL-WORLD IMPLICATIONS

Failing to recognize the real proportion can lead to errors in the deci-
sion process. Two real-world scenarios illustrate how knowing the
fixed—variable split can lead to a smart decision and a successful price
negotiation while not knowing can lead to financial disaster.

In Scenario A (Table 3.4), a provider has annual, ongoing patient volume of 400
cases and operating costs amounting to $1,000,000. Those costs are 40% fixed
and 60% variable.

An organization approaches the provider with an offer to direct an additional
400 cases in exchange for a discount on the price of services. Currently the provider
charges $2,600 per case and agrees to a deep discount, accepting a contract pay-
ment of $1,400 per case based on an erroneous assumption that its costs are 50%
fixed and 50% variable. As seen in the middle column of numbers in Table 3.4,
the provider expects to make a $60,000 profit on this incremental business based
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Table 3.4
Real-World Scenarios—Scenario A
Current Scenario A Scenario A
Situation Assumption Reality
Number of cases 400 400 400
Variable cost $600,000 $500,000 $600,000
Fixed cost $400,000
Total cost $1,000,000 $500,000 $600,000
Cost per case $2,500 $1,250 $1,500
Price per case $2,600 $1,400 $1,400
Total profit $40,000 $60,000 ($40,000)

on the incorrect assumption that it will incur only $500,000 of added variable
costs in providing the services. The reality, as displayed in the far-right column,
is quite a bit different. The provider’s costs increase by $600,000 because they
are really 40% fixed and 60% variable. The fixed costs do not increase, but the
variable ones double. As a result, there is a significant loss, and the provider’s bot-
tom line drops to zero! The lack of understanding of its costs and their behavior
resulted in a bad decision.

In Scenario B (Table 3.5), a similar provider has annual, ongoing volume of
400 cases and its operating costs amount to $1,000,000. The costs are 40% fixed
and 60% variable. This provider, however, knows exactly how the costs behave.

An organization approaches this provider with an offer to direct an additional
400 cases in exchange for a discount on the price of services. This provider agrees
to a discounted price of $1,600 based on an accurate understanding of its cost
profile (40% fixed and 60% variable). As seen in the middle column of numbers,
the provider expects to make a $40,000 profit on this incremental business while
offering a nearly 40% discount.

The provider now has a combined volume of 800 cases and a bottom line of
$80,000. This is quite a difference from the provider in Scenario A and results
from the proper understanding of costs and their behavior.

In Table 3.6, note that at the combined 800 case level of operation (the
right-hand column), the proportion of fixed and variable cost is quite different
from the 400 case level of operation. At 800 cases, the organization is now only
25% fixed and 75% variable. If another such offer were to be received, the organi-
zation would need to take this new fixed/variable proportion into account to avoid
making an error similar to that shown in Table 3.4.

While any addition of volume should be considered in light of the vari-
able or marginal costs, consideration should also be given to the impact
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Table 3.5
Real-World Scenarios—Scenario B
Current Scenario B Scenario
Situation Assumption B Reality
Number of cases 400 400 400
Variable cost $600,000 $600,000 $600,000
Fixed cost $400,000
Total cost $1,000,000 $600,000 $600,000
Cost per case $2,500 $1,500 $1,500
Price per case $2,600 $1,600 $1,600
Total profit $40,000 $40,000 $40,000
Table 3.6
Real-World Scenarios—Post Scenario B
Current Scenario B Post
Situation Increment Scenario B
Number of cases 400 400 800
Variable cost $600,000 $600,000 $1,200,000
Fixed cost $400,000 400,000
Total cost $1,000,000 $600,000 $1,600,000
Cost per case $2,500 $1,500 $1,500
Price per case $2,600 $1,600 $1,600
Total profit $40,000 $40,000 $40,000

added volume may have on the fixed costs. Would the fixed office staff
need to be expanded? Would space rental cost, normally considered a
fixed cost, need to increase because more space was needed to accom-
modate the added volume? When managers properly understand their
costs and know how costs behave, they are able to make sound business
decisions. If the provider in Scenario A had known more about its costs
and the fixed—variable split, a better, more profitable decision could have
been made.

DIRECT AND INDIRECT COSTS

In addition to identifying costs based on their behavior in relation to vol-
ume, they can be described based on their location in the process of care.
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As the name suggests, direct costs are those incurred in departments that
provide direct, hands-on care to patients: the nursing units, imaging, labs,
and so on. The costs include all the salaries, fringe benefits, and sup-
plies. Indirect costs, sometimes called overhead, are those associated with
administrative and supporting departments like finance, medical records,
transport, and maintenance. The distinction is that direct costs can be
directly associated with individual patients while indirect costs cannot be
so identified. A lab test run on patient Johnson can easily be associated
with Johnson. Both the charge and the cost of the test can also be associ-
ated with Johnson.

Indirect costs, on the other hand, cannot be associated with individual
patients. When the maintenance department repairs a steam pipe, does an
individual patient benefit? Its work benefits all patients and its costs are
allocated to the departments that provide direct care. Thus, the cost of a
lab test includes not only the direct costs of the laboratory, but allocated
costs for maintenance, medical records, accounting, billing, executive and
administration, legal, marketing, and all of the other departments that do
not bill patients directly for their services.

The allocation of the indirect or overhead costs to the direct care depart-
ments is accomplished via cost allocation methodologies that will be dis-
cusses later in this chapter.

COST ACCOUNTING

One of the major functions of the organization’s accounting and finance
staff is that of cost accounting—determining the cost of a product or ser-
vice and providing cost information to support sound decision making.
Cost accounting systems exist in most industries and provide accurate
information that can be used to determine price or make decisions relative
to technology investments, new lines of business, expansion of services,
and so on.

In the manufacturing setting, cost accounting systems are prospec-
tively or future focused—what a product should cost to manufacture in
the future. This results in a cost “standard,” which forms the basis of tight
cost control—judging actual cost performance against the standard. If
a product costs more than standard, an unfavorable variance results and
management must take action to correct the problem. The systems used
are extremely precise and are based on studied reviews of manufacturing
processes and the costs of resources used in the manufacturing process.
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Health care organizations, principally hospitals, also use cost account-
ing techniques and have invested millions of dollars in automated systems.
Unfortunately, they are retrospectively focused—what a service did cost
in the past. Further, in determining this historic value, too many aver-
ages are used, thereby significantly reducing precision. Because they look
to the past instead of the future and develop average cost information as
opposed to standard costs, they are of little real value in controlling the
use of resources.

The following description illustrates the differences between the two
approaches. A patient comes to the hospital for a relatively simple elective
surgical procedure. A manufacturing cost accounting system would care-
fully determine such things as the amount of time the procedure should
take, the labor cost involved, and supplies to be used. The result would be a
cost standard that could be used to develop a price for the procedure (even
being able to quote that price for the payer prior to the procedure) and to
manage the resource consumption from admission to discharge. A hos-
pital cost accounting system, on the other hand, would basically divide
total costs by total cases and develop an average cost per case. At best,
it could calculate an average cost for types of cases—orthopedic, neuro,
urology, and so on. Lacking a standard cost, management of resource con-
sumption is less effective. Imagine how much more effective management
could be if the OR director knew prospectively what a procedure should
cost, could monitor resource consumption against that standard, and could
more effectively manage and use the limited resources at their disposal.

Several approaches can be used for gathering and analyzing cost data.
Activity-based cost accounting (ABC Costing), the Bill of Materials
approach, and relative value unit (RVU) schemes provide detailed data on
costs associated with products, procedures, and services.

Activity-Based Costing seeks to assign costs directly to products or ser-
vices based on the various activities involved. Activities are also used to
assign the cost of indirect or overhead centers like finance and billing.
Table 3.7 shows the approach. This organization has $200,000 of indirect
or overhead cost that must be allocated to its four different services. In
allocating this overhead, ABC Costing looks at the proportion of total
activity time involved with each service and assigns overhead in the same
proportions. Thus, Service A, which accounts for 20.2% of total activity
time, is assigned 20.2% of the $200,000 overhead or $40,400. This con-
tinues for the other three services until the entire $200,000 of overhead is
assigned.
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Table 3.7
Activity-Based Costing Methodology

Calculation of Overhead Allocation to Each Service

Service A Service B Service C Service D Total

Activity 1 (minutes) 100 150 150 150

Activity 2 120 120 170 170

Activity 3 130 130 130 150

Activity 4 200 200 200 230

Total time (minutes) 550 600 650 700

Volume of services 200 100 250 300

Total minutes 110,000 60,000 162,500 210,000 542,500
Proportion 20.2% 11.1% 30.0% 38.7%  100.0%

Overhead assigned ~ $40,400  $22,200  $60,000  $77,400  $200,000

The Bill of Materials approach begins with a detailed recipe of labor
and supply resources used in a product, procedure, or service. Costs are
then associated with each based on the quantities used. This results in
a standard cost for the item in question. Overhead is not considered in
the development of the standard cost, as demonstrated in Table 3.8. The
standard cost for the four services range from a low of $536 for Service
A to a high of $1,090 for Service C. These standard amounts can then
be compared to actual spending to provide a more rigorous form of cost
control.

The listing of the labor and materials associated with each service
shown in Table 3.8 is developed based on observation, discussion, and
procedural methodology. This forms the basis of a Bill of Materials.
It identifies every resource used in each of the services. Based on the
amount and cost of those resources, values are assigned. The total of
these values is the standard cost for the service. Once the number of
cases performed is known, standard amounts of resources would be
“earned” by the department, and this standard amount would be com-
pared to actual resource spending. The manager responsible would
then be expected to explain the reasons for any deviations from the
standards.

Relative Value Unit schemes are similar in approach to the Bill of Mate-
rials, also beginning with the listing and valuing of resources by service.
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Table 3.8
Bill of Materials Methodology

List and Value of Resources by Service

Service A Service B Service C Service D

Nursing salaries and benefits $100.00  $140.00 $255.00 $100.00

Technician salaries and benefits  120.00 100.00 185.00 120.00
Supply item 1 10.00 23.00 78.25 8.25
Supply item 2 20.50 56.00 25.00 32.00
Supply item 3 9.25 76.00 65.00 14.00
Supply item 4 5.25 34.00 32.75 25.45
Supply item 5 7.50 77.00 15.00 63.00
Supply item 6 56.50 22.00 68.00 69.00
Supply item 7 12.40 87.50 95.00 85.30
Supply item 8 5.00 9.90 84.00 47.00
Medication 1 134.60 265.00 75.00 41.00
Medication 2 55.00 105.60 112.00 135.00
Total standard cost $536.00  $996.00  $1,090.00 $740.00

But instead of developing a standard cost for each service, a common
resource-based value is assigned to each procedure or service based on
the value of all the resources used in performing the procedure or service.
The development of RVUs as part of the development of resource use
standards is discussed in Chapter 12.

Two less detailed methods of determining the cost of a product, proce-
dure, or service are unique to health care: the cost-to-charge ratio and the
ratio of charges to charges applied to cost (RCCAC). These are merely
rough estimation methods based on price and revenue data.

A hospital might identify the charges for a particular surgical procedure
and apply a ratio of cost to charges to determine the underlying cost of
the procedure. If, for example, the Memorial Hospital’s revenues were
$25,000,000 and its costs were $22,500,000, it would have a cost-to-charge
ratio of 90% ($22,500,000 of cost divided by the $25,000,000 of revenue).
Then, if the charges for the surgical procedure were $12,500, the finance
department might erroneously, but confidently, conclude that the underly-
ing cost was $11,250 (90% of $12,500). This approach is often used in
the clinical literature to identify cost reductions associated with quality
improvement initiatives. The fact that charges have been reduced because
of a quality initiative does not mean that costs are reduced; they are largely
fixed. Regrettably, because of this assumption about the cost-to-charge



58 HEALTH CARE BUDGETING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

relationship, almost all of the clinical literature on the topic of potential
hospital cost reduction is inaccurate. An unfortunate consequence of this
is that quality improvement initiatives have lost credibility. They simply
do not deliver the promised cost reductions for hospitals. This may be why
quality improvement has not gained the traction in health care that it has
in other industries.

The RCCAC method is virtually identical. In this approach, if the hip
replacements at Memorial Hospital accounted for $8,000,000 of the hos-
pital’s $25,000,000 of total revenue (32%), finance might, again errone-
ously, but confidently, conclude that the cost of hip replacements amounted
to $7,200,000 (32% of Memorial’s $22,500,000 total cost).

MANUFACTURING VERSUS HEALTH CARE

Regardless of the method used, it is interesting to note the differences
between health care and manufacturing in their use of cost accounting. In
manufacturing, the emphasis is on accuracy. Cost accounting data are used
to control manufacturing costs and, thereby, to gain competitive advan-
tage. The data are often used in determining price quotes in response to
a request for proposal or request for quote. Often, the cost accounting
and industrial engineering disciplines are paired to achieve performance
improvement.

In health care, cost accounting grew out of the cost reporting require-
ments of Medicare and Medicaid, which reimbursed hospitals on the basis
of their cost to provide care. As a result, the emphasis was not placed on
accuracy, but on cost allocation to maximize Medicare/Medicaid cost and
in so doing maximize reimbursement. Unlike its use in manufacturing,
cost accounting in health care has no role in controlling costs. And the
notion of using industrial engineering approaches to improve performance
is anathema.

Manufacturers have tons of cost data and know what everything costs.
Health care organizations have tons of cost data but know what nothing
really costs. Consider the following example from the auto industry.

A mid-sized car comes with a number of “basics” like brakes and a
windshield. But beyond the basics, the customer can order a car with
the specific options he or she wishes. Those lists of options can be quite
lengthy.

The person interested in buying the car can choose from over 20 options
leading to a car that can be uniquely his or hers. Given all the possible
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Body type (three types) Climate control Cloth or leather seats
Doors (two or four) Power mirrors Wheels (three styles)
Bench or bucket seats Power locks Antitheft system
Engine size (three sizes) Remote keyless entry Tilt steering wheel
Transmission Power windows Fog lamps

Forward gears Power seats (driver/pass.) Trunk lid cargo rack
Power steering (yes/no) Sound system Satellite radio

Power brakes (yes/no) Head-up display Navigation system

permutations of colors and options, the number of possible unique cars
is an incredibly large number of possible vehicles: 133,373,577,685,028,
000,000,000,000,000,000. And yet the manufacturer is able to know how
much each will cost to produce and how much it and the dealer are will-
ing to accept as an offer from the potential buyer. This is just one car from
a manufacturer who offers several models and sizes (full-size, mid-size,
compact, subcompact, SUV, minivan, etc.).

Why is it important for health care organizations to understand this? It
suggests that the argument that health care is too complex to know pro-
spectively what any patient’s stay will cost is not valid. Good manufac-
turing cost accounting systems can and do track complex processes with
trillions of alternatives and provide extreme granularity with respect to
cost and support good control. Health care could do the same. Only the
will to do so is lacking.

COST ACCOUNTING VERSUS
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

Cost accounting and financial accounting are different disciplines. While
cost accounting works to determine the cost of a product or service and
provide cost information to support sound decision making within the
organization, financial accounting focuses on the financial condition of
the organization and prepares financial statements (balance sheets, etc.)
that report that condition primarily to those outside the organization.
Although both are user oriented and rely on accurate basic accounting
data, they differ in a number of ways. Financial accounting takes a historic
perspective, reporting how the organization performed in the past. Cost
accounting considers the past but looks to guide future decisions. Finan-
cial accounting, because of the importance of accurate financial state-
ments, makes precise determinations. Cost accounting is able to deal with
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order of magnitude or rough estimates. Financial accounting is governed
by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the standards that
drive financial reporting, but cost accounting need not conform to GAAP.
Financial accounting, by its very nature, is conservative. Cost accounting,
on the other hand, can be speculative, supporting “what if?”” questioning
associated with decision making.

ACCOUNTING FOR COSTS

Keeping track of operating costs is essential to running any business.
Knowing which departments are incurring costs and for what reasons is
essential to manage resources, make performance comparisons, price ser-
vices, and so on. To do this, most organizations use a series of numbered
departments called cost centers where expenses are aggregated. These
can be either patient care centers (labs, ICU, ED, etc.) or support centers
(accounting, maintenance, medical records, etc.). The way to differenti-
ate these two kinds of cost centers is by the services they provide. Patient
care cost centers, sometimes called direct care cost centers, provide ser-
vices that are identifiable to specific patients and are itemized on the bill.
Overhead cost centers provide services that cannot be identified to specific
patients and are not itemized on the bill. Rather, they are allocated to the
patient care cost centers as a way of getting their costs onto the bill.

Within each center, a series of line item accounts delineates the costs into
categories for salaries and fringe benefits (including lines for department
managers, nurses, technicians, and clericals) and supplies and services
(office supplies, medical supplies, etc.). Figure 3.4 shows a typical cost
center and account listing. A significant digit number system is employed.
The numbering system allows the observer to know what type of account
it is just from the number: asset, liability, cost center, and so on. With cost
center accounts, the first set of digits is used to identify the department. In
the example shown, “601” refers to Nursing Unit 4 West. The second set
of digits indicates the type of expense with the 100 series used for salary
costs, the 200 series for fringe benefits, and the 300, 400, 500, 600, 700,
and 800 series used for supplies and services. The 900 series is usually
reserved for expense recovery, the recoupment of expenses incurred on
behalf of another department.

When costs are accounted for at the cost center level, they are generally
put in one of three broad categories. Direct costs are those that a depart-
ment incurs itself for its own use. Salaries and supplies are prime examples.
Overhead or indirect costs are those incurred directly by one department
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Expense Type |

Department

pa

XXX XXX

%

X +— Additional Detail |

Manager Salary |

Nursing — 4 West

N\

601 120 000 “—|  NotUsed |

Pharmaceuticals I

Pharmacy

971 312 165 |  Antibiotics |

Implantable Items I

Operating Rooms

avays
N[ EN

706 312 165 “— Knee Prostheses |

Figure 3.4

All accounts have a title or account name and an account number and follow
a significant digit numbering system.

and then allocated to another department. The cost of the maintenance
department, for example, is direct cost for the maintenance department,
but overhead or indirect cost when allocated to another department like
the ICU. Finally, financing and other costs include interest expense, depre-
ciation, depletion and amortization expenses, and research and develop-
ment costs. These, too, are eventually allocated to other departments.

OVERHEAD COST ALLOCATION

Cost allocation is a technique used to determine the “fully loaded” cost
(both the direct and indirect costs) of a service, product line, department, or
procedure. The costs of overhead cost centers are allocated to patient care
cost centers using one of several different methodologies, all of which are
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Table 3.9
Partial List of Statistics Used to Allocate Overhead Costs

Overhead Department Statistic Used to Allocate Cost

Executive Offices Direct cost of departments receiving the allocation
Accounting and Finance Direct cost of departments receiving the allocation
Billing Office Direct revenue of departments receiving the allocation
Admitting Office Admissions

Social Services Cases opened

Environmental Services Square footage

Nutrition Service Meals served

Maintenance Square footage

designed to allocate 100% of the overhead. These methodologies range in
simplicity from the single step down methodology (so called because the
allocation worksheet resembles a set of steps) to the extremely complex
multiple, simultaneous equation methodology. Once the fully loaded cost
is known, prices can be set such that all of the organization’s costs can be
recovered.

To allocate overhead to patient care centers, a series of statistical indica-
tors must first be developed for use in allocating the costs. For example, as
seen in Table 3.9, the cost of the admitting office is spread among all the
inpatient cost centers on the basis of the number of admissions each has
handled. The cost of the accounting department is allocated based on the
direct cost of the individual departments. Then, using these and other such
values, the costs are allocated from one department to all the others, then
from another department to all the remaining departments, and so on until
all of the overhead has been allocated.

Once these amounts have been determined, a table of allocation statis-
tics, Table 3.10, can be developed. This will form the basis for spreading
the overhead dollars among the overhead receiving departments. The cost
of the Admitting Office will be spread only to the inpatient units because
only those units admit patients. And because 2 North accounts for 22.1%
of the admissions (2,100/9,500), it will receive 22.1% of the cost allocated
from the Admitting Office.

Once the allocation statistics have been assembled, the dollars of
overhead cost can be allocated, as seen in Table 3.11, in the same pro-
portions as the statistics. In allocating the cost of the executive offices,
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Table 3.10
Cost Allocation Step Down Statistics

Direct Direct

Cost Revenue Square
Department Name ($000s) ($000s) Cases Admits Footage
Executive Offices $750
Accounting 1,600
Billing & Collections 1,500
Social Services 1,850
Admitting Office 1,500
Environ. Serv. 1,800
Maintenance 5,000
Nursing 2 North 9,800 $21,600 2,100 2,100 13,800
Nursing 2 South 9,700 21,400 2,070 2,070 14,000
Nursing 3 North 10,100 22,200 2,270 2,270 13,800
Nursing 3 South 10,300 22,700 2,150 2,150 14,000
Intensive Care 16,000 34,100 1,800 910 15,000
Imaging Center 12,500 27,500 21,000
Clinical Labs 9,500 20,900 11,000
Operating Rooms 10,100 32,000 15,600
Emergency Room 8,000 17,600 9,000 17,000
Total $110,000 $220,000 19,390 9,500 130,200

$750,000 must be spread to all the other departments. Those other
departments have total direct costs of $109,250,000 (110,000,000 —
$750,000). Since the Accounting Department represents 1.5% of
the total direct expense (again, all departments except the Executive
Offices), it receives $10,894 (1.5% of $750,000). This same calculation
is carried down the column until all of the $750,000 is allocated. At the
bottom of the column, the total is $0 since the sum of the amount of cost
removed from the Executive Office line and the amounts added to the
other cost centers is zero.

Each of the other overhead departments follows in turn, each absorbing
overhead from other overhead departments and then allocating the combi-
nation of their own direct cost and the overhead allocated to them. Thus,
the Social Services department allocated a combination of its direct cost
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($1,850,000) and $40,896 of overhead allocated to it ($12,700 from the
Executive Offices and $27,685 from the Accounting Department).

Finally, when all the overhead costs have been assigned to the direct patient
care cost centers, the total cost remains at $110,000,000. At this point, it is
possible to develop a price list for the departments and their services that are
billable in such a way that the entire $110,000,000 is recovered.

THE FALLACY OF COST ALLOCATION

Fully loaded cost is often incorrectly used to determine the soundness of a
potential business venture. By knowing the fully loaded cost of a service
or product, it can be compared to the potential revenue to determine if a
profit or loss would result from pursuing the venture. This method is inap-
propriate for decision making and can lead to poor decisions.

Further, despite the growth in sophistication of the allocation methodolo-
gies, one thing has not changed. No matter how much or how little overhead
is allocated to a given department, the manager of that department will feel
he or she is charged too much. And, truth be told, that manager is probably
right. The question that must be asked is this: Is appropriate or sufficient
value received for the overhead assigned? In the manufacturing sector, over-
head is referred to as “burden” because it represents the burden each depart-
ment must struggle to carry. In health care, that burden is enormous, easily
overshadowing the direct cost of the patient care centers. In addition, and far
more troubling, overhead obscures the real cost situation. Much as the icing
obscures the kind of cake it covers, overhead makes it difficult, if not impos-
sible, to fully understand performance. Consider the following scenario.

Department A is one of three patient care departments in a health service or-
ganization. Each department is allocated an equal amount of the organization’s
$1.2 million overhead. Performance is measured using fully loaded cost per unit
of service. The three departments are shown in Table 3.12.

Concerns have been raised that Department C’s volume has dwindled signifi-
cantly over the years and its cost has risen to the point of not being competitive.
The decision is made to close Department C. At the same time, however, the man-
ager in Department A has identified a way to improve her direct cost by $50,000.
Logic tells us that Department A’s manager has done well. But, as shown in
Table 3.13, after the overhead has been reallocated in the wake of Department C’s
closure, things don’t look quite so rosy for the department manager.

It now appears that both managers lost control of their costs. Despite a cost
saving of $50,000, Department A’s cost per unit of service rose by $15 and De-
partment B’s cost per unit of service rose by 20%!
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Table 3.12
Selected Departmental Performance Statistics

Department A Department B Department C

Direct cost $500,000 $600,000 $300,000
Allocated overhead 400,000 400,000 400,000
Total cost $900,000 $1,000,000 $700,000
Units of service 10,000 10,000 700
Cost per unit of service $90 $100 $1,000
Table 3.13

Selected Departmental Performance Statistics

Department A  Department B Department C

Direct cost $450,000 $600,000
Allocated overhead 600,000 600,000
Total cost $1,050,000 $1,200,000
Units of service 10,000 10,000
Cost per unit of service $105 $120

The use of allocated overhead in this scenario clearly confuses the situ-
ation and makes judgment about performance more difficult. And while
the earlier scenario is merely for illustrative purposes, the following
real-world example demonstrates the danger in using fully loaded cost to
assess performance. The facts remain unchanged, but the manager’s name
and location have been fictionalized.

The manager of the surgical ICU at a 300-bed hospital in the northwest had
worked diligently to implement a number of best practice initiatives aimed at
improving clinical quality, patient safety, and operating performance. She had
worked collaboratively with her staff and the physicians to implement the “vent
bundle,” improve glycemic controls, and reduce sepsis. The results were startling.
Clinical outcomes soared, average length of stay declined sharply, and direct cost
per case improved by an astounding 36%. The celebration was short lived, how-
ever. Finance reviewed the ICU’s performance using “fully loaded” cost (the di-
rect cost of the unit and allocated overhead). In its methodology, overhead was
allocated based on the number of admissions. Since the ICU had become far
more efficient in moving patients through the unit, its admissions had risen and
it had been allocated far more overhead. Enough overhead, in fact, that Finance
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demanded to know why “fully loaded cost” had risen by 8%! Following sev-
eral months of heated exchanges with Finance, the nurse manager resigned in
frustration—doing the right thing had cost her the position and deprived the hos-
pital of good managerial talent.

The nurse manager’s outstanding performance in this case had been
masked by the allocation of overhead. But worse, what sort of message is
sent? Doing the right thing draws fire from Finance. Too often, overhead
allocation and the use of fully loaded cost lead decision makers astray. The
most accurate way to make decisions about the cost of a service is to look
only at the direct cost involved and leave the overhead out of the discus-
sion. After all, overhead is, essentially, a fixed cost. So, if the overhead
assigned to one department rises, it must fall in other departments. The
net effect is zero, another reason to avoid using overhead in the first place.

IMPORTANT CAVEATS

In using cost data, whether for comparison purposes, for decision mak-
ing, or for judging performance, several important caveats cannot be
overlooked.

First, choose the right data for the right job. Average cost data are fine
for comparison purposes. It can be used to judge performance relative
to other organizations, to compare one department to another within the
same organization, or to gain competitive advantage. Average cost data,
however, should never be used for decision making. That is the realm of
marginal cost data. Remember, averages are about existing business while
decisions are about new, incremental future business, which will have a
different cost profile. Marginal cost data should be used for making deci-
sions. This data is related specifically to the new, incremental business,
which will not be burdened by the current cost profile.

Second, never use fully loaded cost in making decisions. The addition
of allocated overhead to the calculation merely clouds the cost issue and
leads to bad decision making. Instead, use direct cost only—the marginal
or incremental costs (the changes in cost) that are associated with the deci-
sion itself. The logic is that any costs allocated to the idea being consid-
ered must be unallocated from the rest of the enterprise. This results in a
“wash”—that is to say, no change in the total overhead. The increase in
one area is balanced by a decrease in the others.

Third, never use cost allocation to determine what anything costs.
Because overhead centers are often quite removed from the location of
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patient care, their input to the cost of providing a service or performing a
procedure is questionable at best. Instead, use the direct, and knowable,
cost of the service or procedure. Rely on the most accurate cost data and
do not muddy the waters with an allocation of overhead cost.

Finally, when judging managerial performance, only use direct cost.
Department managers cannot control overhead spending, nor can they
control the amount of overhead allocated to their departments. Judging
their performance based on costs that they cannot control is unfair at best.
Rather, understand what they can control and judge them accordingly.



Chapter 4

REVENUE AND REIMBURSEMENT

Every industry has payment or reimbursement methodologies that are fairly
unique to the industry. Baseball teams don’t sell season or single-game
tickets the same way airlines sell seats. Auto dealers don’t price their cars
the same way movie theaters price their tickets for the latest blockbuster.
The same is true of health care. Regardless of the industry, understanding
how prices are set and how buyers pay for services is essential to success.

HEALTH CARE REIMBURSEMENT METHODOLOGIES

Several methodologies are used to pay health care providers for their ser-
vices. These range from the classic fee-for-service approach in which the
payer buys services on a piecemeal basis to the global budget methodol-
ogy used in countries like Canada and Taiwan in which the national gov-
ernment pays a flat amount regardless of the number of patients served or
the services provided. All of the methodologies have their advantages and
disadvantages, and each provides strong incentives that influence provider
behaviors.

Fee-for-service reimbursement is one of the oldest forms of payment
for hospitals, doctors, long-term care facilities, and so on. The provider is
paid for each individual service. The more services provided, the more the
provider receives from the payer. A patient in the hospital for nine days
(at, for example, $1,000 per day) would be billed $9,000. If that length of
stay were to be reduced to only five days, the bill would drop to $5,000.
The clear incentive for providers with fee-for-service reimbursement is to
perform more procedures, test more, keep patients in hospital longer, and
in other ways provide more services. In hospitals, fee for service is usually
associated with longer length of stays than under a case-based methodol-
ogy. Physicians paid via fee-for-service arrangements are thought to run
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more tests and provide added, though potentially unnecessary, services in
order to increase payments. For this reason, case-based and global pay-
ment methodologies were introduced in the hope that they would drive
down the cost of health care.

Cost reimbursement took off as a methodology with the arrival of
Medicare and Medicaid in the 1960s. Regardless of what they charged
for services, hospitals were reimbursed for the cost per inpatient day. The
amount calculated was based on a cost allocation (see Chapter 3), which
sought to identify the total cost per inpatient day by allocating the cost of
overhead departments (accounting, maintenance, etc.) to the direct care
centers (general medical/surgical nursing units, intensive care unit, oper-
ating rooms, etc.). Though cost, not charges, was used for reimbursement,
this approach was, essentially, a fee-for-service approach and did nothing
to reduce the cost of health care. In fact, it worked to increase the cost of
care as hospitals learned that the more they spent, the more they were paid.

In the charge-based reimbursement approach, providers developed a
price list (charges for the various services) based on their determination
of the underlying cost for their servicers. These charges formed the basis
of the bill. Some payers, based on prior negotiations with the provider,
pay a discounted amount of these charges. Often, the charges for services
are far greater than the amounts paid under a case-based methodology.
Self-pay patients, those without insurance, would be expected to pay the
full amount of the charges.

The case-based reimbursement approach makes a single payment for
an entire case, regardless of the amount of services provided or the length
of hospitalization. It accounts for about 60% of all payments for inpatient
services to hospitals in the United States. Essentially, hospitals are paid a
set amount based on the patient’s diagnosis. The methodology is designed
to drive down cost by incentivizing the hospital to eliminate needless ser-
vices, reduce length of stay, and eliminate complications that drive up
the cost of care. Unfortunately, this methodology can place hospitals and
physicians at odds. The hospital benefits from shorter length of stay, but
the physician does not.

As shown in Table 4.1, three different hospital cases with the same
exact diagnosis generate three different sets of charges. A large part of
the difference is in the room and board charges associated with a longer
length of stay. While a fee-for-service payer may reimburse based on these
charges, thus paying substantially more to Hospital C than to Hospital A,
those payers using the case-based approach are not bound by the different
charges and pay a flat amount regardless of length of stay or other charges.
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Table 4.1
Comparing Fee-for-Service and Case-Based Payments
Hospital A Hospital B Hospital C

Room and board $14,500 $16,000 $17,500
Laboratory 2,500 2,600 2,700
Diagnostic imaging 1,400 1,500 1,600
Medications 3,800 4,000 4,200
Other charges 2,800 2,900 3,000
Total charges $25,000 $27,000 $29,000
Fee-for-service payment $25,000 $27,000 $29,000
Case-based payment $26,000 $26,000 $26,000

In this illustration, the case-based payer will pay only $26,000. Hospital
A will benefit from this, while the other two hospitals will not. They are,
thus, incentivized to reduce length of stay and “unnecessary” services.

Under a capitation scheme, providers receive a specified amount per
member per month regardless of the amount or cost of the services pro-
vided. Capitation pays a provider, typically a physician or physician prac-
tice, a set monthly amount for each patient (member) assigned to them
regardless of the amount of services provided. The payment is referred to
as the PMPM (per member per month) amount. In theory, providers will
carefully manage resources to provide the most efficient and effective care
for those covered by the PMPM. Spend less than the PMPM and they keep
the difference. Spend too much and they lose. A payer uses this approach
as a way of incentivizing providers to reduce “unnecessary” services and
stress more cost-effective preventive care. The payment rises and falls
only in response to the number of beneficiaries enrolled.

The global budget methodology is similar. Providers receive an annual
amount set before the fiscal year. Global budgets are used in Canada,
Taiwan, and a number of other countries as a means of controlling total
national health expenditures. The global payment caps them at a set
amount. When the money runs out, services are no longer provided.
A hospital in Ontario, Canada, for example, would receive an annual pay-
ment amount or budget. The payment amount is the same whether it cares
for more patients or fewer.

The pay-for-performance (PAP) approach pays providers based on the
quality of care provided. This is more of a philosophical approach than
a methodology in that it is used to modify case-based payments. Case
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payments are adjusted based on certain indicators of quality. These include
process indicators like the use of aspirin for chest pain patients, outcome
measures like readmission rates, and cost. Though not without its prob-
lems and flaws, P4P incentivizes providers to improve outcomes not just
in absolute terms but also in relative terms—compared to other providers.
That can present a problem for high performers whose rate of improve-
ment compared to other, lesser performers may not be as dramatic.

Consider this scenario involving a high-performing hospital (Hospital A) in which,
for example, 99% of patients presenting at the ED with a complaint of chest pain
are administered an aspirin within 30 minutes of arrival. Other hospitals, Hospital
B through Hospital J, administer aspirin in only 50% of such cases. Now consider
that all the hospitals decide to improve their clinical performance with respect to
this process measure and all of them achieve a 100% compliance rate. Which of
the hospitals will appear to be more improved? Hospitals B through J will show a
200% increase, while Hospital A—the best practices hospital—will show only a
paltry 1% increase! Hospital A will be penalized in the reimbursement because it
did not improve as much as the others.

Despite the flaws, pay-for-performance reimbursement is an appropriate
and long overdue approach. In no other industry can mistakes be made
and consumers be forced to pay for them. If a car is taken to the mechanic
because the brakes are squealing and the brakes still squeal after the me-
chanic works on them, will the customer pay for the repairs? Probably
not. The customer will expect the squealing to stop before paying for the
repairs. The difference between the mechanic and health care is that in
health care, payments have historically been made for effort, whereas in
all other endeavors the payments are for results.

The bundled payment approach provides a single payment for all of the
providers and services associated with a single episode of care. For exam-
ple, rather than individual payments to a general practitioner, orthopedic
surgeon, anesthesiologist, physical therapist, radiologist, hospital, imag-
ing center, and so on for the repair of a torn rotator cuff, a single payment
is made and shared among the various providers. The intent is to lower the
total cost of the repair by forcing the providers to coordinate care better
and eliminate redundancy and needless interventions.

More recently, population-based reimbursement has entered the scene.
This approach is designed to drive providers, mainly hospitals, to focus on
population wellness.

Is there a single best way to pay for health care services? Is reimburse-
ment the best way to modify provider behaviors? Table 4.2 highlights the
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various provider behaviors that have been incentivized by the different
reimbursement methodologies. Note that none of them are aimed at the
ultimate consumer, the patient. One thing is clear, without the participa-
tion of the patient in the financial impact of his or her health decision
making, all the reimbursement schemes in the world will not slow the
rapidly rising cost of health care. The reimbursement approaches at this
point focus only on the supply side of the equation. Unless the demand
side is dealt with using similar financial incentives, health care costs will
continue to rise in spite of the efforts of the government, consumer groups,
insurance companies, and employers.

SETTING PRICES

Two approaches can be used to determine the price for a service. Prices
can be based on market conditions—the push and pull of supply and
demand, competition, and so on—or on financial requirements—the
amount of cost, interest on debt, and so on that must be covered. Setting
prices, however, should not be confused with reimbursement. It is possi-
ble, for example, for a physical therapist to set a price of $175 for a session
but be reimbursed only $35 by the payer. This discrepancy in price versus
payment must be considered when prices are determined.

As depicted in Figure 4.1, equilibrium between supply and demand is
achieved when they balance each other. The term “price elasticity” refers
to the ability of price to balance supply and demand. It measures the
responsiveness of supply or demand for desirable products or services to
changes in price. As price rises, demand decreases and supply increases.
As price falls, demand rises and supply decreases.

Supply Demand

Price

Figure 4.1
Price is a powerful force in modifying demand.
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Whether based on market conditions or financial requirements, price has
an impact on both supply and demand. If supply is greater than demand,
a reduction in price can boost demand or reduce supply to the point that
equilibrium is reset. The same is true in the other direction. If demand is
too high, an increase in price will either reduce demand or incentivize oth-
ers to supply goods and services until equilibrium is once again achieved.

Setting prices based on market conditions requires a fair amount of
knowledge of the marketplace: the number and types of providers, the
level and quality of services, the locations of providers and potential cus-
tomers, the need and demand for the service (which may very well be dif-
ferent from each other), the level of competitiveness in the marketplace,
and so on. After choosing a competitive price, one must make sure that
price will cover all the financial requirements. These include the direct
cost of the service along with other financial considerations like debt
repayment; profit, which is a routine part of business even for nonprofits;
and sufficient coverage for discounts, bad debts, and charity care. Finally,
overhead or indirect costs are covered. But, as depicted in Figure 4.2, the
money works its way down from the price to the overhead. In this depic-
tion of the market-based approach, the amount of overhead is a function

Market Price x Volume = Revenue
Market-Based Price

Write-offs and discounts

Profit target

Other financial considerations

(debt service, interest expense, etc.)

Direct cost

Indirect or overhead cost

Figure 4.2
Price setting based on the marketplace.
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of affordability. After the revenue is reduced by the direct cost of the prod-
uct or service, including discounts and other write-offs, profits, and other
financial considerations, whatever is left is available to support overhead.
While this approach is not designed to be an overhead limiting approach,
it actually serves that very useful purpose. Care must be exercised in set-
ting the price. If it is set too high, demand may not materialize; if it is set
too low, insufficient funds may be provided for operating the business.

As seen in Table 4.3, the combination of a market-based price and
anticipated volume of business yields total revenue—the amount that must
cover all the financial needs of the organization. But the total revenue must
be reduced by the amount of discounts, bad debts, and charity care that
will be provided as part of normal business operations. In this example,
7% of billed charges are given over to discounts to payers, bad debts of
patients who have refused to pay their bills, and charity care for patients
who cannot afford their care, leaving $3 million available to cover every-
thing else, including a modest profit.

Note that in the example, the first call on the $3 million is the profit
target of $500,000 followed in order by $500,000 of other financial con-
siderations and then the $1.5 million of direct costs. At this point, only
about $500,000 is available to cover overhead, thus limiting the amount
of overhead.

Alternatively, price can be set based on the cost of providing a ser-
vice. The various costs and financial requirements are combined and then
divided by the expected volume of service to determine a price. As seen in
Figure 4.3, the direct cost of the service is the starting point. Then indirect

Table 4.3

Market-Based Price

Price $134.41
Anticipated volume of business 24,000
Gross revenue $3,225,840
Write-offs and discounts 225,809
(7% of $3,225,840)

Net revenue $3,000,031
Profit target $500,000

Other financial considerations 500,000 1,000,000
Available to cover expenses $2,000,031
Direct costs 1,500,000

Available for overhead $500,031
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Total Revenue Needs + Volume = Price

Cost-Based Price

Write-offs and discounts

Profit target

Other financial considerations

(debt service, interest expense, etc.)

Indirect or overhead cost

Direct cost

Figure 4.3
Price setting based on cost.

costs, financial considerations like debt service and profit, are added in.
Finally, those costs are marked up to cover discounts and write-offs. The
final total is divided by anticipated volume to arrive at a price for the service.

While this approach has the benefit of covering all costs and other
financial needs, the possibility exists that the price will be set too high
and demand will not materialize. The calculations needed to determine a
cost-based price are shown in Table 4.4.

As seen in the table, the direct and indirect or overhead costs are the first
items taken into account. Next come the other financial considerations (e.g.,
debt service) and profit. Once this amount is determined, it can be “grossed
up” to take into account the 7% of billed charges that are not collected. This
is done by dividing the net revenue needs ($3,000,000) by the collection
rate of 93%. The result is the amount of gross revenue that needs to be gen-
erated by the combination of price and volume. Note that this is calculated
by dividing the net revenue amount by the collection rate in order to deter-
mine the larger amount of gross revenue. If one were to merely add 7% to
the net revenue needed (Table 4.5), an insufficient amount of gross revenue
need would be calculated, leaving the organization short of its needs. This
is because the 7% that is not collected (and the 93% that is) applies to the
gross revenue amount, not the net revenue amount.
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Table 4.4
Calculating a Cost-Based Price
Direct cost of the service $1,500,000
Overhead or indirect costs M
Total operating costs $2,000,000
Other financial considerations 500,000
Profit target 500,000
Net revenue needs $3,000,000
Collection rate 93%
Gross revenue needs $3,225,806
Anticipated volume of business 24,000
Price $134.41
Table 4.5
Calculating Gross Revenue Needs Based on the Collection Rate
Using Multiplication Using Division
Net revenue $3,000,000 $3,000,000
Collection rate 93%
Gross revenue
Write-off percentage 7%
Write-offs mount $210,000
Gross revenue $3,210,000 $3,225,806
Collection rate 93% 93%

Net revenue $2,985,300 $3,000,000

The difference in gross revenue as seen at the bottom of the table is about
$15,000, a simple mistake to make and one that seems perfectly logical. If
the organization doesn’t collect 7% of its bills, just add 7% to the bills to
begin with. But, as demonstrated in the table, adding 7% doesn’t work. One
must “gross up” by dividing by the amount collected—in this example, 93%.

Moving from the simple, a single price for a single service, the concept
remains the same, but the complexity of the calculations increases. Con-
sider, for example, the hospital that provides inpatient services (on a num-
ber of nursing units) along with several ancillary services (imaging, OR,
labs) and wished to price its services. As described in the discussion of
overhead cost allocation in Chapter 3, it will allocate all costs to the direct
patient service centers (2 North, Imaging, etc.). Then, as seen in Table 4.6,
a profit target (column B) will be applied to each center to determine the
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targeted net revenue (column C). The net revenue amount is then grossed
up to determine the required amount of gross revenue to be generated by
each service. This is done by dividing the amount in column C by the col-
lection rate in column D. Once this amount (column E) is determined, it
is divided by the anticipated units of volume (column F) that each of the
centers will handle to arrive at a price (column G) for each service.

The price for a patient day on the 2 North nursing unit is $613.32:
$1,962,600 spread across 3,200 patient days. The same approach is used
for all the centers. The only difference is the units of volume. For the inpa-
tient units, patient days are used. In imaging, relative value units are used.
In the OR, it’s minutes and for the labs, the number of tests.

BILLING AND COLLECTING

Once prices have been set and bills rendered for services provided, the
focus turns to collecting the bills. This involves a complex cycle of activi-
ties involving various departments within the provider organization as
well as an insurance company, Medicare, Medicaid, or other party respon-
sible for paying the bill. The billing and collecting cycle, as illustrated
in Figure 4.4, begins with the services themselves. The number of days

The Billing and Collecting Cycle

Service Billing Office Charge Revenue
Activities Master Reports
PanEI"lt Llst\ Patient Bills
and Check
" \

. — Insurance and
Medical — Verification P Other Payers
Records Process

Figure 4.4

The billing and collecting cycle. Factors that influence collections include
proper documentation, appropriateness of services, payer preauthorization,
length of time between billing and collecting activities, and coverage limits.
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the patient spends in the hospital, for example, is recorded in the census
system. Similarly, the use of ancillary services like lab tests, CT scans,
transfusions, and medications are also tracked in various systems in the
pharmacy, the labs, and so on.

The information about the various services and the patients involved
is sent to the billing office where it is compiled and matched against a
charge master, which contains the prices for all the services. Next, the
priced-out data are entered into the revenue system which reports rev-
enue by department, location, type of service, and so on and onto the
patient bills. The revenue reports are distributed to departments as part
of the performance reposting routine at the end of the month. The bills
are batched and transmitted to the various payers. Copies are kept in the
billing office.

Upon receipt of the bills, the payer begins its processing routine, which
involves verification of the patient information, determination of coverage
and its limits, compliance with any applicable preauthorization require-
ments, and so on. This verification process also includes examination of
underlying medical records information to determine the exact cause of
the encounter and the appropriateness of the treatments involved. Once it
has been verified to be a legitimate claim, it is processed for payment and
the provider receives a check.

As noted previously, there can be a large difference between the amount
billed and the payment received. This is because all third-party payers
are entitled, either by law or by contract, to significant discounts off the
charges on the bill. Consider the following scenario.

An 80-year-old grandmother who lives alone in the independent living section of
a retirement community falls while trying to get into bed, hits her head, and be-
comes disoriented. Paramedics take her to a nearby hospital where she is treated
in the emergency department. The injuries suffered in the fall are relatively minor,
consisting mainly of a nasty bump on the head. But doctors want to know what
caused her to lose her balance and fall in the first place. A transient ischemic at-
tack? An inner ear infection causing dizziness? Something else? They probe and
test. The final bill is just over $22,000. But grandma is a Medicare patient and the
payment to the hospital is only $9,900.

The scenario illustrates the difference between coverage and payment.
The charges are fully “covered” by Medicare, meaning the patient has
nothing to pay. But the payment is significantly less than the bill. This
concept applies to all third-party payers. If an item is covered, it merely
means the payer will reimburse for it. It does not mean it will pay the
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face value of the bill. If an item is not covered, the patient is left to pay it
personally. And this is where the charges on the bill apply. Had grandma’s
hospital encounter not been covered, she would have been responsible for
paying the full $22,000.

As complicated as the billing process is, the real challenge for pro-
viders is collecting the money owed. Dealing with third-party payers
brings issues of coverage limits, payment delays, challenges relative to
appropriateness, contractual limits on payments, and so on, but dealing
directly with patients, whether for the entire bill or the patient responsibil-
ity portion, is far more difficult. These bills result in bad debt and charity
write-offs.

A bad debt is defined as the amount that the patient could pay but
chooses not to pay. Hospitals and other providers work hard to mini-
mize this kind of write-off, often working out time-payment arrange-
ments or compromise deals (giving a discount in exchange for agreeing
to pay the residue) in order to get the bills paid. Almost every encounter
a patient has with a health care provider entails a patient responsibil-
ity amount of some sort. Some are small, others quite large, depend-
ing on the patient’s coverage. Collecting these amounts is essential to
stable financial operations. The level of bad debts as a percentage of
revenue continues to rise. Because hospital profit margins are so nar-
row to begin with, any upward movement in bad debt write-offs can be
calamitous.

Charity care—the value of care provided to those who truly cannot
afford to pay—has also been rising. This, too, burdens hospital bottom
lines and has been the focus of legislative inquiry. Just how much charity
care is sufficient? Some states have passed legislation mandating that a
specific percentage of operating costs be allocated to free care for the indi-
gent, while others have required tougher definitions of what constitutes
medically indigent.

As displayed in Figure 4.5, the level of write-offs for charity and bad
debts as a percentage of total charges has been rising steadily for over a
decade.

Beginning with write-offs of 5.4% in 2002, the rate has climbed to 5.9%
and is likely to continue rising.! Levels this high place significant strain on
hospital resources. Hospitals, physicians, and other providers are forced to
accept deep discounts from Medicare and Medicaid and may be unable to
pursue other classes of paying patients. At what point will these providers
be unable to continue providing care of any kind?
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Figure 4.5

Write-offs for bad debts and charity care have been rising steadily. (Health
Forum, AHA Annual Survey Data, 1980-2011)

SUMMARY

Successful managers and leaders in all fields understand the importance
of revenue to the continued success of the business. In health care, the
emphasis has often been placed on cost. But to be successful moving for-
ward, health care providers will need to broaden their focus to take into
account revenue, a significant part of which is price. They need to recog-
nize that there is a limit to how much cost can be reduced. As competi-
tion increases, providers will need to stress value, which is located at the
intersection of quality and price.

NOTE
1. Health Forum, AHA Annual Survey Data, 1980-2011.
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Chapter 5

INTRODUCTION TO BUDGETING

Budgeting is one of the most important tools in managing any enterprise,
from sole practitioner physician practice to large academic medical center.
It lays out the expectations and tone for management of the organization’s
resources. The budget should be looked at as an opportunity for deciding
what will be accomplished in the coming year, for aligning resources with
objectives, and to set about planning for an organization’s achievements.
Often, however, individual managers face the budget preparation pro-
cess with a sense of dread. To some degree, this has to do with the pres-
sure to stretch scarce resources. But it also originates in the fact that many
managers are simply uncomfortable with the idea of calculating a budget.

BUDGET DEFINITION

A budget is a detailed plan showing how resources will be acquired and
used over a specific time period. It is a plan for the future expressed in
formal, measurable terms.

A DETAILED PLAN

The detail contained in a budget is both a curse and a blessing. It is
a curse because accumulating the detail requires a sizeable amount of
work. For some managers this represents a major effort beyond their
usual heavy daily workload. But the effort is well worth it. The detail in a
budget provides managers with a full picture of all the volume, revenues,
staffing, supplies, and so on—all the resources at their disposal in order
to achieve their financial objectives. The more detail, the better. Just as a
digital camera with 10 megapixels provides a clearer and crisper picture
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than a 1-megapixel camera, a budget with significant detail makes man-
aging the resources easier. For example, in the pharmacy, it is possible
to prepare a budget with a single budget line for pharmaceuticals. But
is that budget helpful as the director attempts to manage the pharmacy?
The following scenario illustrates the power of budget detail to help with
management.

The director of the pharmacy has been allotted $12,000,000 to cover pharma-
ceuticals during the year. Historically, spending in January is heavier than most
other months, so $1,200,000 is allotted to January, the first month of the budget
year. The budget and actual spending are accounted for in a single account, “phar-
maceuticals.” When the actual report arrives on the director’s desk at the end of
February, it indicates that actual spending was $1,440,000.

What caused the 20% deviation in spending? Will the pharmacy director know
what drove him to spend the added $240,000? Probably not; the pharmacy budget
lacks the detail needed to identify which drugs or class of drugs was involved in
the overspending. Had the director allotted the budget not just to the individual
months but as well to classes of drugs (antineoplastics, antibiotics, etc.) or even to
specific lines for each or most of the drugs in the formulary, sufficient information
would have been available to indicate if the overage was associated with higher-
than-expected use of certain drugs or classes of drugs.

While it may take added work to develop such a detailed list of drugs
and expected amounts and then to allocate the budget accordingly, there
is a clear payoff. The added detail makes it possible to analyze perfor-
mance, determine causes of budget deviations, and improve management
of scarce resources.

RESOURCES

Most managers list staff and supplies as the main resources to be dealt
with in a budget, but there’s far more to it than that. Resources also include
a mix of tangible and intangible resources: patients, physicians, space,
equipment, facilities, information, people (with the right attitudes, skills,
and intellectual abilities), money (e.g., financial strength), and time (per-
haps the most important resource of all).

Patients are certainly necessary to any provider organization; they
are the essence of its mission. If an organization drives away patients
(perhaps via poor customer service, poor clinical quality, lack of ser-
vices, etc.), what will become of that organization? Will it thrive or will
it wither and die? Paying attention to the needs and attitudes of patients
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is essential to continued success and also to growth of the business. This
means paying attention to where the patients are, their characteristics and
demographics, population trends, disease demographics, competition,
and so on. Any factor that will influence patient behavior is important to
understand.

Equally important are physicians who direct patients to the hospital,
imaging center, laboratory, and so on. Similar to patients, this resource
must be understood fully in terms of convenience, location, specialty,
practice growth, and other factors that will influence their behavior with
respect to use of the health care organization. How easy is it to post a
case on Hospital X’s operating room schedule? How long does it take to
schedule an MRI? How quickly are lab results available from a reference
lab? Is rounding on patients easy or difficult? The answer to these and
similar questions will determine how well the organization is perceived
by physicians and how much utilization will result. Not to be forgotten,
however, is the unique physician—patient relationship. Often, a patient’s
experience with a particular provider organization will influence physi-
cian decisions with respect to admission. Memorial Hospital may be the
surgeon’s choice for performing the surgical procedure. But if the patient
has had a bad experience there, the surgeon, who likely has privileges at
several hospitals, may decide to do the case elsewhere. This unique rela-
tionship must never be forgotten. For physician practices, linkages with
other physicians are also important as they provide patients via referrals.
Not many patients seek out specialists like neurosurgeons or oncologists
directly. Rather, they make the connection via a referral from a primary
care physician. Thus, the relationships between and among primary care
and specialty physicians are crucial.

Facilities, space, and equipment resources are also important to the
overall success of the organization and must be given due consideration
during the budget process. Is enough of the right equipment available to
achieve the stated objectives? Are the physical locations and adjacen-
cies appropriate and supportive of efficient clinical and operational func-
tioning? Are the facilities conveniently located? Is the space sufficient
to accommodate patients, providers, and all of the associated, necessary
support functions? Questions like these will help determine whether these
resources are adequate.

Last, but certainly not least, of the tangible resources is money—the
financial strength of the organization. Money, or access to it, allows orga-
nizations to invest in new programs, purchase equipment, acquire phy-
sician practices, pay workers, and buy supplies. Money is an essential
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resource for achieving the organization’s objectives. Without the financial
wherewithal, organizations struggle to survive.

Intangible resources should also be considered. While these have no
physical dimensions or weight, they are equally important and in some
cases more important than the tangible ones. These include the skills and
attitudes of staff, the intellectual “firepower” of those in management and
leadership positions, business intelligence, and time.

Clearly, the skill level of workers, whether they are environmental techs,
nurses, pharmacists, lab techs, and so on, is important. Beyond the skill
level, however, worker attitude cannot be ignored. Both Jim Collins, of
“good-to-great” fame, and Jack Welsh, the noted former CEO of General
Electric, point out in their writings: getting the right people is essential to
success. The right people have the right attitude. Given the right attitude,
most people can be trained to do the necessary work. All the training in the
world, however, cannot compensate for bad attitude.

The intellectual resource, smart people, should be considered one of the
principal resources of any organization. People who can see opportuni-
ties when others cannot, who can find ways to succeed when others can’t,
who can achieve difficult goals, and who can think “outside the box™ are
invaluable and can set an organization head and shoulders above its peers
and competitors.

Another intangible resource is business intelligence. Successful orga-
nizations gather timely and usable information that supports day-to-day
decision making as well as long-term strategies. Some examples include
knowing how reimbursement schemes will play out, understanding the
impact of proposed regulations, recognizing the health needs of a patient
population, and evaluating the financial strength and needs of a potential
competitor.

Finally, several aspects of the time resource should be considered. First
among these is timing—when to do things. Should the organization be the
“first kid on the block™ to offer a particular service? Being first can offer an
opportunity to establish market presence, perhaps even market dominance
before others offer the same service. It can also expose the organization
to risk. Timing also means the orchestration of time and action steps. If a
new cardiac surgery program is to open on July 1 of the new fiscal year,
when should the nurses be recruited, June 1 or perhaps January 1 to allow
for orientation and training? Another aspect is the amount of time—how
long does it take to do something? Has sufficient time been provided in
the budget to accomplish the organization’s objectives? If six months is
required to construct and equip a new cardiac cath lab, it makes no sense
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to include nine months of volume and revenue in the operating budget.
One thing is for sure: time is the only resource that cannot be recaptured
once it is gone. A CT scanner can be replaced. Staff can be recruited to
replace those who have left. But once time is gone, it can’t be replaced;
yesterday will not be back again. And actions that could or should have
taken place yesterday are lost forever. Opportunities that should have been
taken advantage of may never present themselves again.

ACQUIRING AND USING RESOURCES

A well-prepared budget will also deal with plans for acquiring needed
resources, especially scarce ones such as staff in nursing, pharmacy, and
other labor-sensitive departments. In the human resources department, the
budget should plan for recruitment, training, and development. If the num-
ber of physicians practicing at a hospital is an area of concern, the budget
should provide resources to recruit and retain them, support their office
practices, and fund continuing education programs. These would be ways
of establishing physician loyalty and addressing that concern.

A budget should describe how resources will be used or deployed by
location, time of day, and throughout the fiscal year. Will all of the staff be
used at the main location, or will some business be conducted at remote
locations? Some hospitals operate stand-alone outpatient facilities in
locations away from the main campus. Will all departments be operat-
ing 24 hours a day, 7 days a week? What is the work schedule, and are
resources matched to this? Will some resources be needed only during the
last three or four months of the year while others are needed for the entire
year?

A SPECIFIC TIME PERIOD

A budget normally covers one year and is often referred to as an annual
plan. Other time periods can and should be involved. Monthly budgets, a
12-month subset of the main budget, are used to populate management
reports. A salary budget that is divided into pay periods provides better,
more current information to assist in managing salary costs.

Some organizations prepare multi-year business plans or strategic plans
that cover anywhere from three to five years. Each year, the multi-year
plan can be modified and extended. And each year, too, as the annual plan
is prepared, the multi-year plan can be referenced to make sure the annual
activities are consistent with long-term goals.
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Seasonalizing the budget (dividing it into the individual monthly and
pay period amounts) requires a thoughtful approach. The “lazy man’s”
approach is to divide the budget amounts by 12 to determine the monthly
amounts (or by 26 to determine the amount per pay period). But in the real
world, do patients arrive evenly throughout the year? Are fewer elective
cases done in surgery in December than in October? If this is expected to
happen, the seasonalization of the budget should reflect it. Seasonalizing
by simple division gives the impression that each reporting period is either
better or worse than that budget when, in fact, the opposite may be the
case. As can be seen in Figure 5.1, improper seasonalization can give the
wrong impression about performance.
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Figure 5.1

If a budget is seasonalized by dividing it into 12 equal monthly amounts, the
result can look like this. Rather than follow the pattern of historical usage
and, thus, provide a better monthly yardstick, the improperly seasonalized
budget gives the impression that all months deviate, some significantly, from
budget. The time saved by this lazy man’s approach is more than lost dur-
ing the year in determining why actual amounts deviate so much from the
budget.
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A PLAN FOR THE FUTURE

One thing that frightens many managers when it comes to budgeting is
the notion that they are dealing with events as much as 18 months into the
future. Consider, for example, that it takes about six months to prepare
a budget and that the budget itself is 12 months long. That’s 18 months
from start of the process to end of the budget year. For many managers
the question of what their department will be like in 18 months’ time is
an extremely difficult one to answer. Rather than try to project where the
department will be in 18 months, better managers decide where they want
it to be and then move to achieve that vision. As pointed out by the late
management expert Peter Drucker, “The best way to predict the future is
to create it.”! Wise advice for leaders and managers as they approach the
budget preparation work. Table 5.1 represents one version of a timetable
for budgeting from the preparation stage to approval.

Table 5.1

Budget Timetable

Events Timeline
CEO and leadership team establish overall goals and 17 weeks prior

objectives to include volume targets, inflation rates,
labor contract settlements (if unionized), salary increase
parameters, profit target, dollar limits for equipment and
facility improvements, etc.

Guidelines for operating and capital budgets issued to 16 weeks prior
departments; includes schedule of due dates for various
budgets.
Departments prepare operating and capital budgets, 16 weeks to
including new program and budget adjustment requests. 12 weeks
prior
Operating and capital budgets submitted to Budget 12 weeks prior

Office and Capital Review Committee via appropriate
administrative hierarchy.
Budget Office performs nonjudgmental technical review 12 weeks prior
of submitted budgets and prepares for budget review
meetings. Capital Review Committee performs similar
review of equipment and improvements requests.

Budget meetings with departments to review their 10 weeks to
requests for operating and capital funds. 6 weeks prior
Capital Review Committee makes determination of which 6 weeks prior

requests to recommend for funding.

(continued)
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Table 5.1 (continued)

Events Timeline

Executive level of organization makes final determination 4 weeks prior
of funding for operating and capital budgets, to include
new programs and budget adjustments.

Budget Office prepares supportive analysis for 2 weeks prior
presentation to governing body for final approval.
Presentation of budget to governing body for board Last board
approval. meeting
prior to start
of budget
year

The governing board is ultimately responsible for the operation of the organization
and delegates the necessary authority to management. The governing board
retains approval authority for the operating and capital budgets. Management
must obtain the board’s approval prior to implementing the new budget.

Because the meeting schedule varies from one institution to another, the
timeframes described herein are expressed in terms of weeks prior to the
board meeting at which the budget will be presented for approval. The
notation “- 12 weeks,” for example, indicates that the associated tasks should
take place 12 weeks prior to that board meeting.

FORMAL AND MEASURABLE TERMS

Finally, budgets are always expressed in formal and measurable ways.
The budget must be approved by the board, hence a certain formality to
the process (“all those in favor . . .”). Budgets that do not use measurable
outcomes are useless for management purposes. For example, budgeting
for “improved quality” does not provide a real target. How much improve-
ment? To what level of quality? Budgets must contain measurable tar-
gets for all departments and components and for all categories within the
budget: volume, revenues, full time equivalents (FTEs), salaries, fringe
benefits, supplies, and so on. Lacking measurability, success is impos-
sible. Drucker, leadership guru Tom Peters, and Britain’s famous Admiral
Horatio Nelson all spoke of measurement. To paraphrase all three, “if you
can’t measure it, you can’t manage it.”

TYPES OF BUDGETS

Organizations deal with three main budgets: the operating budget, the
capital or equipment budget, and the cash flow budget. Additional budgets
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may be in play for a new program implementation, a major facility proj-
ect, or some other significant, nonroutine purpose.

The operating budget contains all of the items that would normally be
considered part of the day-to-day functioning of the organization: the profit
and loss statement of the organization. It begins with the volumes for the
various departments (patient days, admissions, clinic visits, procedures,
tests, etc.) and moves from there to revenue by combining business vol-
ume with price and collections information. Next come the expenses of
the organization, principally staffing, but also supplies, purchased services,
depreciation, and interest expense. This is the budget that managers deal
with on an ongoing basis. Some refer to it as the “monthly budget” because
it forms the basis of the monthly performance reports managers receive.

The equipment or capital budget deals with asset acquisition: mainly
equipment, but renovations, new construction (normally kept separate
and apart from a major building project), and any other planned “asset”
acquisitions. Managers are involved with this budget perhaps two or three
times a year: once when they request equipment, a second time when they
learn if their request has been approved, and, finally, when they order and
acquire the equipment.

The final budget, the cash flow budget, deals with money coming into the
organization and flowing out of the organization regardless of the source or
purpose. Cash can flow in from revenue, the sale of investments, contribu-
tions received, borrowing, and so on. Cash can be used to pay expenses,
purchase equipment, make investments, pay down (retire) debt, and so on.
This budget is the purview of the finance department, and operating man-
agers are not involved with its formulation. They do, however, affect the
management of the cash flow budget with, for example, their handling of
registration and insurance data, spending on resources, and communicat-
ing with respect to equipment acquisition. Incorrect insurance and registra-
tion data can make a claim impossible to collect, thus reducing cash flow.
Overspending the expense budget can drain cash from the organization
and compromise other needs. Failure to accurately communicate planned
purchase dates for high-priced pieces of equipment can wreck havoc with
planned investments, interest expense, or investment income. So, while
operating managers may not be directly involved with the organization’s
cash, their cooperation is essential to its proper and effective management.

REASONS TO PREPARE A BUDGET

A well-prepared budget requires a significant effort in finance and the
operating departments and at all levels of the organization from individual
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departments on up to executive row. There are seven reasons to prepare
a budget: (1) to identify available resources, (2) to identify and prioritize
needed resources, (3) to measure performance, (4) to control cost, (5) to
increase awareness, (6) to ensure sound, prudent management, and (7) to
deal with uncertainty.

Defining the outer boundary of spending, the available resources, for
day-to-day operations and capital acquisition helps avoid situations in
which organizations spend more than they can pay for—not a good thing.
As with any venture, it is essential to know the limits. When a young
person moves into his or her first apartment, he or she needs to know his
or her monthly income (his or her available resources) to determine the
affordability of an apartment before signing the lease.

The second reason to prepare a budget is to identify and prioritize needed
resources. Knowing the volume of service contained in the budget allows
managers to determine their needs for staffing, supplies, equipment, and so
forth to achieve the objectives of their departments and, by extension, the
organization. The best approach to prioritizing these needs is to group them
into three categories. An A-B-C style prioritization allows managers to trim
their requests from the bottom up should a reduction become necessary. In
the OR, for example, sutures and anesthetic agents are clearly examples of
the highest priority (the “A” items). Some added instrument sets (to com-
plement those already in hand) might be in the second category (the “B”
items), while two replacement office chairs for the clerical staff would be in
the “nice to have, but not need to have” category (the “C” items).

Measuring performance is possible only if there is a properly prepared
budget to use as a yardstick. Is a clinical lab, which has spent $198,000 on
solutions in the month of February, performing well or poorly? It is hard
to say without a budget for comparison. If the budget is $150,000, the lab
director has a problem. If the budget is $200,000, then performance is
considered to be acceptable. Lacking a budget, no appropriate judgment
can be made.

Controlling costs is an important managerial function, and a well-
prepared budget is an important tool in this effort. Sometimes referred
to as “budgeting for control,” it establishes boundaries. It tells what is
expected and, conversely, what is not expected. But there is a problem
with using a budget to focus solely on cost control. That approach is too
narrow, focusing solely on costs and not on total financial performance.
What if a department could generate $400,000 of additional revenue if it
spent $100,000 that was not in its expense budget? What if the extra spend-
ing caused the manager to overspend his or her entire expense budget?
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Would generating an extra $300,000 of profits ($400,000 — $100,000) be
a good thing to do? Assuming the added revenue and profit is consistent
with the mission and overall objectives of the organization, the answer
should be a resounding “yes!” But if the manager focused only on expense
budget compliance, the extra $300,000 would be missed. For that reason,
the “enterprise approach” yields better overall financial results. In this
approach, a manager focuses not just on expenses but also on revenue,
and departmental profit. Using this approach, a manager would tolerate
overspending the budget by $100,000 in order to generate $400,000 of
added revenue. In effect, the manager becomes a mini-CEO (of his or her
department) focusing on bottom-line performance as opposed to merely
one aspect of performance. Clearly, cost control is essential, but all too
often managers who focus only on cost miss opportunities to improve
bottom-line performance.

Organizations in which everyone understands what is to be achieved sig-
nificantly increase his or her chances of achieving it. Awareness is impor-
tant not just for the management staff and leaders but also for the staff in
the departments. In this way, everyone is moving in the same direction.
When everyone knows what is to be achieved, anyone can identify oppor-
tunities to meet and even exceed expectations. No department in a health
care organization exists in and of itself. All departments are connected to
several others both upstream and downstream. Thus, all department man-
agers should understand the objectives of all the other department manag-
ers. The ICU must understand what is expected of the operating rooms
and the emergency department as well as the routine inpatient units and
the step-down units and vice versa.

Consider the example of the spider and the spider web. Whenever a fly touches
the spider web, the spider knows “lunch is served!” If, however, the individual
strands of spider silk are disconnected so that no strand is connected to any other
strand, flies can land all day long, but the spider will starve to death because it
will not know the food has arrived. The same is true of an organization. Each de-
partment is like one of the strands of spider silk. All of the departments, not just
some of them, must be linked together as if it was a spider web. The linkage is
communication and knowledge of each other’s objectives.

Often, however, this awareness is missing and the organization and the
patients it is attempting to serve suffer because of it.

Sound, prudent management requires a periodic reassessment. Manag-
ers should look around to see how they are progressing in achieving their
objectives. Are they ahead of plan or behind plan? Are there performance
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problems that need resolution? This is no different than what happens in the
clinical setting when the nursing unit day shift hands off to the evening shift.
There is a pause and the dayshift reports on what has transpired with respect
to each of the patients that the evening shift will be expected to care for dur-
ing the next shift. Similarly, managers should call a time-out to assess how
well they are complying with the budget. Information gained during this
assessment can then be used to prepare the budget for the following year. At
the departmental level, the best time to do this is when the monthly perfor-
mance reports arrive. Managers can assess the situation, analyze their perfor-
mance (variance analysis, spending analysis), and take action as indicated.

At the organizational level, the same sort of “where are we, where are
we heading, is that where we want to be, and what should we do about it?”
review can be undertaken as part of the initial stages of the annual budget
preparation work. This can include SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, oppor-
tunities, and threats) analysis, PEST (political, environmental, social, and
technological) analysis, and stakeholder analysis.

One of the biggest issues managers at all levels grapple with is uncer-
tainty. Where is the organization heading? What’s going to happen with
health care reform, payment for services, volume of business, and so on?
How do these issues impact my department, my organization? A budget
cannot answer all the questions, but it can provide a forum for discuss-
ing actions to be contemplated or taken in the event a particular event
happens. For larger, more significant issues such as payment reform, sce-
narios planning can be done. If event “A” happens, the organization will
take certain actions. If event “B” happens instead, the organization will
take a different set of actions.

Departments cannot set aside contingency money in the budget. This
would be a terrible waste of valuable resources. If a hospital had 100
departments set aside just $1,000 for contingency, a total of $100,000
would be “hidden” from view and not available should an emergency arise
or an opportunity present itself. At the institutional level, however, it is
perfectly acceptable to set the same $100,000 aside under the control of
the CEO and use it to deal with event “A” or event “B” or an unforeseen
challenge or opportunity.

WHO PREPARES THE BUDGET?

The simple answer to the question “who prepares the budget?” is “every-
one.” The involvement of people throughout the organization results in a bet-
ter budget. This is because involvement translates into ownership. Staff who
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feel they “own” a piece of the budget will treat it differently. It has the effect
of converting “your” (the manager’s) budget to “our” (the workers’) bud-
get. This conversion is important if success is to be achieved. Workers who
“own” a stake in the department’s performance will work more diligently
to achieve success. To see the benefits of ownership, one need not look fur-
ther than rental cars. How many people who rent cars ever take them to the
car wash before returning them to the rental agency? They have no stake in
the car’s ownership. The agency, which owns the cars, however, does wash
them—after every rental. The agency has the ownership stake while the
renter does not, and this simple fact drives their behaviors. Similarly, depart-
ment budgets benefit from worker ownership. Some organizations speak of
their work staff as being either “owners” or “renters.” The better organiza-
tions strive to recruit and retain only owners for their workforce.

Can a hospital’s chief operating officer (COO) really control a hospital
operating budget? Can the chief financial officer (CFO)? Probably not
alone. But if each worker feels a sense of ownership of some portion of
that budget, success is far more likely.

THE FLOW OF INFORMATION

The separation between executive row and the departments can be sizeable.
The distance is not measured in feet or miles, but in information—what,
why, and how things are to be done in the budget year. At the executive
level, the CEO and the other corporate officers know what the organi-
zation needs to achieve. At the department level, managers and workers
know how things work. To be successful, this knowledge must be shared.
But it is not enough for the CEO to tell department mangers what needs to
be achieved (the objectives); he or she must also explain the “why” behind
the objectives. For example, why is the organization intent on achieving
magnet status? Or why is a reduction in length of stay important? Know-
ing why allows managers, and workers at any level for that matter, to be
more flexible in pursuing the objectives. It also allows them to pursue
alternate strategies that produce the same or better results. Figure 5.2 illus-
trates the pathways of communication.

It is also important not to exclude the workers from these conversa-
tions. The workers make things happen. And despite the best intentions of
leadership and management, if the workers are blind to what needs to be
achieved, it is likely that it will not be achieved. This applies to subordi-
nate managers as well. In fact, it applies to everyone at every level of the
organization.
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Figure 5.2

Information must flow in multiple directions. The organization’s leadership
must inform department-level managers about what needs to happen and
why (the down arrow). Department management needs to describe how that
will happen (the up arrow). Finally, department managers must communi-
cate across the organization (the horizontal arrow) to support each other and
achieve success.

The COO of a hospital has received comparative information about the
cost of providing services. The information suggests the hospital’s medi-
cation expense is 5% higher than the most costly hospital in the bench-
mark data set. Resolution of this problem can play out one of two ways,
as illustrated in the following conversations. The COQ’s how-to-do-it
approach goes like this.

COO: “Burt, we’re spending way too much on drugs. I want you to reduce our
consumption of antibiotics and antineoplastics.”

That approach can adversely affect patient care by arbitrarily forcing a
reduction without understanding the consequences. A prudent approach is
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to tell the pharmacy director what needs to happen and let him determine
how that can be accomplished. A conversation might go something like
this:

COO: “Burt, we have to reduce medication expense by
5%. Here’s the latest benchmarking data. What can
we do?”

Pharmacy director:  (after a careful study of options) “If we can hire some

clinical pharmacists, we’ll actually be able to reduce uti-
lization beyond the 5% target as well as cover the cost of
the added positions.”

This is a far better approach. Rather than tell the director how to achieve
the reduction, this COO merely tells what needs to be done and allows
the director—the person most familiar with medication usage, cost, and
consequences—to develop a workable approach.

IMPORTANT PLANNING DOCUMENTS

One of the first and most important documents to review before starting
the budgeting process is the budget guidelines document provided by the
finance department. This document contains such information as the time-
line for budget preparation (when departments are due to submit their bud-
get requests, when review meetings will be held, etc.), the organization’s
position on new program spending (it might say, e.g., that no new pro-
grams will be funded due to tight resource constraints), anticipated rates
of inflation, projected number of admissions, average length of stay, and
clinic visits. While this document may be boring—it isn’t the most excit-
ing prose ever written—it does contain valuable information and should
be read carefully. At a minimum, the executive summary and the budget
timeline should be carefully studied.

When assembling a budget, few review the organization’s mission state-
ment. But the mission is what drives the organization and should be one of
the guiding principles used in formulating the budget. Does it make sense,
assuming the program is not a financial drain on the organization, to pro-
pose as a new program the opening of a geriatrics day care center at a pedi-
atrics hospital? Of course not. Such a venture, while potentially profitable,
is inconsistent with the mission of a pediatrics hospital. On the other hand,
does it make sense vis-4-vis its mission for a geriatrics center to offer child
day care? It might—especially if the program was designed as an assist
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with staff recruitment and retention. The fact that the clinical literature
suggests that both little children and older adults benefit from proximity to
each other supports this venture and its mission-friendly nature.

The strategic plan of the organization contains valuable information
about long-term goals, which can be used to influence the short term that
is dealt with in the immediately upcoming year’s budget. As seen in Fig-
ure 5.3, if the hospital is going to be operating a new technology in budget
year 20X4, resources need to be provided in both the fiscal 20X2 and
20X3 budgets.

The budget for fiscal year 20X2 will cover the costs of researching the
technology, obtaining necessary regulatory approvals, equipment pur-
chase, and so on. The 20X3 budget will need to cover the cost of staff
recruitment and training, marketing, and the like in anticipation of begin-
ning operations on the first day of fiscal year 20X4. Finally, the budget for
20X4 will contain the resources needed to finish construction and instal-
lation and operate the technology (staff, supplies, etc.). Not thinking long

Action or Events | 20X2 | 20X3 | 20X4
Review and assess technology |
Select vendor

X
X
Place order | X
CON or licensure issues X
Design new facility X
Construct facilities X
Equipment installation

Recruit additional staff

Staff training and orientation

X X (X X |X

Begin shakedown operations

Place in service _ | %

Figure 5.3
To successfully begin operating a new technology in fiscal year 20X4, it may
be necessary to budget resources in the two prior years as well.
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term and not providing resources with sufficient lead time can compro-
mise success.

Often, market analysis focuses on zip codes to determine primary and
secondary patient catchment areas (What percent of patients are coming
to the hospital from West Southbury, from East Northbury, and so on?).
And while this information is vital, it is not all that should be considered
in the way of market information. The services provided by hospitals and
other health care providers are based on clinical science and influenced
by the prevalence of disease. Demographic and epidemiological analysis
needs to be reviewed and carefully considered when preparing a budget.
Is the population of the primary catchment area aging and thus in need of
programs for geriatric patients? Does there seem to be a high incidence of
cancer, suggesting the need for oncology programs? If so, how will such
programs be implemented? Will there be a mix of treatment and preven-
tion programs? What about recruitment of gerontologists and oncologists?
Will an oncology program include radiotherapy, tomotherapy, gamma
knife or cyber knife services and what will such equipment cost? What
are the facility needs?

Market analysis can also assist in deciding how to allocate resources. As
seen in Figure 5.4, the various service lines can be arrayed on a profit/market
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Figure 5.4

Moving counterclockwise from upper right, the four quadrants in this dis-
play represent high market share and high profit, high market share and low
or no profit, low market share and low or no profit, and low market share
and high profit.
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share matrix so one can easily see which ones are most profitable and which
have the highest market share. In the figure, the size of the disk indicates the
proportion of the organization’s business represented by the service line.
While this sort of display cannot be the sole method used to allocate scarce
resources, it can help influence decision making, helping determine which
service lines should be emphasized or de-emphasized during the budgeting
process. For example, resources might be diverted from a service line with
low market share and low profitability in order to bolster a highly profitable
service line that is suffering from a decline in market share. As seen in the
figure, the organization uses the major diagnostic categories (the MDCs) to
display several hospital service lines that have been ranked on the basis of
the individual profitability and market share. A complete list of the major
diagnostic categories can be found in Appendix 7.

It might be decided that additional budgetary resources would be allo-
cated to MDC 6 (the high profit, low market share digestive system ser-
vice line) in the hopes that such added resources would allow for market
share growth so the service line could rise to the high-profit, high-share
quadrant. Similarly, a decision could be made to expand MDC 8 (muscu-
loskeletal and connective tissue), which is highly profitable, in order to
subsidize MDC 14 (pregnancy and childbirth), which is neither profitable
nor high share, but which might be a core mission service.

SWOT and PEST, two other forms of analysis, are valuable to the devel-
opment of the budget at the organizational level. The information gathered
via these analyses can influence decisions on new program initiatives,
resource allocation, new technology investments, and so on. In prepar-
ing SWOT analysis, care should be taken to be as objective and candid as
possible, especially in describing organizational weaknesses and environ-
mental or competitor threats. This is not the time to sugarcoat bad news.
An honest appraisal can lead the organization to improvement, while an
appraisal that minimizes weaknesses and threats can lead to failure.

While department managers are constructing their individual budgets,
they should be careful to examine more than just their own individual
goals and objectives. It is essential to examine the objectives of all of the
other departments in the organization. This is because of the interconnect-
edness of all departments.

Consider the situation of the operating room (OR), which is seeking to boost
the number of cases by opening two new rooms to support a group of newly
recruited surgeons. At the same time, the manager preparing the budget for the
patient transportation department has cost reduction as his prime objective and to
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achieve it has decided to reduce the staff from 15 patient transporters to 10 using
attrition to avoid a layoff. This one-third reduction of his staff will allow him to
achieve his objective, but what of the ORs? Will the objective of increasing the
number of surgical cases be achieved? Or will it be compromised because insuf-
ficient transporter resources will be available to support the expanded caseload?
Knowing that the operating rooms were anticipating a significant growth in case
volume, it is highly doubtful that the transportation manager would have reduced
staffing and probably would have looked for a cost reduction in some other area.

Because health care organizations, particularly hospitals, are so compart-
mentalized, it is essential that managers preparing a budget consciously
find out about the objectives of all the other departments as well as the
organization as a whole. In this way they will assure themselves of prepar-
ing a budget that both is consistent with overall organizational direction
and provides a good chance to succeed.

Finally, managers should be cognizant that the operating budget and
capital equipment budget often are overseen by different executives and
are prepared using different timetables. It is, therefore, possible for one
budget to be “approved” before the other. This has the potential to make for
interesting and embarrassing situations. What happens to the organization
that approves a shuttle van for transporting patients between an assisted
living facility and the hospital in the capital budget, but fails to approve
the driver in the operating budget? Or approves new physical therapists in
the operating budget but does not approve the work hardening equipment
they need in the capital budget? Managers can play a role in avoiding this
sort of uncoordinated planning by carefully following any and all budget
requests. If one is disapproved, they should ask that its companion request
be deleted. Conversely, if an item in one budget is approved, that should
be communicated so it can be taken it into account as the second budget
is reviewed. This way, the organization does not devote resources to an
initiative that cannot succeed because it has not been properly planned for.

SOME POINTS TO KEEP IN MIND

Managers, especially those preparing a budget for the first time, should
be mindful of the “facts of life” when it comes to budgeting. No budget
ever moves from a blank page to a finished and approved budget. But new
managers often feel that if that is not the case they have somehow failed.
In turn, this sense of failure leads to an erosion of confidence that makes
budgeting even more difficult for them. No budget is ever completed in a
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single work session. They always come bouncing back. In fact, managers
whose budgets do not come back for reconsideration, revision, and further
discussion should worry that adjustments are being made without their
knowledge or involvement—a fairly good prescription for disaster at the
department level.

A well-constructed budget benefits from a process that is iterative in
nature—a healthy back and forth that results in the best possible allocation
of resources.

As seen in Figure 5.5, the process begins with a delineation of the over-
all goals and objectives of the organization. These organizational goals
and objectives are then converted to objectives for the individual depart-
ments. An overall organizational goal of reducing length of stay, for exam-
ple, might result in an objective for the surgical ICU to reduce the rate of
ventilator-associated pneumonias. Once the departments have determined
their individual objectives for the budget year, workload estimates can be
developed. For example, based on a surgical caseload of X cases, the head

Organizational Goals and Objectives

!
Departmental Goals and Objectives

l
Workload

|

Operating Budget | Capital
------------------------ | Budget
Revenues ‘
Staffingand i: Suppliesand | ||  Cash Flow
Salaries % Services Budget

Figure 5.5
Budgeting is an iterative process that begins with and flows from the organi-
zational goals and objectives.
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of the transportation department may determine that Y number of transports
will be required. At this point, the budget has been converted from words
to numbers and from this point forward it will all be about the numbers.
Once the workload is determined, estimates can be prepared for revenues,
staffing levels and the accompanying salaries and fringe benefit costs, and
the supply and service amounts. At the same time, a capital budget can
be put together with the necessary equipment and facilities to support the
workload. In the finance department, all the cash inflows and outflows asso-
ciated with the revenues, expenses, and equipment acquisitions along with
other financial transactions (borrowing, cashing in of investments, investing
activities, etc.) will be combined to develop a cash budget. However, once
all of this has been assembled, it does not mean that the budget process is
finished. The question remains: does this budget achieve the organizational
goals and objectives? If it does, the process is finished and preparations can
be made to take the budget to the board for its approval. But if, as is more
likely the case, the budget does not achieve all of the organizational goals
and objectives, the process must be reworked until it does. Managers must
be aware that this iteration process can result in their budget request being
returned for reconsideration; as previously stated, that is not a bad thing.

Two other challenges face the executive team as the budget is put
together. The first is to make sure that the operating budget, capital bud-
get, and cash budget are fully integrated and complement each other. Suf-
ficient revenues must be generated in the operating budget to fuel the cash
budget. The cash budget must be able to support the start-up costs of new
initiatives and buy the equipment in the capital budget. The equipment
purchased in the capital budget must generate the revenues included in the
operating budget, and so on. If the three budgets are not appropriately inte-
grated, problems can develop during the operating year that make achieve-
ment of the overall objectives virtually impossible.

The second challenge is to balance the needs of the various depart-
ments. These departments fall into three broad categories: direct patient
care centers (primarily the inpatient nursing units, but also the emergency
department and clinics), the ancillary services (labs, imaging, physical and
occupational therapy, etc.), and the support centers (environmental ser-
vices, maintenance, social service, medical records, etc.). When resources
are constrained, resource allocation must be prioritized. A problem can
develop if insufficient resources are allocated to the support centers to
support the work of the patient care departments. If additional resources
are provided for the nursing department to handle a significant increase
in the number of surgical cases, but no additional money is provided for
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the transport department, it may become impossible for the transportation
department to provide enough transport resources to move all the patients
in a timely enough manner to support the expanded OR schedule. As a
result, the operating rooms back up, cases are delayed or canceled, the
planned revenue does not materialize, and a crisis develops. When cost
reduction is a principal goal during the budgeting process and budget cuts
are limited to the support centers, it can become very difficult for the patient
care centers to do their jobs. A reduction in the social services department,
for example, can make it difficult to discharge patients in a timely enough
manner to take the next admission or to avoid an ED backup. The execu-
tive team must strike a proper balance and allocate resources across the
board based on the overall objectives of the organization. If they remove
resources to reduce costs, they must do so very carefully. In terms of
reducing resources, the organization should be thought of in its pyramidal
shape. Limiting the reductions to the bottom of that pyramid can result in
dysfunctionality throughout the organization. If resources do need to be
cut, it is far better to trim the sides of the pyramid than the bottom.

THE NUMBERS GAME

Sometimes, managers feel their requests are being treated like just another
bunch of numbers rather than the real need they represent. It is true that
once past the words of the goals and objectives, the budget process does
become something of a numbers exercise. It is also true that the budget
can become formula driven as opposed to needs driven. When this hap-
pens, there are consequences for managers at the department level and, as
well, at the executive level. Table 5.2 provides an example of a formula
approach to developing a department budget for fiscal year 20X2.

Table 5.2

Budget Formula versus Operational Reality

Formula Approach Reality Approach

Current (FY 20X1) budget Starting point Annualized YTD spending
+ Inflation Inflation + Inflation

+/— Volume Volume +/— Volume

+/— Adjustments Adjustments +/— Adjustments

— Cost reductions Cost reduction — Achievable cost reductions

New (FY 20X2) budget Ending point Real (FY 20X2) needs
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The table demonstrates the overall approach. A starting point (either
the current year’s budget, or the annualized level of year-to-date actual
spending for the same budget year) is modified by a series of adjustments.
Inflation is added. If volume were expected to rise, the budget would be
increased. If volume were expected to decline, it would be decreased.
The “adjustments” line will be different depending on who is preparing
the budget. If centrally prepared, there is likely to be no knowledge of
any needs. If prepared at the department level, such adjustments might
include, for example, money to cover unfunded legislative or regulatory
mandates (such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
or HIPAA as it is referred to) or a need for additional supplies associated
with a new initiative. Finally, cost reduction comes into play as a reduction
to the budget. The sum of all of this is the budget for the new year.

But is this approach appropriate? Can a totally mathematical approach
developed apart from the knowledge and needs of the department manag-
ers possibly arrive at a workable budget? The answer to all of these ques-
tions is a resounding “no.” Because the formula approach relies solely on
the calculus of additions and deductions, it must assume a steady state—
no changes in the internal or external environment other than inflation and
volume. But the real world that managers deal with is far from static or
steady state.

Table 5.3 (which alters Table 5.2 to show dollar amounts) demonstrates
how the two approaches can yield such different results based on different
starting points as well as missing information that a centralized, formula-
based approach lacks. As see in the table, the formula begins with the
current budget of $35,000,000, while the reality approach begins with the
actual year-to-date annualized spending of $37,000,000. That means that

Table 5.3

Budget Formula versus Operational Reality
Formula Approach Reality Approach
$35,000,000 Starting point $37,000,000
+ 1,050,000 Inflation + 1,110,000
+ 1,800,000 Volume + 1,890,000
— Adjustments + 500,000
—350,000 Cost reduction —300,000
$37,500,000 New budget $40,200,000
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the monetary amounts for inflation and volume will also be different even
if the same rates of change are used in the calculations. The amount of
adjustments is also going to be different because only the manager knows
what needs to be included.

Finally, the amount of cost reduction differs because the reality approach
has been tempered by the manager’s knowledge of what can and cannot be
cut—something no formula can ever accurately determine.

JUSTIFYING THE NEED

With a difference of just over $3 million in the two approaches, the effected
manager’s challenge is to develop a way to justify the $40 million budget
request. If the difference was a few hundred thousand dollars, a manager
might put on a brave face and explain that they needed more; but for the
good of the organization, “We’ll somehow make it work.”

But with a difference of more than 7%, the manager will be hard pressed
to achieve the objectives and comply with the budget. What to do? What
arguments can be used to justify the need for the extra resources? For
years, managers have struggled with this issue and for years they have
failed to make the case. It may be time for a change in strategy. Instead of
explaining and advocating for the needed resources, the $3 million in this
case, managers should instead focus the discussion on the consequences
of the resource shortage. Talk about what will not be done if the resources
are not provided. Make sure the decision makers understand the conse-
quences of their decisions. For too long, decision makers were isolated
from the consequences—the department managers had to deal with them.
Rather than arguments, which can alienate, switch to explaining the con-
sequences in calm, nonjudgmental, but nonetheless accurate, terms. Avoid
a litany of dire consequences, which really will likely not come to pass:
patients will die, the clinics will be closed on Fridays, patients will be
required to bring their own sutures, and so on. Instead, list the real poten-
tial outcomes: the insufficient staffing in the PACU will likely back up
the ORs and the ED, the lack of a preventive maintenance contract on the
CTs and MRIs has the potential to compromise the revenue stream if the
machines go down for any length of time while waiting for a repair team
to arrive, insufficient resources to support the staff of clinical pharmacists
will have an unfavorable impact on pharmaceutical spending.

Employing this approach, managers fulfill their responsibility to inform
those above them in the organization and, at the same time, avoid the
unpleasantness of confrontational budget meetings focused solely on
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making their point. Moreover, key decision makers are no longer shielded
from the consequences of their resource allocation decisions.

WHERE TO BEGIN

A budget has to begin somewhere. The challenge is to use the best starting
point. Which is better, a budget based on the current one (budget-to-budget
or B2B) or one based on year-to-date annualized spending (actual-to-budget
or A2B)? The answer, frankly, is “neither.” Using the B2B approach
rewards good performers by not taking away resources they haven’t con-
sumed (it’s the antidote to the infamous “spend it or lost it” approach). But
this approach can also put good managers in a bad hole to begin the new
budget year by not recognizing resource shortages they cannot manage
their way around. The following scenarios demonstrate what can happen
when either a strict B2B or A2B approach is taken.

The manager of the Environmental Services Department at University Medical
Center prides herself on not overspending the expense budget. Six months ago,
however, new state regulations required a special, and far more costly, method for
handling infectious waste. To comply with the regulations, the department will
incur an annualized cost of $120,000, which the current budget does not include.
If the budget-to-budget approach is taken, the Environmental Services Depart-
ment will come up short; since the current budget does not include the $120,000,
neither will the new budget. In this case, the B2B approach hurts a good manager.

Moose Jaw Medical Center is a small hospital that relies heavily on volunteers.
The Volunteer Services Department has just two paid positions: a director and a
secretary. The secretary who earns $36,000 a year was out on medical leave for
the first three months of the year. Part of that time was unpaid. As a result, the
total salary expense the department will incur for the year is only $27,000. Using
the B2B approach, the department budget will continue to carry $36,000 for the
secretary position and the manager is not penalized by the B2B approach.

At Sunset Memorial, the coming year’s budget is based on actual spending
(the A2B approach). During the current year, the clinical lab received a $50,000
refund from a manufacturer to compensate for a shipment of defective petri dishes
made to the hospital two years ago. Because of this, the lab’s actual spending in
the current year is lower than the budget. For the following year, the A2B ap-
proach will yield a smaller budget that will penalize the manager of the labs for
pursuing the refund.

The director of guest services at Moonbeam General Hospital has hired two
additional guest service workers to accommodate patient inquiries. This move
causes her to spend $130,000 for salaries and fringe benefits more than is in the
budget. Using the actual-to-budget approach, the department’s next year budget
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would be increased by $130,000 because the starting point for the calculations
would be the higher year-to-date annualized amount as opposed to the current
budget. In this case, the manager is rewarded for overspending with a bigger
budget for the new fiscal year.

The overall approach taken to budgeting provides managers with incen-
tives to either comply or not comply with their budgets. The B2B approach
generally rewards managers who conserve resources and underspend
their budgets while penalizing those who overspend. The A2B approach
rewards those who spend more than is budgeted (“the more you spend
the more you get”) and penalizes those who spend less than their budget
(“spend it or lose it”). It can cause some managers to spend frivolously to
avoid losing budget.

The best approach is to base the new budget on the old budget, but with
the ability of managers to make the case for added resources based on
circumstances they cannot control—new environmental regulations, state
mandates, and so on.

SOURCES OF BUDGET INFORMATION

The information needed to prepare a budget is available throughout the
environment, both internally and externally. When preparing the person-
nel budget, for example, ask the personnel department about salary rates,
plans for any general increases in wage rates, rules for merit increases,
the potential for hiring new staff during the upcoming budget, training
program costs, and so on.

When it comes to supplies and other consumable items, the materi-
als management department may be able to help with information on
costs and usage patterns. The accounting department may be a source of
information about inflation. The facilities, maintenance, and engineering
departments can provide valuable insights regarding potential equipment
purchases.

Often, the best source of information necessary to the budget process
is overlooked. Managers and supervisors are probably the most knowl-
edgeable about departmental performance because of their day-to-day
involvement. They possess a hands-on understanding of how and why
the department functions and information about obsolete equipment, the
impact of new programs, and so on. Their input in preparing the budget
can be invaluable. The director of the operating rooms, for example, has
valuable information (surgical case volume) that can make for a better
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budget in the transportation department. Similarly, the nutrition services
department can benefit from knowing what nursing anticipates for inpa-
tient volume.

Knowing about constraints is also important. What is and is not avail-
able resource-wise? Is the next fiscal year an austerity one requiring tight
limits on spending growth? What latitude do managers have in requesting
funds for new initiatives? What rules are to be followed in putting together
the budget request? Though not technically “information,” this level of
understanding can be quite valuable.

Industry norms and standards can also be helpful in determining nurse-
to-patient staffing ratios, productivity levels, and the like. Often, this
information is available via professional associations and industry trade
groups, consulting firms, and even other institutions. Getting outside the
organization can also be valuable. Managers should attend trade shows
periodically to keep abreast of the latest developments in equipment, sup-
plies, and technology. While equipment and supply salesman can provide
a lot of information, their input should be used with caution. The best peo-
ple to talk to at tradeshows are not the salesmen but the other attendees. It
is a great opportunity to swap information, build a professional network,
and learn from each other.

Ask questions—the more, the better. Don’t worry about asking a “dumb”
question; in reality a dumb question is often the one that no one had the
nerve to ask but that everyone had thought about asking. The uncomfort-
able feeling sometimes associated with asking a lot of questions can often
be mitigated by prefacing the questions with such statements as “let me
play devil’s advocate” or “we’ll need to answer a lot of questions from the
boss, how do we explain this?” In this way the onus shifts to an unidenti-
fied someone else making it easier to ask the tough, pointed questions that
must be asked.

NOTE

1. “Joe’s Journal: On Creating the Future,” Drucker Institute, May 24, 2011,
http://www.druckerinstitute.com/201 1/05/joes-journal-on-creating-the-future/.
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Chapter 6

THE OPERATING BUDGET

One of the first impressions to be dealt with in preparing a budget, either
for a department or for an entire institution, is that it is an overwhelm-
ing task involving millions of dollars, hundreds of people, expensive
equipment, outside environmental threats and opportunities, third-party
reimbursement mechanisms, patient’s ability to pay, and so on. Putting
together a budget, however, is really as elementary as multiplying some
numbers, adding other numbers, and so on. It is a mechanical process
that expresses, in numerical terms, the goals and objectives that form the
foundation of the budget.

INTERRELATIONSHIPS

If the elements of the annual plan, or budget, are arrayed using a matrix
format, as displayed in Figure 6.1, the relationships can be seen more
easily. Notice the relationship between the volume budget and all of the
elements of revenue and expense. Similarly, the revenue budget affects all
other elements and acts as a constraint on all budgets by establishing the
“affordability” of all of the other elements.

As the process of putting the budget together begins, these interrelation-
ships must be kept in mind. Otherwise, costly and embarrassing errors can
creep into the budget. All of the elements must blend together. They must
complement and support each other.

If there is one key to dealing with the interrelationships of the budget
elements, it is orchestration. Just as orchestration is responsible for the
rich, full sound of a symphony, so too orchestration brings out the best
in budgeting. Consider, for example, the symphony orchestra in which
each section plays different instruments and different notes at different
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Figure 6.1
Each element of the budget touches upon and influences many other elements.

times. Orchestration makes the difference between the din one hears dur-
ing warm-up and the recognizable sounds that come forth once the con-
ductor taps his or her baton.

It is vital that the same information used to prepare one element of the
budget be used to prepare all others. It is clear that operating expense and
capital budgets based on an 80% occupancy rate and the revenue budget
based on an 85% occupancy rate are inconsistent. The budget is com-
promised before the year even starts. If the 85% occupancy rate is not
achieved, the shortfall in revenue, and cash coming into the organization,
can compromise the ability to purchase the planned equipment or hire the
necessary staff to provide care. Conversely, if the occupancy rate were to
hit 85%, the operating expense budget might lack sufficient resources.
Plans for new program implementations, expansion of existing programs,
and the enhancement of older (but still viable) services may fall by the
wayside. Beyond that, there is very real embarrassment associated with
putting together a budget that does not make sense. Finally, since the
budget is an important management tool, faulty budgeting leads to faulty
management, which, in turn, leads to a waste of valuable resources.
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SOURCES OF INFORMATION

One question confronts many managers: where does one find all the
information needed to prepare the budget? The best answer is that the
information is available throughout the environment. When preparing
the personnel budget, for example, ask the personnel department about sal-
ary rates, any planned general increases in the wage rates, the rules for
merit increases, the potential for hiring new staff during the upcoming bud-
get period, training programs, and any other potential personnel expenses.

When it comes to supplies and other consumable items, the purchasing
department or storeroom may be able to help with information on cost and
usage patterns. The accounting department may be a source of information
about inflation. Table 6.1 lists some of the factors that influence the various

Table 6.1
Sources of Budget Information
Budget Element Influencing Factors and Sources of Information
Organizational goals and * Governing board

objectives® * Upper management

» External environment

Departmental goals and * Organizational goals and objectives

objectives * Department management
Volume » Upper management

¢ Accounting department (for historical data)

* Departmental volume relationships

e New program influences

* Physician practice patterns

* Historical trends

» Regulatory/competitive issues

» Technology effect

* Process improvements initiatives

* Marketing initiatives

* Demand altering reimbursement changes
Gross and net revenue® * Volume projections

* Prices

* Regulatory/competitive issues

* Pricing strategies

* Mix of third-party payers

 Third-party discount arrangements

* Accounts receivable management effectiveness

(continued)



Table 6.1 (continued)

Budget Element Influencing Factors and Sources of Information

* Organizational and departmental goals and
objectives

* Patient insurance information

¢ Reimbursement changes

* Federal mandates (e.g., Hill-Burton Act,
EMTALA)

¢ Charity care policies and targets

 Discount and collection policies

Other operating revenue® * Activities related to such non-care activities as
gift shops, cafeteria sales, and parking facilities
Personnel * Volume

* Patient acuity

* Productivity data

¢ Targeted staffing ratios and patterns

* Payroll department (for pay rates)

¢ HR department (planned salary and benefits
changes)

¢ Accounting (for cost of fringe benefits per
worker)

* Labor contracts

* Organizational goals and objectives

¢ New program staffing needs

¢ Technology effect

¢ Process improvement initiatives

¢ Budgetary constraints

Supplies and other * Volume
operating expenses * Usage trends and patterns

* Fixed/variable expense profile

* Accounting or materials management (for
inflation data)

* Organizational goals and objectives

* Budgetary constraints

* New program needs

¢ Technology effect

Interest and depreciation® * Level of organizational debt and repayment

schedule

* Interest rates

* Projected cash inflows and outflows

* Fixed asset values

» Depreciation policies

* Capital budget

“Not normally prepared at the departmental level.
"May occasionally be prepared by department-level personnel but customarily prepared centrally.
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elements of the budget and the sources of information that managers can
look to for help in preparing the budget. Often, the best source of informa-
tion for budgeting is overlooked. Managers and supervisors are probably
the most knowledgeable about departmental performance because of their
day-to-day involvement. They possess the hands-on understanding of
how and why a department functions. Their input in preparing the budget
can be invaluable. Finally, the best way to gather information is to ask
questions—the more, the better. Do not worry about asking a “dumb”
question. In reality, a dumb question is often the one that no one has the
nerve to ask but that everyone has thought about asking. The uncom-
fortable feeling sometimes associated with asking a lot of questions can
almost always be mitigated by prefacing the question with such statements
as “Let me play devil’s advocate,” or “We will need to answer a lot of
questions from higher up in the organization, and we should prepare our
answers now. How will we answer these questions?” In this way, the onus
shifts to an unidentified someone else. It makes it easier to ask the tough,
pointed questions that must be asked.

AN ORDERLY APPROACH

After the raw data have been gathered both from outside sources and
from within the department, it is time to “put pencil to paper” and pre-
pare the department budget. The best way to approach this is by follow-
ing an orderly progression from one element to the next. After reviewing
the appropriate documents as explained in Chapter 5, the recommended
sequence is as follows:

» statement of goals and objectives

¢ volume budget

* revenue budget (if prepared at the department level)

¢ personnel budget (sometimes including fringe benefits)
» supplies and services budget

Logic plays a major role in determining this sequence. A budget can-
not be prepared until two questions have been answered: (1) what is to be
accomplished? and (2) what are the expectations? Thus, the statement of
goals and objectives is logically the first step in the process. This tells what
the department hopes to accomplish (its own goals and objectives for the
budget year) and what upper management expects of the department (its
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departmentalization of the organization’s goals and objectives). Because
budgeting is mainly a mathematical exercise and because goals and objec-
tives are customarily expressed using words, it is necessary to provide a
transition from words to numbers. This is the role of the volume budget. It
provides the translation of goals and objectives into useful mathematical
statements of what the department will be doing: the workload of patient
days, visits, tests, meals served, relative value units (RVUs), and so on.
The remaining budgets are based on these numbers. The revenue budget
comes next. Of the budgets that involve money, this should be the first
because it sets a boundary—an upper spending limit—that constrains the
size of the operating and capital budgets.

STATEMENT OF GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

Whether for the entire hospital or a single department, the statement of
goals and objectives should be a carefully written document spelling out the
overall goals of the organization in general terms (become a high-quality
provider and achieve a national quality designation of some sort, increase
market share in the northeast corridor, examine collaborations with an aca-
demic medical center, etc.) as well as the specific objectives to be achieved
as part of achieving the goals. Often, goals and objectives can be thought of
as long term (the goals) and short term (the objectives). Strategic plans tend
to be driven by goals, while budgets are driven by the objectives.

Well-written objectives, whether at the organizational or departmental level,
should meet the SMART criteria: Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant,
Time specific. They should clearly align with one or more of the goals.

A manager might write an objective like this: reduce the incidence of
hospital-acquired infections (HAIs) during the budget year. And while this
seems fine, it fails to meet the SMART criteria. A well-written objective
would be far more specific: reduce the incidence of catheter-associated
urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) to no more than three for budget year
20X1. This objective meets the SMART criteria. It is specific to CAU-
TIs as opposed to infections in general, is measurable and achievable, is
relevant to the goal of becoming a high-quality provider, and has a time
constraint—to be accomplished during budget year 20X1. This objective
makes it easier to budget the resources needed to achieve it.

THE VOLUME BUDGET

Every department and every function in a health care organization has its
own way of describing volume. Some examples include patient days, visits,
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and procedures. Whatever description is used should be associated with both
resources and the potential to generate revenue. The manager of an inpatient
nursing unit might use the average daily census to determine resource needs,
but might also select and monitor patient days or cases because revenue is
associated with those statistics. In the plumbing shop, the manager might
track volume in terms of work orders received or completed. In fact, track-
ing both would provide more useful information for the manager. In looking
at both, he or she will have information about both resources needed (work
orders received) and responsiveness (work orders completed).

While the finance department may require the tracking of specific statis-
tics for some departments and functions, managers are free to track what-
ever statistics, including informal ones, they feel best inform them about
their business volume and resource use. In the environmental services
department, for example, while finance may use “square feet cleaned” as
a measure, the manager may want to capture and track discharges, deaths,
and transfers because those actions drive his resource use. Rooms are not
cleaned because they have square feet, but because of patient activity,
principally discharges, deaths, and transfers. Further, the terminal clean-
ing routine for a room that has just been vacated by a discharged patient
will likely be more resource intense than the daily cleaning routine per-
formed over the course of that patient’s hospital stay.

Some managers believe that a preliminary estimate or order of magni-
tude value can be a good starting point. An imaging department manager
might look at the overall capacity of her department and use 85% of this
value as a starting point and refine it from there. The director of social ser-
vices might look at the current level of case volume and decide to annual-
ize that amount plus a growth factor for the budget year’s volume.

Sometimes, a collaborative effort produces the best result. The volume
for the operating rooms might be based not only on the current usage rate
but also on information from the hospital’s leading surgeons about their
plans for the budget year. A manager’s previous experience with trends and
patterns of volume—seasonal variations, for example—may also be helpful.

Generally, however, two kinds of situations can be encountered in pre-
paring the volume budget. Either a department’s volume is dependent on
another department’s volume (as in the case of ancillary services), or it is
independent of other departments’ volumes.

Independent volume. The simplest situation is the one involving inde-
pendent volumes—visits in a clinic or patient days on an inpatient nursing
unit. Volume in departments or setting like these is generally established
as part of an organization’s overall set of objectives or by estimating the
demand for services.
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The mathematics of volume calculations involves simple math. For an
inpatient nursing unit, for example, it involves the number of calendar
days, beds available, occupancy rates, and average census levels. Calculat-
ing a budget for total patient days is shown in Table 6.2.

Following these calculations, the manager can base the rest of the bud-
get (revenue, staffing and salary costs, supplies, etc.) on an average daily
census of 20 patients. In addition, the manager knows that the absolute
capacity of the unit is 25 patients per day or 9,125 total annual patient
days. The only thing missing is the notion of patient acuity, which can
have an impact on resource need.

Knowledge of operating capacity is essential to success, but, regrettably,
too many health care managers are unaware of their department’s capac-
ity. In the examples cited earlier, had someone inadvertently assigned a
volume budget of 9,521 patient days (perhaps as a result of a typographi-
cal error or a misreading of the numbers), the budget for the entire unit
could be significantly misstated unless the manager knew that the unit
operating capacity was only 9,125 patient days.

Similarly, consider an outpatient clinic that has seen its volume rise for
the past five fiscal years, as shown in Table 6.3.

Table 6.2

Inpatient Volume Calculations

Nursing unit bed capacity 25
Calendar days 365
Bed days (total capacity) 9,125
Budgeted occupancy rate 80%
Patient days budget 7,300
Budgeted average daily census 20
Table 6.3

QOutpatient Clinic Visits

Fiscal Year Number of Visits
20X1 actual 12,000

20X2 actual 13,200

20X3 actual 14,520

20X4 actual 16,000

20X5 YTD annualized 17,600
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The budget for fiscal year 20X6 is arrived at in two steps. First, the visit
counts are examined to see if there is a trend and, should there be one, to
determine if it will continue as is, accelerate, or decelerate. In this case,
the trend is an upward growth of 10% each year. If that were expected to
continue, the volume budget would be calculated by adding 10% to the
20X35 year to date (YTD) annualized volume. Assuming there is no capac-
ity limit, the visit budget for 20X6 would be set at 19,360 visits, as shown
in Table 6.4.

Consider some additional information about this clinic. It includes five
exam rooms, each of which can handle a maximum of two exams per hour
during a five-day-a-week (eight hours/day) schedule. It is closed for 10
holidays each year. This translates into a capacity of 20,000 visits a year,
as seen in Table 6.5.

Assuming the trend in visit growth (10% per year) continued into fiscal
year 20X6, the initial 20X7 budget calculation might be 21,296, as seen
in Table 6.6, but this amount would be constrained by the capacity limit
of 20,000 visits. Prudence would suggest that the clinic could not sustain
running at 100% of capacity, so a lower-volume estimate would be used,
perhaps even holding at the 20X6 estimate of 19,360.

Table 6.4
Budgeting for Volume
20X5 estimated volume 17,600
Annual growth rate 10%
Annual volume increment 1,760
20X6 budgeted volume 19,360
Table 6.5
Calculating Clinic Capacity
Weeks in the year 52 Exam rooms 5
x5  Exams/hour x?2
Weekdays 260 10
Holidays —10  Clinic hours/day x8
Clinic days 250  Exams/day 80
Clinic days 250
Exams/day %80

Clinic capacity 20,000
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Table 6.6

Estimating Volume

20X6 estimated volume 19,360
Annual growth rate 10%
Annual volume increment 1,936
20X7 initial budgeted volume 21,296

If no trend were apparent, one might set the volume budget at the level
of visits experienced during the most recent 12-month period. This may
be influenced by the overall goals and objectives of the organization or
other factors such as competition, changes in technology, and altered
demographics.

Dependent volumes. More complex is the situation involving a depart-
ment whose volume of business is dependent on another department. Con-
sider the clinical laboratories whose demand is created by nursing units,
clinics, and so on. To prepare the volume budget for labs, it is necessary to
establish or document these relationships and then project the budget for
the laboratory based on the volume budgets of these other departments. As
an example, consider the volume relationships shown in Table 6.7.

The volume budget for 20X4 could be 77,140 tests (20,300 patient days x
3.8 test for day) or 75,110 tests (20,300 patient days x 3.7 tests per day)
depending on whether the most recent experience (20X3) or the three-year
average was used. In reality, the volume budget for laboratory will be the
sum of many pieces (chemistry, hematology, bacteriology, etc.), each of
which is dependent on the volumes in a number of different areas (a vari-
ety of medical/surgical nursing units, special care units, clinics, etc.), each
of which will have a slightly different relationship with the laboratories.

The top half of Table 6.8 shows the ratios of tests to patient days and
clinic visits. Using this data, the bottom half of the table would be pre-
pared. The number of tests is calculated by multiplying the number of
applicable patient days and visits by the ratios of tests per patient day
or visit. For example, the 22,410 tests chemistry will perform for pedi-
atrics is a function of 12,450 patient days and 1.8 tests per patient day
(22,410 =12,450 x 1.8 =22,410).

The volume budget for the laboratory is now complete. Because it was
prepared in such detail, the impact of any change to the factors that drive
volume (occupancy rates, the ratios of tests to patient days, clinic visit, etc.)
can be understood. This is an example of how the “detailed plan™ described
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Table 6.7
Laboratory Tests by Year
Tests per
Year Patient Days Lab Tests  Patient Day
20X1 19,500 72,150 3.7
20X2 20,000 72,000 3.6
20X3 19,900 75,620 3.8
Average 19,800 73,257 3.7
20X4 20,300
Table 6.8
Laboratory Tests by Type of Laboratory and Location
Ratios of Laboratory Tests to Patient Day and to Visit
2 North 2 South Peds ICU Clinic1 Clinic 2
Patient days/ 19,800 21,000 12,450 7,300 20,000 23,000
visits budget
Laboratory
Chemistry 2.5 2.3 1.8 5.6 1.0 2.0
Hematology 2.1 3.0 1.2 54 1.1 3.0
Bacteriology 2.8 1.9 1.0 3.7 1.5 0.5

Lab Test Budget by Lab and Location

2 North 2 South Peds

ICU

Clinic 1 Clinic 2 Total

Chemistry 49,500 48,300 22,410 40,880 20,000 46,000 227,090
Hematology 41,580 63,000 14,940 39,420 22,000 69,000 249,940
Bacteriology 55,440 39,900 12,450 27,010 30,000 11,500 176,300
Total 146,520 151,200 49,800 107,310 72,000 126,500 653,330

in the definition of a budget can help managers. It may take longer to develop
the budget, but any deviation from the budget can more easily be understood
and dealt with because of the detailed information about volume.

In a similar manner, a public health department can calculate a volume
budget for immunizations by combining population data with targeted
immunization rates. As seen in Table 6.9, the health department would
need to perform 12,150 immunizations if it wished to immunize a popula-
tion of 4.5 million people. The math is relatively straightforward, multi-
plying the population by the target immunization rate for each condition.
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Table 6.9
City Health Department Immunization Volume Budget

Targeted Immunization Rate Immunizations
Flu 75.0% 3,375,000
MMR 90.0% 4,050,000
Pneumonia 65.0% 2,925,000
Shingles 40.0% 1,800,000

Total immunizations 12,150,000

And just as a laboratory budget can be prepared by lab and location, a
health department service budget can be prepared in similar detail. Con-
sider a health department that provides several services to a city popula-
tion of just over a half million people. As shown in Table 6.10, by tying the
ratio of services to the population, a detailed budget for volume by service
can be developed. With this level of detail, deviations can be understood
more easily.

While the mathematics of volume budgeting is relatively straightfor-
ward, other factors must be considered. Internally, the ability of the orga-
nization to deliver what the market needs and wants must be given careful
consideration. Does the organization possess the requisite skills to provide
a service? If not, can those skills be obtained? Further, does the organiza-
tion want to recruit for those skills? Does a hospital with a growing geri-
atric population have the ability to provide the kind of medical services
that the population needs? Does it have geriatric programs, geriatricians
on staff, facilities suited to an older patient population, and so on? Can
it obtain those resources? Is this a service line it wants to get into? Does
a rural hospital, for instance, have what it takes to perform kidney trans-
plants? Does it even want to be in the transplant business? And lacking the
capacity to perform an appropriate number of transplants to assure quality
outcomes, should it be in the transplant business? Lacking the resources,
the organization will not be able to serve that population of patients. Simi-
larly, does the organization have the capacity to capture the volume? If a
hospital’s clinics are already running at capacity, would they be able to
accommodate one or more new clinic sessions and all of the associated
demands? Might opening such a clinic actually cause volume to decline
as the result of overcrowding and the associated patient dissatisfaction?

Science and technology. Advances such as new treatments, improved
preventive measures, and better diagnostics can affect volume. Often,



THE OPERATING BUDGET 125

Table 6.10
City Health Department Public Service Volume

Services per Capita by Neighborhood

Neighborhood Southdale Uptown City Center Northwood Total

Population 189,000 92,300 36,000 200,000 517,300
Service 1 1.3 1.4 29 1.0
Service 2 1.5 1.2 1.4 1.1
Service 3 1.7 1.8 1.6 0.5

Service Volume by Service and Neighborhood

Neighborhood Southdale Uptown City Center Northwood Total

Service 1 245,700 129,220 104,400 200,000 679,320
Service 2 283,500 110,760 50,400 220,000 664,660
Service 3 321,300 166,140 57,600 100,000 645,040

850,500 406,120 212,400 520,000 1,989,020

managers and providers are the first to know of these advances, and their
input should be solicited as part of the preliminary discussions.

Population demographics. If the population is growing, for example,
with young families with little children, it is highly likely that volume
associated with pediatric care will grow. Similarly, if the prevalence of
cardiac patients grows, cardiologist office visits will grow. Age, disease,
patient mobility, income level, and similar demographic factors all play
into the determination of business volume.

Market dynamics and competition. New providers entering the service
area or new care models implemented by existing providers can drive vol-
ume to or from providers. A new physician practice offering more conve-
nient office hours (being open until 9:00 p.m. while others close at 5:00
p.m.) might draw patients from the others. A more convenient location
(e.g., laser eye correction clinic located in a popular shopping mall) might
also result in more volume.

Geography. The physical location of facilities vis-a-vis where patients
live can impact volume projections. Are patients likely to drive past a
provider that is nearby to use one 20 miles distant? Does the road system
make using a particular facility easier or more difficult? Does a hospi-
tal located in the downtown business district of a large city have a more
difficult time attracting inpatient volume than a suburban one? For some
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medical conditions, patients will travel great distances (organ transplants,
world-class specialists, etc.), but for routine medical conditions, the con-
venience associated with geography often plays a part in where patients
go for care.

Competition. The presence or absence of competitors in the market
must be considered. Do they have a better reputation with which to draw
patients and practitioners? Are they stronger financially and thus able to
adapt to changing market conditions faster? Do they have other resources
(newer facilities, better geographic location, more diverse physician base,
etc.) that may be more attractive to patients? If there is no competition, is
the market such that it is attractive to other providers, which might decide
to establish a presence thus changing demand patterns? Is there sufficient
potential patient volume to “go around”?

Timing. It refers to when things are done. When should a new service
be offered? When is it time to modernize or change the way service is pro-
vided? Is it too soon to move into a new service or technology that is not
yet mature? Would the organization gain competitive advantage by mov-
ing faster or earlier than other organizations? Establishing market domi-
nance by moving earlier than the competition can assure access to patient
volume that otherwise might not be available. When is the clinic open for
business? Are the hours of operation too restrictive, too inconvenient for
paying patients? Does a physician practice limit its potential volume by
not having evening and weekend hours?

THE REVENUE BUDGET

Once the volume budget has been locked in, it is time to turn to the revenue
budget. The basic formula for revenue calculations is units of service x
price = revenue. In departments with more than one billable unit of ser-
vice, multiplying each service by the applicable price and summing up the
results produces the revenue budget. Consider, for example, a department
with 10 billable units of service. Its revenue budget would be calculated as
shown in Table 6.11 using the formula just listed.

For an entire hospital, the revenue budget would be the sum of all of the
department revenue budgets. Table 6.12 shows a typical hospital revenue
budget.

The final step in budgeting for revenue is converting gross revenue (the
amounts billed) to net revenue (the amounts actually collected). This is
done by multiplying the gross revenue amount by an overall collection
rate or by breaking the revenue down by payer and applying payer-specific
collection rates, as shown in Table 6.13.



Table 6.11

Departmental Revenue Budget

Revenue Items Quantity Price Gross Revenue

Procedure #1 1,000 $100.00 $100,000

Procedure #2 2,000 150.00 300,000

Procedure #3 1,500 300.00 450,000

Procedure #4 500 50.00 25,000

Procedure #5 400 75.00 30,000

Procedure #6 200 100.00 20,000

Procedure #7 250 350.00 87,500

Procedure #8 300 1,000.00 300,000

Procedure #9 1,000 50.00 50,000

Procedure #10 600 100.00 60,000

Total $1,422,500
Table 6.12
Hospital Revenue Budget

Units of Gross

Revenue Center Service Volume Price Revenue
Adult Med/Surg—2 North ~ Patient days 10,250 $950.00  $9,737,500
Adult Med/Surg—3 North ~ Patient days 10,000  950.00 9,500,000
Adult Med/Surg—4 North ~ Patient days 9,850  950.00 9,357,500
Adult Med/Surg—2 South  Patient days 7,500  950.00 7,125,000
Adult Med/Surg—3 South  Patient days 7,250  950.00 6,887,500
Adult Med/Surg—4 South  Patient days 6,950  950.00 6,602,500
Pediatrics Patient days 3,000  850.00 2,550,000
Surgical Intensive Care Unit Patient days 4,400 3,200.00 14,080,000
Medical Intensive Care Unit Patient days 4,500 2,500.00 11,250,000
Cardiac Care Unit Patient days 4,000 3,300.00 13,200,000
Behavioral Health Unit Patient days 3,000 650.00 1,950,000
Emergency Department Visits 35,000  750.00 26,250,000
Outpatient Clinics Visits 52,000 175.00 9,100,000
Operating Room Minutes 790,000 25.00 19,750,000
Anesthesiology Minutes 632,000 25.00 15,800,000
Medical Supplies (billable) Cost + 10% 6,500,000
Pharmacy Cost +10% 12,000,000
Clinical Laboratory Tests 2,375,000 40.00 95,000,000
Blood Bank 500cc Units 6,000 150.00 900,000
Radiology RVUs 795,000 30.00 23,850,000
Nuclear Medicine RVUs 650,000 30.00 19,500,000
Respiratory Therapy RVUs 251,000 20.00 5,020,000
Physical Therapy RVUs 175,000 15.00 2,625,000
Occupational Therapy Minutes 212,000 10.00 2,120,000
Total gross revenue $330,655,000
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Table 6.13
Converting Gross Revenue to Net Revenue

Using Payer-Specific Collection Rates

Payer Gross Revenue Collection Rate Net Revenue
Payer #1 $33,065,500 50.0% $16,532,750
Payer #2 82,663,750 65.0% 53,731,438
Payer #3 115,729,250 40.0% 46,291,700
Payer #4 33,065,500 80.0% 26,452,400
Payer #5 66,131,000 85.0% 56,211,350
Total $330,655,000 $199,219,638
Using an Organizational Average Collection Rate

Gross revenue $330,655,000

Collection rate 60.25%

Net revenue $199,219,638

While either approach yields the same amount, the first approach
using detailed collection rates by payer provides better information for
management.

THE STAFFING BUDGET

Developing a budget for staffing involves planning for the types and num-
bers of people required, base salary levels, premium pays like shift dif-
ferential or charge pay, performance or cost-of-living increases, and so on.

While guidelines can be used in determining staffing levels (e.g., one
full-time technologist for every 100,000 laboratory tests), these differ
from one unit to the next and from one institution to the next depending
on patient acuity, equipment sophistication, work processes, and other fac-
tors. There are no hard and fast rules, but every profession has standards
that can be helpful.

Several approaches can be used for determining staffing levels. One is
to base it on average productivity per full-time equivalent worker (FTE).
Another is to base the staff size on average work output per hour worked. Still
another relies on an engineering approach based on each task performed.

Average productivity per FTE. This method establishes relationships
between historic averages for work output and staff FTE levels. In Depart-
ment A, for example, if each worker FTE can handle 500 visits, a total
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workload of 1,250 visits would require a staff of 2.5 FTEs (1,250 +
500 = 2.5). There is no need to adjust for vacation or sick time as the use
of a “per FTE” productivity rate factors this in already. This simple math
calculation requires a few challenge questions before the manager can be
satisfied that the amount is proper and correct. Is the per FTE productivity
amount reliable? Has the work associated with each visit changed in some
way and become more or less involved? Is the type of visits different? Has
the work process changed? Perhaps the most important question is, can a
0.5 FTE be hired? If not, the budget may need to be set at 3.0 FTEs and
not the 2.5 as calculated.

Average productivity per hour. In this approach, average worker out-
put per hour is used to determine the number of workers. But unlike the
previous method, nonproductive time must be factored in. Consider the
situation of Department B in which each worker can perform 60 tests per
hour for a total of 480 tests per day. At that rate, such a worker might be
expected to perform 124,800 tests in a year’s time (480 tests per day x
5 days/week x 52 weeks = 124,800 or, alternatively, 60 tests per hour x
2,080 annual hours). But is that really the case? Will such a worker actu-
ally work that much? Probably not, given vacation days, sick days, holi-
days, and other such days off. Most workers enjoy a certain level of this
sort of nonproductive time—time for which they are paid, but expected
not to be at work.

As a result, the calculated number of workers must be grossed up
(increased) to account for the nonproductive time. For Department B, the
total annual test load is 2,121,600 tests. The initial calculation of staff
needs would be 17 workers (2,121,600 + 124,800 = 17). But that amount
is insufficient to get the work done and must be adjusted to take into
account nonproductive time. In this case, assume each worker is given
20 vacation days a year and 10 holidays and uses 9 sick days—a total of
39 days or 312 hours off with pay. The balance of the time, 1,768 hours
(2,080 — 312), the worker is expected to be on the job and producing tests.
This results in a payroll productivity rate of 85% (1,768 + 2,080). By
dividing the 17 FTEs by the productivity rate, it can be determined that
20 FTEs should be hired (17 + 85% = 20). In this way, if the 20 FTEs are
each given their time off, a sufficient number of workers will be present
to get the work done.

Avoid the mistake of merely adding 15% of nonproductive time back to
the 17 workers. As demonstrated in Table 6.14, doing so will short change
the FTE count and leave a manager short staffed even before the fiscal

year begins.
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Table 6.14
Calculating FTE Needs
Proper Approach Improper Approach
17.00 FTEs 17.00 FTEs
+ 85% productivity rate x 15% nonproductive rate
Correct FTE needs = 20.00 FTEs 2.55 FTEs
—19.55 FTEs + 17.00 FTEs
Staffing shortage = 0.45 FTEs 19.55 FTEs

In this case, the calculation on the right results in a nearly 2% shortfall
in FTEs. This is because the 15% of nonproductive time is not 15% of
17.00 FTEs, but rather 15% of 20.00 FTE. But the 20 is not a known value
at the start of the calculations. It must be determined by division using the
productivity rate. This is reminiscent of the old grade school ratio prob-
lems such as “10 is to 20 as X is to 40, solve for X.” Even those skilled
in budget calculations often make the mistake of saying, “Let’s add 15%
for nonproductive time.” But this approach is clearly incorrect and will
always result in a budget that lacks sufficient staff.

To determine the actual productivity rate, managers can consult the pay-
roll records. Divide the total worked hours (usually categorized as “regular
hours”) by the total paid hours. The resulting percentage is the productiv-
ity rate. Typically this rate would be in the neighborhood of 85%. If this
rate is much lower, there is an issue of workers taking too much time off; if
it is much higher, there is a risk of burning out workers because they have
not taken enough time off to “recharge their batteries.”

Engineered FTE calculations. For a far more precise and highly cred-
ible calculation of staffing needs, managers can build their staffing needs
from scratch using the combination of anticipated volume and task and
time analysis. Table 6.15 shows this approach.

The analysis begins with a comprehensive list of tasks that are routinely
performed for each unit of service the department handles. These could
be tasks like taking vital signs, writing a nursing note, and serving a meal
tray. In the table, only 20 tasks are listed, but in the real world, this list
could be longer or shorter depending on the department. Next, the appro-
priate amount of time expressed in minutes needed to perform each task
is entered into Column A. Careful study and observation of worker move-
ments can result is usable values. Before using them, however, they should
be reviewed with staff to check the accuracy and see if any significant
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Table 6.15
Department XYZ

Engineered FTE Calculations

Total  Units of Total
Time to Frequency  Task Service Time

Work Tasks Complete  Performed Time  Multiplier Required
Performed
by Staff (A) 3B) ©) D) (E)
Task 1 10 20 200 10,000 2,000,000
Task 2 5 10 50 10,000 500,000
Task 3 15 5 75 10,000 750,000
Task 4 7 3 21 10,000 210,000
Task 5 3 2 6 10,000 60,000
Task 6 5 3 15 10,000 150,000
Task 7 10 5 50 10,000 500,000
Task 8 20 4 80 10,000 800,000
Task 9 40 1 40 10,000 400,000
Task 10 9 1 9 10,000 90,000
Task 11 11 1 11 10,000 110,000
Task 12 16 1 16 10,000 160,000
Task 13 20 1 20 10,000 200,000
Task 14 5 3 15 10,000 150,000
Task 15 10 3 30 10,000 300,000
Task 16 15 5 75 10,000 750,000
Task 17 7 1 7 10,000 70,000
Task 18 8 1 8 10,000 80,000
Task 19 3 2 6 10,000 60,000
Task 20 1 1 1 10,000 10,000

Total productive minutes 7,350,000

Total productive hours 122,500

Productivity rate 87.5%

Total paid hours 140,000

Total paid FTEs 67.31

tasks have been omitted. Column B contains the frequency with which
each task is performed for each unit of service. If Task 8 is performed, for
example, every six hours for an inpatient, that value, four, is entered. If
Task 9 is performed only once, for instance at admission or discharge, a
value of one would be entered.
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The values in Column C are arrived at by multiplying the values in Col-
umn A by those in Column B. These represent the amount of time spent
on each task for each unit of service. Following this, the amount of service
volume is entered in Column D. This is the volume amount (patient days,
clinic visits, procedures, etc.) that drives the work. Multiplying Column
C by Column D and summing the total determines the total need for pro-
ductive work time in minutes. In this example, that is 7,350,000 produc-
tive minutes of 122,500 productive hours. The hours are converted from
productive to paid hours by dividing by the productivity rate, in this case
87.5%, yielding 140,000 total paid hours. If an FTE is worth 2,080 paid
hours, Department XYZ will need 67.31 FTEs. If a 0.31 FTE cannot be
achieved, the manager will need to decide if the calculated value should
be rounded down to 67 FTEs or up to 68 FTEs.

This “engineered” approach provides maximum credibility. If finance
does not want to fund the entire documented FTE need, the manager can
move the discussion to which tasks can be omitted. That can shift the bur-
den back to finance by demonstrating the consequences of its decisions.

The ongoing challenge for managers is to “make it work” in the budget
year. Often, however, productive time is not really productive. Examples
abound in health care: the well-paid and highly skilled OR nurse who is
waiting for the next case to start; the physician who is ready to examine a
patient, but the patient has not arrived yet; or the technician awaiting the
arrival of a patient before starting the CT scan. Such examples represent
“idle time,” time spent waiting on patients, equipment, and so on. Workers
are ready to work, but the work is not ready for the workers. This is an area
managers need to focus on because of the significant financial burden—
especially in an era of scarce resources. In 2013, a TeleTracking study iden-
tified millions of dollars associated with idle time and waste, both added
cost and missed revenue.' In some cases, a second gross-up is required to
account for idle time that a department cannot avoid. Consider an admit-
ting office in which the process of admitting a patient takes one hour and
which must admit 16 patients each day. Nominally it would require two
clerks to do the work. But if the patients failed to show up until after noon,
processing the same number of admissions would require four clerks. This
is because for half of the day they are all idle. Dividing the two FTEs by
50% non-idle rate yields a need for four FTEs—unless and until the situa-
tion is remedied by an improvement in scheduled arrival times for patients.

Because health care is, essentially, a series of hand offs from one depart-
ment or function to another (e.g., floor bed to surgery to recovery to sur-
gical ICU to floor bed), it can be difficult for a single department to deal
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with idle time. In such cases, it falls to organizational leadership to lead
the effort to reduce idle time by investing in better coordination, commu-
nication, and management information.

Once the staffing calculations have been finalized, it is time to move on
to the salary budget. Even with modern financial systems that are centrally
managed by the finance department, it is useful for managers to develop a
salary matrix of their own to maximize their understanding of their salary
needs and, just as important, to verify that the central system has accu-
rately allocated resources to the department. Using any of a number of dif-
ferent spreadsheet software programs, managers can develop this matrix
by listing the position titles and names of incumbent workers vertically
down the page and the categories of information about salaries (hourly
pay rates, FTE values, etc.) horizontally across the page.

Figure 6.2 displays such a matrix that has been set up to run in a spread-
sheet software program. It provides spaces for rank or type of employee
(Column A) and the name of the incumbent (Column B). This ensures
that no employee or labor category is inadvertently, and embarrassingly,
omitted. The FTE value is provided for in Column C and is used later in
the matrix as part of the individual salary calculations. A full-time person
who works 2,080 hours (a full 40-hour week) per year is 1.0 FTE. A half-
time employee works 1,040 hours and is expressed in the worksheet as
0.5 FTE. The current hourly pay rate (Column D) is included to establish
an audit trail from the current time frame to the future. The next columns
(E and F) provide a way to adjust the current hourly pay rate for any
increase scheduled to take effect before the budget year begins. In this
way, the budget calculations will begin with the pay rate in effect on the
first day of the new fiscal year (Column G). Column H is the location for
the base salary budget for each employee. It is the product of 2,080 hours

>
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Figure 6.2
A salary budget worksheet will pull together all types of wages for each
employee.
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and the data from Columns C and G. If no wage increases were planned
during the budget year, the budget worksheet would stop at this point.
However, since wages are usually adjusted for one or more reasons dur-
ing the course of the budget year, columns are provided in the worksheet
for an additional increase during the budget year. The total salary budget
(Column L) is the sum of the salary shown in Column H and the amount
of increase shown in Column K. Columns can be added to provide for a
variety of additional budget information, including such premium pay-
ments as overtime, charge pay, shift differential, and on-call pay, that each
employee could earn. If this information is not known for each individ-
ual employee, the information could be recorded on separate lines in the
matrix.

The use of this matrix approach is shown in Figure 6.3, in which a
departmental budget encompassing a manager and three types of work-
ers is displayed. Note that workers are categorized by type first, with the
names then listed along with current FTE values and current rate of pay in
Columns A through D. This is the beginning of an audit trail leading from
the day the budget work begins up to the new budget year and builds cred-
ibility that can be helpful during a budget review meeting. From that point
forward, the calculations are relatively straightforward.

[ B [ D EliF ] H | P [ ] [ 5
Pay Raise Prior to
Start of Budget Year Pay Raise in et Year
1
FTE Current Effective | Budget Year Effective Salary
Position | Incumbent Name | Value | Pay Rate | Percent Date Pay Rate |Base Salary | Percent | Months | Amount B 1]
| 2 |Manager |[Smith 1.0 40.00 | 3.00% 1IXX 41.20 | 585,606 | 3.00% [ $1.285 | $86.981
"4 [Worker 1 1.0 30.00 | 2.50% 2IXX 30.75 63,960 | 2.50% 5 [ 64,626
Dawson 1.0 29.00 | 1.50% JNXX 29.44 61,225 | 1.50% 4 306 61,531
Germann 1 31.00 | 2.00% 11X 31.62 65,770 | 2.00% [ 658 66,427
Burton 0. 2550 | 1.75% SMIXX 2595 26,984 | 1.75% 2 Fi'] 27.063
Orando 0. 2540 | 2.00% AKX 2591 26,944 | 2.00% E] 135 27,079
Hampe 1. 30.00 | 1.50% BM1000 30.45 63,336 | 1.50% 1 78 63415
10 Vacant 2] 30.00 BIIXX 30.00 124,800 | 1.50% 1 156 124,956
(11 Total 7.0 433,019 2079 | 435,097
1
[13 [Worker 2 [Steinwachs 10| 2000 | 1.75% | 11IXX 20.35 42328 | 1.75% | 6 370 | 42,698
(4 | DaVivo 1.0 19.00 | 2.00% 17X 19.38 40,310 | 2.00% [ 403 40,714
Vacant 1.0 20.00 | 1.50% B 20,30 42224 | 1.50% 1 53 42277
Total 3.0 124,862 826 125,688
(7
(Worker 3 [ Tressler [1] 15.00 50% 11/XX 15.38 15,980 | 2.50% 200 16,190
(19| Chairs 1] 14.00 S0% 1K 14.21 14,778 :50% m 14,889
20 MacKenzie 1 16.00 00% 11X 16.32 33,946 | 2.00% 339 34,285
Ford 1. 10.50 5% XX 10.68 | 22,222 | 1.75% 194 2417
(22 [Schwartz 1.1 10.40 -D0% 1MIXX 10.61 22,065 | 2.00% 221 22285
Vacant 3.0 15.00 | 1.50% B 15.23 95,004 | 1.50% 19 95.123
(24 Total 70 204,005 1,184 205,189
25
[ 26 |Total 8.0 5 B47.582 $ 5.374 | § 852,956
Figure 6.3

A completed salary budget worksheet.
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Formula or Data Required

Column E

Column F

Column G

Column H

Column I

Column J

Column K

Column L

In this column, enter the planned percentage of pay increase for
each worker. Each can be different if a performance-based
system is used. If everyone received a predetermined general
increase (perhaps as in the case of a union contract escalator),
then a single amount is applied to all lines.

The effective date should be between the day of preparation
and the start date of the budget year. If it is not between those
two dates, it is not needed and the current amount would be
entered directly into Column G (Budget Year Pay Rate). This
is because no raise would be given prior to the start of the new
budget year.

Rather than an amount or value, this column is used to enter a
formula that will calculate the pay rate in effect at the start
of the budget year. Using the line for Smith, the manager, the
formula is (D2*E2)+D2 (where * is used for multiplication and
/ for division). This will result in the amount of the pay rate
being displayed in the column.

Similarly, this column is populated with a formula
(2,080*C2*@G2) that results in the calculation of the base salary
for the budget year.

In Column I, enter the planned percentage of pay increase for
each worker. Again, as with Column E, the percentages can be
the same for all workers or can differ from one worker to the
next.

Enter the number of months in the budget year for which the raise
will be in effect (the number of months from the date of the
raise to the end of the year). For example, a raise on May 1 for
a fiscal year that ends on June 30, enter 2 (May and June).

Just as a formula was entered in Column H, a formula is entered
here as well. H2*¥12*J2/12 will calculate the amount of salary
increase applicable to the budget year. This amount will be
smaller than the annual value since it represents only that part
that must be covered in the budget year.

Finally, Column L represents the sum of the amounts that were
automatically calculated in Columns H and K. This is the
salary budget amount needed to cover the individual worker
whose name appears in Column B.
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As often as possible throughout the worksheet, enter formulas as
opposed to values. For example, rather than enter $85,696 in Column
H, line 2, take advantage of the power of the spreadsheet and enter a
formula: 2,080*C2*G2. The spreadsheet will then multiply 2,080 hours
by the value shown in cell C2 and then by the value shown in cell G2. In
this way, formulas can be copied and used on other lines in the sheet. For
example, for line 23, the same formula will return a value of 95,004 for
cell H23. As the formula is copied down the sheet, the software automati-
cally updates the line numbers. In addition, by using the cell containing
the FTE value as part of the formula, the formula works with all FTE val-
ues. In this example, the formulas in Columns G, H, K, and L differ only
in the line number. This takes advantage of the power of the spreadsheet,
avoids having to write the formula on each line, and allows managers at
a future point in time to play “what if?” scenarios with their budgeted
requests.

Additional columns and rows can be added to account for such things as
premium pay or overtime. If the amounts are knowable by individual (as
might be the case, for example, with charge pay), a column can be used
to account for the necessary budget. If only an amount is known with no
specificity as to which workers are involved (overtime pay, for instance),
a row can be used.

As displayed in Figure 6.3, the total salary budget need is for $852,956.
In a budget review meeting, if this amount were not affordable and the
manager was challenged to reduce it, the power of the spreadsheet can be
harnessed merely by changing certain input variables. What if the number
of vacant FTEs were reduced? By what amount would this reduce the bud-
get request? And what impact will such a reduction have on departmental
and organizational performance?

This may seem like a lot of detail and preparation work, especially in
a department with perhaps 100 FTEs. In fact, a salary budget can be pre-
pared with far less detailed information, but the information developed
by using the spreadsheet will be valuable later on when comparing actual
performance to the budget. As a rule, the more budget detail available,
the easier it is to understand deviations and take appropriate management
action. Simply stated, the more detail, the better.

If fringe benefits are to be included in the personnel budget at the
department level, the calculation is usually a simple matter of adding a
flat percentage to the salary dollars. The human resources department
can provide the appropriate percentage, or it may be found in the budget
guidelines.
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SUPPLIES AND SERVICES BUDGET

An account-by-account work-up provides a good level of detail, but it is
possible to budget down to the level of individual items such as antibiotics
in the pharmacy’s budget or surgical implants in the ORs. Figure 6.4 dis-
plays a spreadsheet approach to developing a supplies and services budget.

Data from an appropriate base period can be used to develop the bud-
get. Typically, this will consist of four to six months of year-to-date val-
ues for the current fiscal year. This data is then “cleaned” to adjust for
unusual items and then extrapolated based on time and volume to a full
year amount. In the case of new programs for which base period data are
not available, budgets can be developed via consultation with other insti-
tutions or “experts,” reference to data for similar services, or estimation
on an item-by-item basis.

First, the names of the expense accounts along with the amounts of
spending in the base period being used are entered in Columns A and B.
Next, the base units are entered in Column C. These represent the months
associated with the spending of fixed expense items or the units of volume
associated with variable expense items. Dividing the Column B values
by the Column C values yields the amounts per month or unit of volume
in Column D. Multiplying these by the budget year volume for the vari-
able expenses and 12 months for the fixed ones yields the base budget
amount. Inflation is added (Columns G and H) to take into account nor-
mal price increases developing during the budget year. Typically, inflation
rates will be provided whether in the budget guidelines document or by
staff in materials management or purchasing. The final budget amount is
determined by combining the inflation amount (Column H) and the base
budget amount (Column I). Figure 6.5 displays a completed spreadsheet.
In this illustration, those expense items deemed to be fixed are marked
with an (F) and the variable ones with a (V). The best person to determine

| ey et e e ey e (S e [ P ] i [y T [ R
1 Base Period | Amount per | Budgeted |Base Budget Intlation Buaget
| Expense Account |Base Amount|  Unns | Unithdonth | Units | Amount infiation Rate| Amount |  Amount
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=
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Figure 6.4

A worksheet for developing a budget for supplies and services.
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Base Period | Amount per Budgeted |Base Budget Inflation Budget
|| ExpenseAccount  |BaseAmount|  Unis | UnivMonth |  Units | Amount |inflation Rate| Amount | Amount
|2 ofice Supplies (F) | seso00 8 $5000.00] 12 $60,000 10%) $6,000  $66,000
'3 menical Supplies (v) | 1sno0d 3 oad| 20,00/ 21900 438,000 10%) 43500, 481,800
[ a_soumons (v) I 13s000 300 15.00] 21900 328,500 10%) 32850 361,350
| "5 maintenance (F) ] 15,000 s 300000 12| 36,000 10%] 3,600/ 39,600
"6 conwract Sevices (F) | 6,000 3 120000 12 14,400 10%) 1,440] 15,840
|7_stock Drugs {v) | 1os000 9,006 11.67 21,900 255,500 10%] 25,550 281,050
|8 Books and Pericdicals (F) | 5,000 s 100000 12| 12,000 10%) 1,200] 13,200
|8 muiscetianeous {F) [ 10,000 s 200000 12 24,000 10%) 2,400 26,400
[0 Touais | $481,000 | [ | 51,168,400 | snesa0 si.285240
Figure 6.5

A completed supplies and services budget worksheet.

if an expense item is fixed or variable is the department manager—the
person with the best sense of how the item behaves given a variety of busi-
ness situations.

BASE PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

Exercise caution when selecting data for the base period. Guard against
situations that could invalidate the data and cause budget calculations to
be inaccurate. An adjustment to the base period may be necessary before
using it for budget calculations. Thus, it is important to examine the actual
expenditure amounts in the base period. Make sure they are representative.
This is particularly important with those accounts that are charged with an
expense only once or twice a year. An example would be the maintenance
expense shown in Figure 6.5. The budget was based on the assumption that
the $15,000 was an amount representative of the five months in the base
period. If this were not the case, and the $15,000 expense was incurred for
the entire year, but paid in a single lump sum payment at the start of the
fiscal year, the initial, pre-inflation budget of $36,000 would be overstated
since only $15,000 would be necessary.

The following three situations can be particularly troublesome.

The unusual month. The base period may contain one or more months
in which events occurred that are not likely to be repeated in the budget
year. Start-up expenses, items billed and paid for once a year, one-time
expenditures, and a one-time cost avoidance or credit are examples of
financial events that could be reflected in the base period.

Normalization. Occasionally, a base period is selected that does not
fully represent the current, ongoing operation. Perhaps the prior 12-month
base period was absent the full effect of a new program that had added or
reduced expenses on an ongoing basis. The base period may not include
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staff who have yet to be brought on or other changes that will be instituted
between the time the budget calculations are made and the new budget
begins.

Seasonal patterns. Be careful in selecting the base period for any expense
category that is affected by seasonal patterns. Utility costs, for example,
are particularly vulnerable to seasonal highs and lows. Institutions that
air-condition their facilities using electrical centrifugal chillers will have
higher electric bills in the summer than in the winter. Use of a base period
heavily weighted toward the summer months will result in too high an
electricity budget. Conversely, the use of a base period heavily weighted
toward the winter months will likely result in too low an electricity bud-
get. Because resource needs should be budgeted as accurately as possible,
accurate, representative base periods are essential. A calculation resulting
in too high a budget is just as bad as one resulting in too low a budget. In
both cases resource allocation decisions elsewhere in the organization are
influenced by the erroneous calculations. Consider the effect on an institu-
tion that overestimates its utility budget by $2 million. Elsewhere in the
institution, a needed program may be deferred because sufficient budget
resources are not available. Then, months into the budget, when actual
utility use is running well below budget and the error becomes apparent,
it may be too late to implement the new program. Competitive advantage
and market position may be adversely affected.

NOTE

1. “Executive Briefing: The Value of Time in Healthcare,” TeleTracking Tech-
nologies Inc., 2013.
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Chapter 7

THE CAPITAL BUDGET

Capital budgeting, which includes equipment and facility renovations,
customarily takes place as part of the annual budgeting process. It involves
integration of the short-term and long-term operating needs of the organi-
zation with regard to equipment acquisition and renovations. By consider-
ing the goals and objectives in the annual plan and the three-to-five year
business plan, resources are not consumed in acquiring equipment that is
not consistent with these objectives. By definition, equipment dealt with in
this budget has an acquisition cost in excess of a stated dollar amount (per-
haps $1,000—as determined by each organization) and has a life of more
than one year. The cost of this equipment is not charged to an expense
account. It is carried on the balance sheet and depreciated over the course
of its life.

CAPITAL ACQUISITION

The acquisition of capital equipment and renovation projects should occur
via one of three possible methods: as part of the annual plan, as part of a
multi-year or strategic capital plan, or as a response to a developing busi-
ness opportunity.

Part of the annual plan. This is the normal approach to capital equip-
ment budgeting for new items, replacement equipment for older, worn-out
pieces or pieces that have become technologically obsolescent, and reno-
vations to the physical plant. Renovations can result from a need to refresh
cosmetically or modernize space, improve functionality, or provide for
a new or expanded function. Acquisitions and renovations made as part
of the annual plan must be consistent with the organization’s strategic
plan. If the strategic plan envisions the replacement of monitoring sys-
tems throughout the critical care units in 20X3 and 20X4 with Brand
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A equipment, the short-term goal must support that. In 20X2, it would
not be prudent to acquire monitors that are incompatible with Brand A.
Whatever actions are taken in the short term must be complementary and
supportive of the long-term plan.

Typically, a capital equipment budget begins with establishing at the
highest level of the organization a “not to exceed” amount and the chal-
lenge is to fit as much equipment into that total as is possible. It means that
all the requests are unlikely to be approved. Some will be funded, some
will be deferred to the following year, and some will be rejected.

Part of a multi-year plan. Certain pieces of high-cost, high-technology
equipment lend themselves to a longer-range approach. Typically these
included pieces of equipment for radiology, the laboratory, and the IT
departments.

Table 7.1 displays a capital equipment budget that integrates the short-
and long-term thinking necessary to budget successfully. Note that the
first call on dollars goes to scheduled replacements. Rather than replace

Table 7.1
Strategic Equipment Plan

XYZ Healthcare Company

Strategic Capital Equipment Budget

Year1 Year2 Year3 Year4 Year5

Description ($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s)
Programmed replacements $4383 $550  $600 $650  $1,700
Minor equipment (<$50,000) 407 450 500 550 1,600
Major equipment (>$50,000)

Unspecified 3,500 3,750 4,000 5,250
ICU monitoring—nursing 1,195

Laser—ophthalmology 125

Kitchen equipment 65

Cardiac cath lab 1,875

Surveillance system—security 188

Contingency 150 200 250 300 350

Imaging center
Multi-year replacement plan 3,237 3,500 1,250 9,125 2,900
Funding set aside 275 600 3,350 4,225

Total $8,000 $8,800 $9,700 $10,400 $11,800
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all of the anesthesia machines in 20X1, all the dialysis machines in 20X2,
the ventilators in 20X3, and so on, a predetermined number of each are
replaced every year as part of an ongoing renewal program. Next come
minor acquisitions, those costing less than an organization-specific
amount—in this case, $50,000. Major acquisitions, costing more than the
organization-specific amount, are listed on an item-by-item basis. These
are followed by a small amount of contingency dollars to allow some
latitude to the organization’s leadership in taking advantage of develop-
ing opportunities that may not wait for next year’s budget or to provide
“insurance” in the event that a piece of equipment must be replaced on an
emergency basis.

Last in this example, a department with high-priced equipment needs,
radiology, is listed. Two lines are used. The first indicates the amounts
needed in each of the five years covered by the plan. The second indi-
cates that over the first three years of the plan funds will be set aside to
ensure that enough cash will be available in year four, when the largest
single-year outlay (greater than the entire year’s budget) is scheduled. In
this way, the excess funds that otherwise might be spent in year one, two,
and three are safeguarded, there are no surprises in 20X4, and all neces-
sary equipment can be acquired.

It should be noted that while major modifications to existing buildings
or the construction of new ones should also be considered in the context
of long-term planning, they are usually not included in the strategic capital
equipment plan, but rather in a separate plan that receives separate board
scrutiny. This is because such projects typically involve significantly larger
sums of money than do minor renovation projects and require additional
up-front work such as financial and regulatory feasibility studies, certifi-
cate of need acquisition in certain cases, and architectural and engineering
studies. A separate facility redevelopment budget may be used for these
major projects.

Response to a business opportunity. Occasionally, an opportunity
arises outside the normal planning process. This usually takes the form
of an opportunity to improve financial performance by lowering the cost
of operations or increasing the ability to generate and collect revenue.
Examples include pieces of equipment that reduce labor and supply costs
(automated equipment that saves worker time and effort) or that pro-
vide additional capacity to treat patients (a new scheduling system that
increases the number of patient visits to a clinic). In addition, the opportu-
nity to acquire a major piece of equipment at a substantially reduced price
occasionally presents itself. This, too, would be included in this business
opportunity category.
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THE QUESTIONING TECHNIQUE

The acquisition of equipment or the renovation of the physical plant
involves the commitment of large sums of money—a resource that hos-
pitals, nursing homes, and other health care providers are finding to be
in scarce supply. Consequently, it is important that every piece of equip-
ment and every renovation represent the best possible choice. One way to
increase the likelihood of this is to ask questions, many questions, in order
to develop as much understanding and factual information as possible as
part of the decision-making process.

At the department level, where the request for a piece of equipment
or a renovation is most likely to originate, questions should focus on the
following: the effect on volume (additions, reductions, or substitutions);
the likely changes to revenue and collections (payment caps like global
budgets and experimental technologies must be taken into account); the
impact on operating costs (more or fewer staff, changes in supply type
and costs, maintenance requirements, etc.); and the profile of installa-
tion costs (special electrical requirements, possible modifications to the
heating, venting, and air conditioning (HVAC) system, etc.). A more
detailed list of questions to be considered as part of the original deci-
sion and justification process at the department level is presented in
Table 7.2.

Questions should also be asked regarding the availability of the equip-
ment and any supportive pieces, along with the amount of lead time to build
into an acquisition schedule. Delivery and installation should be dovetailed
with the schedule of any associated renovations in order to avoid the deliv-
ery of equipment before its physical environment is prepared. Depending
on the particular piece of equipment, it is possible that significant cost
could be incurred for storage while construction progresses. It is also pos-
sible that the unavailability of a particular brand in time to meet a program
deadline could result in a decision to pursue a different manufacturer’s
offering. A number of questions need to be asked throughout the process.
Will the equipment, system, or renovation “work”? Are the projections
and assumptions about cost and revenue performance sound? Does the
new piece of equipment or technology represent a genuine improvement
or simply the latest fad; merely the addition of a few “bells and whistles”?
Can the organization afford not to proceed with acquisition? What are
the intangibles (image, marketability, mission, etc.) that can influence the
decision-making process? Occasionally, the decision to proceed may rest
on the answer to one or more of these questions.



Table 7.2
Questions in Search of Answers

Volume questions

What is the effect on units of service volume?

Will additional units of volume be generated?

Will volume be reduced?

Will there be increases in some and decreases in others?

Will volume change in departments other than the one requesting the
equipment or renovations?

Will incremental volume attributable to the new equipment exceed the
department’s capacity?

Revenue and collections questions

What is the effect of the change in volume on gross revenue? Inpatient
revenue? Outpatient revenue? Ancillary revenue?

What changes will there be to revenues in departments other than the
requesting department?

How much of any incremental revenue will be collected?

What effect will reimbursement methodologies such as global budgets or
case-based reimbursement have on revenues and collections?

Will prices be modified because of the change in volume?

Will prices be increased to afford the requested acquisition?

How much of any incremental revenue will be realized in a cost
reimbursement environment? In a rate-controlled environment?

Will the new equipment improve the collection of revenue?

Will any incremental revenue be deemed to be “experimental” by third-party
payers? If not covered by insurance, at what rate will incremental revenues be
collected?

Operating cost questions

What additions, reductions, or changes to the staff complement will be needed
to support the new piece of equipment?

What kinds of skills must incremental staff possess?

Are staff available internally or must they be recruited from outside the
organization?

Will labor market shortages compromise the ability to recruit staff?

Must staff be specially trained? If so, on-site or at a remote location?

If a reduction in staff is involved because of an equipment-related productivity
issue, will attrition or a layoff be used to reduce the workforce?

In a unionized environment, what will be the effect of contractually
guaranteed “bumping” rights (for staff reductions) and with the promotional
bid system (for staff additions)?

(continued)
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Table 7.2 (continued)

* If a layoff “bump” is involved, what will be the likely effect on other
departments?

* Do supply costs increase, decrease, or remain the same?

* Who will maintain the equipment?

* Are replacement and maintenance parts readily available?

Infrastructure questions

* How easy is it to install the requested equipment?

* Will the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC, and other facility
infrastructure components support it?

* Is sufficient space available?

* What will installation cost?

* Is the staff sophisticated enough to use the equipment to its full potential?

* Are there any staff behaviors that may influence the decision?

Broad organizational questions

* Does the requested equipment fit the mission of the organization?

¢ Does it create new or expand existing market opportunities?

* Is it consistent with the strategic plan?

* Does it demonstrate improved quality and/or patient safety?

* Does it fill a gap in the care continuum?

* Are the financial and business projections sound?

* Does this represent good science?

* Is the new equipment better than what it is replacing?

* Can the organization afford not to acquire this equipment?

* What value does the new equipment add to the organization and its staff and
patients?

* What are the clinical, operational, and financial impacts?

Sometimes, asking the tough questions can be difficult. Often they
appear to challenge authority, but they must be asked. Prefacing the ques-
tions, as described previously, with a phrase such as “Let me play dev-
il’s advocate” can shift the onus from the one asking the questions to an
unnamed third party.

Finally, at the top of the organization, there should be a post-acquisition
review to see how the decision process can be improved in the future.
In addition, reviewing the information provided by the requesting party
as part of the decision process can be helpful in learning which request-
ers are believable and which are not. This closes the loop in the process
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of planning, implementing, and assessing. In this capital “postmortem,”
questions should center on the assessment of the process. Were the origi-
nal assumptions correct? Did the projected volume materialize? Were the
various financial analyses sound? Could anything have been done bet-
ter? Where could improvements have been made? Last, the most difficult
question to ask is, where did the decision process go wrong and how can
that be remedied? It is also important to understand the positive aspects of
the process and repeat them in subsequent years.

By following up after the fact, it is possible to learn from the mistakes
of the past and avoid them in the future. Mistakes can be a valuable learn-
ing tool but only if people learn from them.

CAPITAL BUDGET REVIEW COMMITTEE

Many institutions use a committee structure to review all requests for
equipment and renovations. Separate committees may review equipment
and renovations, or a single committee may review both. The committees
can be standing with members appointed for rotating, multi-year terms
to assure continuity, or they can be set up on an ad hoc basis each year.
Regardless, this group reviews each request and attempts to match avail-
able resources with departmental requests. But this is more than a simple
matching exercise. The committee reviews each request to determine the
level of need, the “fit” of the request compared to the departmental and
organizational objectives, applicability to the capital budget (some requests
should more appropriately be charged to the operating budget), and, finally,
a sense of funding priority (at a minimum, an A/B/C categorization).

Giving the committee the charge to shape the final list is a significant
delegation from the top of the organization. The committee members often
must deal with organizational politics. They put in a lot of time and effort
to get the job done right, to make the best possible recommendations, and
to balance everyone’s needs and wants with the organization’s available
funds. Given their level of commitment, it is not prudent to alter their rec-
ommended list. For example, if they provide a list that totals $8 million for
an $8 million budget, it would not be prudent for the CEO to undermine
their work by changing the items on the list, adding some and deleting
others. Such action would demoralize the members and they would be
less likely to put in the hard work the next year. If the CEO wants to make
some modifications to the list, it would be better to give the committee a
target of $7 million, thereby holding $1 million as a CEO reserve. Then
the CEO can add items without undoing the efforts of the committee.
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The budgeting process begins with a departmental request. It then proceeds
to review by the committee. If a decision is made to approve the request, a
recommendation will be made to the leadership of the organization. Finally,
approval is sought from the governing board. This can be seen more clearly
by referring to Figure 7.1, which highlights the process of approval.

Decisions are usually based on a review of information supplied by
the requesting department and the knowledge of the organization that the
committee members bring with them to the review process.

While the structure of the review committee or committees differs from
organization to organization, one thing is certain: its membership should

Departmental
Requests

Capital Review
Committee

Committee Rejected Items
Recommendations

Approved Items

Executive Leadership
Review

l

Governing Board
Approval

Figure 7.1
A multidisciplinary Capital Review Committee best serves the capital bud-
geting process.
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be broad based and include, at a minimum, a representative of admin-
istration, finance, nursing, the medical staff, engineering, and materials
management. It should be large enough so there are enough hands to get
the job done but not so large as to be ineffective. Every discipline need
not be represented. Rather, internal “consultants” can be used for certain
pieces or classes of equipment. The committee should be charged with
the responsibility to review all requests and the authority to reject those
that it feels are not deserving of funding via the capital budget. This com-
mittee, too, should ask the “tough” questions and should complete the
process with a follow-up to determine what aspects of its review should
be strengthened, modified, or eliminated in future years.

THE REVIEW PROCESS

While each piece of equipment requested by the various departments is
likely to be different, all will possess certain attributes that can be used
by the review committee to facilitate the decision-making process. These
attributes include the following:

1. The sphere of use

a. Direct patient care
b. Indirect patient care

c. Administrative
2. Financial effect

a. Cost improvement

b. Revenue enhancement
3. Service effect

a. Replacement
b. Service expansion
c. Quality or service improvement

d. New service

Knowledge of these attributes is helpful in determining priorities for
funding, especially when the demand for available budget dollars exceeds
supply. Given limited resources, a review committee might opt to fund
only replacement or patient care items. Equipment requested to support a
new service that has been approved in the operating budget might receive
automatic approval.
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Remember that, in essence, this is a competitive environment. Each
department is competing against all the others for limited resource dol-
lars. Thus, the justification accompanying each request is important to the
decision-making process. This information “sells” the review committee
and convinces it that this request, more so than many others, is deserving
of inclusion in the budget. Consequently, the justification must present the
most compelling reasons to allocate scarce resources.

Of all the information provided in the justification, the most impor-
tant may be the financial information: marginal profit and loss analysis,
return on investment analysis, benefit/cost ratio, and the like. Chapter 11
describes these decision-making and investment analysis techniques.

PACKAGING THE REQUEST

Many organizations use a multiform request procedure to collect detailed
information about each piece of equipment requested as well as a depart-
mental summary of requests. The basic equipment request form varies
from one place to the next, but the information it seeks to collect is stan-
dard to all organizations and includes the following:

Requesting department

Cost center or department number

Location

Requested by

Priority (as compared to the other department requests)
Quantity

Model number

Equipment description

A S I

Unit cost

H
e

Sphere of use

[y
—_

. Financial effect

—_
[N}

. Service effect

—
(98]

. Operating budget needs

a. Staff

b. Supplies

c. Training and orientation
d. Routine maintenance

e. Other
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14. Manufacturer (including contact information)
15. Equipment evaluation (yes/no—if yes, by whom and when)
16. Periodic maintenance (yes/no—if yes, in house or vendor)

17. Installation requirements

Electrical
Mechanical
HVAC
Plumbing
Carpentry
Other

-0 a0 o

18. Special installation requirements (e.g., electromagnetic screening)
19. Replacement (yes/no—if yes, information about the item to be replaced)
20. Justification

A separate form may summarize all equipment requests for each
department. It can be thought of as a cover sheet or transmittal form
from the department to the review committee. Such a form would likely
resemble the form displayed in Figure 7.2. These documents are then
sent to the review committee in accordance with a predetermined budget
timetable.

y of Dep it Equi Requests
g D Dy Contact:
Equipment Financial
Type Impact Service Impact
£.1 5| Els £%

> ‘2 §§ % ;g E gg %\‘%g Expe_d_.pﬂ
o : HHIHHE S H
Figure 7.2

A typical summary sheet for departmental equipment requests.
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JUSTIFYING THE REQUEST

Justification for an equipment request is similar in some ways to the pre-
sentation of evidence at a trial. Just as the prosecutor tries to convince a
jury to convict someone, the requesting party must present evidence that
its equipment is worth acquiring. This requires a two-pronged approach:
an objective case and a subjective case. The objective case is made by
thoroughly describing the clinical, operational, and financial impacts the
equipment will have on the organization, its patients, and those who work
for it. The description of the clinical impact should focus on the outcomes
to be achieved, quality of care and patient safety issues, patient through-
put, and changes in satisfaction levels among patients and their friends and
family members and any other changes, hopefully improvements, associ-
ated with clinical care either in the requester’s department or elsewhere
throughout the organization. Operationally, describe how the new equip-
ment will improve operating efficiency, data-gathering accuracy, timeli-
ness, productivity, physical appearance, the patient experience, and so on.
Again, this description should address the requester’s department as well
as the rest of the organization. Finally, the financial impact should be doc-
umented with accurate and comprehensive analyses. Marginal profit and
loss analysis can be used to describe the impact on revenues, expenses,
and profits. Benefit/cost analysis can demonstrate the soundness of an
equipment investment, and breakeven analysis can help provide a sense
of comfort if there is concern that sufficient volume of business may not
materialize to justify the acquisition. A simple calculation of return on
investment (ROI) can, by itself, make the case. All of these analytic meth-
ods are explained in Chapter 11. Remember to “cast a wide net” in pulling
together the description of the various impacts. Since no department acts
in isolation, remember to contact the other departments and solicit their
input. What impact will this equipment have on their clinical performance,
their day-to-day operations, and their financials? Include all of this objec-
tive information in the justification.

While sound decision making is grounded on hard, accurate data,
the willingness to make decisions often can be influenced by the softer
side—the subjective arguments that a requester can make. To continue the
courthouse analogy, this is quite similar to the summation the prosecu-
tor makes to the jury—Ilight on evidence and heavy on emotion. This is
where the requester answers three important questions. How much will
this improve things? Why is it so important? Why should resources be
devoted to this request (as opposed to another one)? This is where passion
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comes into play. This is where the requester should write or present the
compelling arguments that “sways the jury” and win the day. It is here that
anecdotes and vignettes are so important because they flavor the conversa-
tion. They touch on the emotion of decision making. They illustrate and
balance the more objective points that have been made. It is one thing to
speak objectively to the improved outcomes that may result from Technol-
ogy X, but something else entirely to illustrate the impact it will have on
“Little Billy” or how it will transform the life of someone’s grandmother.
Even using photographs of “Little Billy” gleaned from the Internet can be
helpful in developing these emotional arguments.

SELECTION PROCESS

The selection of make and model often depends on the equipment or sys-
tems already present in a department. New infusion pumps must be com-
patible with existing ones. Additions to monitoring systems should be of
the same make as the system already in place.

Sometimes, the manufacturer can be predetermined, but the model or size
has not yet been determined. On other occasions, nothing is predetermined.
In selecting an automated chemistry analyzer, for instance, there may be no
predisposition to make or model, no reason to require compatibility. In a sit-
uation like this, effort must be placed on selecting the “right” piece of equip-
ment. The following step-by-step approach is vital to achieving success.

1. Begin with the development of a detailed, objective set of specifications
outlining what is expected of the equipment. This includes specifica-
tions and expectations not only for the equipment but also for its envi-
ronment, cost performance, personnel impact, and so on. An acquisition
cost target should be included.

2. A review of the literature (trade publications, professional journals, and
sales brochures) will facilitate the development of a list of potential ven-
dors and pieces of equipment for further consideration.

3. A detailed comparison of product features with the predetermined spec-
ifications should serve to trim the list of potential candidates. Only those
pieces of equipment that meet all, or substantially all, of the specifica-
tions should remain in the running.

4. Site visits to see similar products in operation in a similar environment
(same size operation, same operating constraints and challenges, etc.)
should be arranged. In many cases, equipment manufacturers will assist
with this. In addition, interviews with current users and with colleagues
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at other institutions can be most helpful. Do not forget the actual work-
ers who will use the equipment; one or two of them should be included
on the site visit team.

5. An in-house demonstration or trial can sometimes be arranged. This is
one of the best methods of determining if a product will “work” in the
organization. Product acceptance can be tied to meeting certain perfor-
mance criteria (number of tests per hour, etc.) as a way of guaranteeing
that the equipment meets the organization’s specific needs and that the
manufacturer’s claims are legitimate.

Remember to buy only what is truly needed. Do not consume scarce
resources by acquiring the latest “bells and whistles” that may never be used.
Remember to buy what is necessary, not what the salesman wants to sell.

Finally, consistency in the decision process is a virtue. Looking at the
same kind of data, using analysis consistently, and asking the same ques-
tions in evaluation requests allow all to know how best to prepare the sub-
missions. The capital budget and the operating budget should be thoroughly
integrated so that the staff and supplies needed to operate a piece of equip-
ment acquired in the capital budget are provided for in the operating bud-
get. In the same way, any new staff member provided for via the operating
budget should have the equipment he or she needs via the capital budget.

How embarrassing would it be to acquire a new scanner only to find that
the radiology department’s expense budget provided no staff to operate it?
While integration of these budgets may seem simple, occasionally they are
prepared separately with separate timetables. Two different members of the
executive team (e.g., the CFO and COO) may oversee the different budgets,
and this, too, can make integration difficult. It is also important to make
sure that the items in the capital budget complement and support each other.
Including new carpet in the main hallways of the hospital but omitting the
necessary carpet cleaning equipment to maintain it would not be wise.

MAKING BALANCED DECISIONS

Whether equipment decisions are made by a committee, by the CEO or
COO, or by the broader executive team, it is important that they be bal-
anced. Both the clinical imperative and the business reality need to be taken
into consideration as decisions are made. This can be done by combining
a financial measure such as the benefit/cost ratio with achievement of the
clinical and operational objectives. One way to do this is to use a subjective
ranking system for consistency with the clinical and operational objectives
combined with the very objective benefit/cost ratio ranking of each request.



THE CAPITAL BUDGET 155

Ranking consistency with the clinical and operational objectives can be
done using a nominal group technique or a Delphi method that can achieve
consensus. Unanimity is not needed and, in fact, it may not be achievable.
A general consensus is sufficient. Rank each item for its consistency with
the organization’s objectives on a five-point Likert scale:

Extremely inconsistent
Inconsistent
Neither consistent nor inconsistent

Consistent

A

Extremely consistent

After a couple of iterations, general consensus should be achieved.
While this is a subjective evaluation, the iterations and the fact that it con-
cludes with a consensus decision make it a valid approach. The benefit/
cost ratio, on the other hand, is an objective evaluation. Using the two
evaluation rankings can lead to a decision that properly considers the clin-
ical imperative and the business reality.

As displayed in Figure 7.3, a grid can be developed on which to plot
the evaluations using the vertical axis for the subjective evaluation and the
horizontal evaluation.

Critical to Clinical and Strategic Objectives

3

Low / No i E High
Profitability Profitability

Not Critical to Clinical and Strategic Objectives

Figure 7.3
An equipment decision grid displays options in one of four quadrants based
on their strategic and financial characteristics.
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Table 7.3

Equipment Decision Scores

Equipment Item Consistency with Objectives Benefit/Cost Ratio
Item A 5 1.56
Item B 4 1.43
Item C 5 0.88
Item D 3 0.95
Item E 1 0.86
Item F 1 0.77
Item G 2 1.25
Item H 2 1.08

Note: A benefit/cost ratio greater than 1.00 indicates positive profit performance. A ratio less than 1.00
indicates negative performance.

The various items being considered can be plotted using the two evalu-
ation ratings just as the grid coordinates are used on a road map to find
points of interest. Those items that are more consistent with the objectives
are in the top half and the ones less consistent go in the bottom half. Simi-
larly, the ones with a high benefit/cost ratio goon the right side of the verti-
cal dividing line, while those with low benefit/cost rations go on the left.
Consider the eight items shown in Table 7.3 that are being reviewed for
possible inclusion in the coming year’s capital budget. The committee has
performed a subjective evaluation that has provided a consistency score.
The committee’s finance representative has performed the necessary ben-
efit/cost analysis to provide each of the eight items with a finance score.

Figure 7.4 displays the plot of these items on the equipment decision
grid. Note that Items A and Item B are in the upper right quadrant because
they have both high consistency scores and high benefit/cost scores. At the
other extreme, Item E and Item F have low consistency scores and their
benefit/cost scores are less than 1.00.

This approach does not tell which items to buy or not buy. Rather, it pro-
vides a construct that can help the decision-making process when there are
not sufficient resources to accommodate all requests. The decision makers
may decide to acquire Items A and B because of their scores. Then, they may
decide to pursue Items G and H, which have lower consistency scores but are
profitable. Then, the profits could be used to acquire Items C and D, which
are not profitable, but are consistent. The point is this approach provides
context for decision making as opposed to a decision. It gives those making
the decisions valuable insight into the two critical performance issues.
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Critical to Clinical and Strategic Objectives

3

(C) (A)

Low/No D) High
Profitability — _ Profitability

y

Not Critical to Clinical and Strategic Objectives

Figure 7.4
Eight potential acquisitions have been arrayed on this equipment decision
grid.

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Once the decision to proceed has been made, the issue of paying for the
acquisition must be addressed. A source of funds must be identified. In
some cases, only the staff in the finance department can identify the funds
(e.g., leasing or borrowing), while in other cases, the department leader-
ship may be better suited to this task (e.g., obtaining a grant). The follow-
ing are sources of funds that organizations can consider to support capital
equipment acquisitions.

Retained earnings. The historic financial strength of an organization
is reflected in its earnings over time. In the for-profit world, these profits
accumulate as retained earnings, profits (earnings) that are retained in the
company over time. This accumulated financial strength can be the basis
of acquiring equipment. It is the source of the annual capital budget’s “not
to exceed” amount.

Cash from operations. Every business generates cash from its day-to-
day operations. The amount of cash generally exceeds the bottom-line
profit and can be roughly estimated by adding back the depreciation
expense used to determine the profit amount. Table 7.4 demonstrates this
by first recalculating the profit without using depreciation expense and
then via a simplified estimation approach.
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Table 7.4
Estimating Cash from Operations
Profit as Reported Cash Only Profit

Revenue $4,000,000 $4,000,000
Salaries $2,500,000 $2,500,000
Benefits 500,000 500,000
Supplies 800,000 800,000
Services 100,000 100,000
Depreciation 50,000
Interest 10,000 10,000
Total $3.960,000 $3,910,000
Profit or (loss) $40,000 $90,000

Simplified approach
Profit or (loss) $40,000
Add back depreciation 50,000
Cash from operations $90,000

Cash from the investment itself. Some pieces of equipment generate
profits and cash so quickly that they can repay the original investment
within just a few months. Holter monitors, for example, can pay back the
original investment before the fiscal year in which they are acquired ends,
thus recycling the budget funds for other equipment. While not all equip-
ment work this way, it is possible to take advantage of this phenomenon
from time to time.

Philanthropy and endowments. Gifts from grateful patients and other
benefactors represent a major source of funds to support equipment acqui-
sition. These gifts come in several categories. General, unrestricted phil-
anthropic gifts may be used at the discretion of the recipient. They can
be used for equipment purchases, facility renovations, and so on and for
any service or department. Restricted gifts may be used only for the pur-
pose intended and specified by the donor. Monies thus received may, for
example, be restricted to the purchase of a specific lab instrument or for
the renovations associated with labor and delivery. They may be restricted
to use by a named individual, a scientist or department head. Or, they may
be restricted for use in a specified service line or department.

An endowment is a gift that cannot actually be spent. It is intended to
provide a fund (called the corpus) that will provide an income stream that,
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in turn, can be used for a specified purpose. Many people are familiar with
these, having heard of an endowed professorship at a university. Endow-
ments, however, can also provide general support for an organization or
a department within a large organization. In some cases, individuals are
solicited to donate to a particular endowment fund which will be used for
general support for the organization. Another way in which an endow-
ment fund can provide support is that the organization may be allowed to
borrow from its endowment fund. The interest paid is considered a source
of income to the fund. In a sense, the interest payments are “kept in the
family.” While many think that philanthropy is only for the wealthy, the
reality is that the majority of the funds associated with charitable giving
are the small donations ($10, $50, $100, etc. made by “regular” folks who
are passionate about one thing or another and wish to provide some finan-
cial support.

Grant funds. Grants represent another potential source of funds. These
can be from the government (federal, state, and local political jurisdictions)
or from private foundations like the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation.
Generally, they are quite specific as to their use and carry more restrictions
than generalized philanthropy. A federal grant, for example, may limit the
coverage of individual researchers—either limiting the total amount of
salary they will pay or limiting the percentage of effort they will support.
And unlike generalized philanthropy, grants carry specific accounting and
reporting requirements. Some grants are competitively awarded. Applica-
tions for National Institutes of Health grants are peer reviewed and given
a funding priority score. Funding cuts off after a certain priority score is
reached. Other federal agencies also provide funds for projects that align
with their basic missions. Similarly, state and local governments may be a
source of funding, albeit in smaller monetary amounts.

Finally, private foundations can be approached to provide funding. The
request must be in line with the foundation’s stated aims (AIDS research,
children’s health, etc.) and meet certain application requirements. The
website of a specific foundation will provide the right information for
applying. It is also possible to search the web to find foundations that have
an interest in a specific area of health care or research.

Manufacturer financing. When it comes to acquiring equipment, manu-
facturers can provide a variety of options from an outright donation of
small pieces of equipment to debt financing. Most manufacturers have
a financing arm, which can lend money at competitive rates to organiza-
tions to use the cash to purchase equipment from the company. This is
quite similar to buying a car and financing it through Ford Motor Credit or
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GMAC Financing instead of a bank. In this way, the manufacturer reaps
all the rewards (profits from the sale as well as profits from the financing)
and may be induced to lower the purchase price. It may also be easier to
borrow from a manufacturer than from a bank, depending on the financial
condition of the acquiring organization.

Depending on the product development needs of an equipment devel-
oper, there may be a willingness to enter into a joint venture with a provider
organization and in so doing make it possible for a financially challenged
provider to get the very latest (sometimes referred to as the “bleeding
edge”) technology. The provider wants a new technology and the devel-
oper needs a site to test the technology. The provider offers its site and
the developer provides the equipment either at no cost or at a significantly
reduced cost. Both parties benefit from the arrangement. It is not for all,
but it has potential for some organizations.

Vendors are also willing to provide equipment as part of what is com-
monly called a reagent rental contract. In this arrangement, the provider
organization agrees to purchase a specific quantity of reagents at a price that
is guaranteed over the multi-year life of the contract. In exchange, the vendor
provides the equipment on which to use its reagents and supplies. The pro-
vider benefits via a lock-in of reagent and supply prices over time, the avoid-
ance of a large cash outlay for equipment, and the ability to update to the
latest version of the technology at the end of the contract. The vendor ben-
efits from the guaranteed long-term cash stream that the contracts provide.

Borrowing. When deemed necessary, cash can be borrowed from a bank
at approximately the prime interest rate or through the issuance of bonds.
Important here is the ability to repay the borrowed funds using “tomor-
row’s” cash from operations. Borrowing has an effect on the organizations
financial ratio; this, too, must be taken into account. It is possible that
this option cannot be used because the institution has exhausted its debt
capacity (the ability to borrow based on the demonstrated, mathematically
calculated ability to repay) or because that capacity is being reserved for
a more important need.

Leasing arrangements. Often an attractive funding alternative for
equipment acquisition, leases can be entered into with an equipment man-
ufacturer or one of its subsidiary companies, or via a third-party leas-
ing company. Many issues must be examined when selecting this funding
option, not the least of which are changing technologies and equipment
obsolescence, ownership at the conclusion of the lease, possible tax ben-
efits, and so on. Polices should not be entered into without a thorough
legal and financial review at the highest level of the organization.
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Two different kinds of leases are available to support acquisition. A cap-
ital lease impacts the balance sheet of the organization with the equipment
listed with the fixed assets and the total of lease payments reflected as
long-term debt. An operating lease impacts the profit and loss statement,
and its rent payments are shown in the operating expense section. Be care-
ful to consult with the staff in finance because choosing an operating lease
with its impact on long-term debt may place the organization in default on
its other long-term debt obligations.

A lease is considered a capital lease if the following conditions apply:

* alease term greater than 75% of the equipment’s estimated life,

e an option to purchase the equipment for less than fair market value is
provided,

» ownership of the property transfers to the lessee at the end of the lease
term, or

¢ the present value of the lease payments exceeds 90% of the fair market
value of the property.

A lease is considered an operating lease if the lessee acquires the equip-
ment for only a small portion of its useful life.

Caution should be exercised before entering into a lease because of
the effect lease payments have on the future. It is possible to benefit the
current year at the expense of the future. Table 7.5 shows an example of
leasing as a constraint on the future. With a limited capital equipment
budget in 20X1, the organization turned to capital leasing to “stretch” its

Table 7.5
Effect of Leasing on the Future ($000s)

Fiscal Years

20X1  20X2  20X3  20Xx4

Maximum available capital budget funds $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000
Deductions:

Amount committed to lease #1 (300) (300) (300) (300)
Amount committed to lease #2 (400) (400) (400)
Amount committed to lease #3 (500) (500)
Amount committed to lease #4 (600)

Remaining available capital budget funds $1,700 $1,300 $800 $200
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available capital dollars. In effect, it acquired a $1 million piece of equip-
ment for a much smaller annual lease payment. It did the same in 20X2
and 20X3. By the time 20X4 arose, however, the capital budget funds are
nearly exhausted. Capital leases can also constrain an organization’s abil-
ity to borrow money because a capital lease is a form of borrowing and as
such it eats into debt capacity.

For department managers, understanding whether a lease is a capital lease
or an operating lease is essential. With a capital lease, the payments would
come from the capital budget, as shown in Table 7.5. With an operating
lease, the payments are charged to the expense budget, and an appropriate
amount should be provided in the operating budget to cover those payments.

Cash on the balance sheet. Three accounts on the balance sheet of
the organization seeking to acquire the equipment can be thought of as
sources of cash: accounts receivable, inventory, and accounts payable. The
amount of cash will improve if the accounts receivable can be collected
faster, if the amount invested in inventory can be reduced, and if the bills
(the accounts payable) can be paid more slowly. The best way to visualize
this is to think of the accounts receivable as cash that can either be owed to
the organization or paid to the organization. If it takes 120 days to collect
the bills and that amount of time can be reduced, a one-time addition to
cash can be generated. Table 7.6 shows the impact of these three accounts.

Using the hypothetical account balances in the table, if the receivables
can be collected in 85 days as opposed to 120 days, the organization will
generate cash faster and will add over $5 million to its cash balance. The
same thing happens if the inventory can be reduced. Since it has a value of
about $58,000 for every day, a reduction to 15 days, which will still leave
more than two weeks’ supplies on the shelves, had the potential to gener-
ate almost $2 million in added cash. Similarly, if the payment of bills can
be stretched out so they are paid in 30 days as opposed to 15 days, over
$9 million can be generated. The values for every organization will be dif-
ferent, but the effect is the same.

Off the balance sheet. This approach to acquiring assets is usually
restricted to facility acquisition and involves another organization act-
ing as a surrogate. To illustrate, assume that Memorial General Hospital
wishes to erect a 100,000 square foot physician office building but does
not have the financial strength to do so and lacks the debt capacity to bor-
row the funds. It approaches a real estate developer who agrees to build
the building and rent the space to Memorial. In this way, the hospital gets
the benefit of a building, but it is not on its balance sheet (thus the term
off-balance-sheet financing).
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Combinations. For larger projects like a new facility, a combination of
funding methods will likely be pursued. In all likelihood, the major source
of funds would be debt—borrowed money. But any and all of the financ-
ing options previously described can be used in combination to provide
the funding to complete the project.

STRETCHING LIMITED FUNDS

Even when alternative funding sources are identified and employed, the
need arises to stretch the money, and several means are available to do
so. Many organizations use sealed bid pricing to obtain the best price and
terms from vendors. Some even use aggressive equipment consultants to
negotiate significant discounts that individual organizations may not be
capable of achieving.

Phasing the installation of certain systems can result in spreading the
cash outlays over a period of time, perhaps years. In this way the capital
budget funds for more than the current year can be applied to the acquisi-
tion. Monitoring systems are particularly receptive to this approach. Simi-
larly, some pieces of equipment can be purchased in the current budget
year, but some of the peripherals can be deferred to a subsequent year
when more money is available.

It is also possible to purchase refurbished equipment at a fraction of the
cost of new items. Laboratory instruments, portable x-rays and ultrasound
units, ventilators, sterilizers, and countless other pieces of “previously
owned” equipment are available from a number of vendors who have been
in business for many years. The refurbished units come with warranties,
liability insurance, and so on. These same vendors will rent equipment of
all sorts with a variety of terms.

Because capital equipment items are associated with the balance sheet,
there is no specific year to which items and transactions are assigned, as
is the case with revenue and expense items. Because of this, if sufficient
funds are not available in one fiscal year, but are available in the following
fiscal year, the equipment can be purchased late in the first fiscal year and
the funds from both years can be used for the purchase.

Finally, when faced with a critical shortage of funds for capital items,
the priorities of the entire capital budget can be reexamined. This is one of
the reasons that capital equipment committees should prioritize their final
list of acquisitions. Those items with low priority score (using an A/B/C
methodology) can be deferred and the remaining funds concentrated on
the A and B items.
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One of the biggest challenges managers face, especially those with less
than a year or so of managerial experience, is that there is no guarantee
that a request, even one supported by the finest objective data and analysis
and enhanced by powerful emotional arguments, will be approved. If there
is no money, there will be no approval. In a situation like this, a manager
must be somewhat satisfied knowing he or she did the best job possible in
preparing the request and then focus on helping the organization achieve
its objectives.

CONSTRAINTS

There are always constraints on any process or venture. In capital equip-
ment budgeting, one major constraint is the availability of funds. This
determines the upper dollar limit for the budget. Throughout the process,
success depends on everyone involved being aware of these limits. It is
also essential that as many people as practical be involved so that a sense
of participation in, ownership of, and support for the decision-making pro-
cess will result. The objective is to give everyone a fair hearing. The true
test of whether the process is working is if a manager who has had his or
her request denied can say “I told them what I needed. I understood the
constraints they were operating under, and I feel they treated me fairly.
Maybe next year I will have better results.”

As a reviewer, never put people off or ignore them. Always listen atten-
tively. Remember, a piece of equipment that a reviewer thinks is unim-
portant may be the most important in the eyes of the person requesting
it. Listen to people. Give them 15 or 20 minutes. At least extend them
the courtesy of hearing their issues, problems, and concerns. It may turn
out that they foresee a real opportunity for the organization that no one
previously recognized. Consider that it is better to tame a wild horse than
to ride a dead one. Dead horses have a tendency to just lie there, going
nowhere. Wild horses on the other hand have a high energy level. They
do a lot of wrong things, but they are very much alive, and they perform
really well once they have been tamed. When someone has a far-out idea
about equipment or renovations, listen to it. It may turn out to be the wild
horse that will outperform someone else’s dead one.
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Chapter 8

THE CASH BUDGET

The final of the three main organizational budgets may be the most impor-
tant of all—the cash budget. It is prepared by the chief financial officer
(CFO) and the finance staff. While department managers are not involved
directly in its preparation, they can exert significant influence over its suc-
cess. The cash budget deals with the money flowing into and out of the
organization—the working capital—the lifeblood of any organization. In
many respects, this budget is analogous to a personal household budget:
money coming in from wages, interest on bank accounts, sale of a used
car and money going out for groceries, mortgage payments, retirement
investments, tuition, and so on.

CASH INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS

Cash comes into an organization from three sources: the operating activi-
ties of the business, investing activities, and financing (associated with
debt) activities. These three areas are also sources of cash flowing out of
an organization.

Operating activities. These include the activities reflected in the
operating statement (the P&L or statement of profits and losses) of the
organization—the revenues and expenses of running the business. In addi-
tion, asset and liability activities can be sources (inflows) and uses (out-
flows) of cash. As accounts receivable are collected, for example, cash
increases (an inflow). When liabilities are paid, cash flows from the orga-
nization (an outflow). Growth of inventories is a use of cash and reduces
the amount available for other purposes. Similarly, paying bills too soon
consumes cash needlessly.

Investing activities. One of the largest investments an organization
makes is the purchase of property, plant, and equipment assets. But well-
run companies are careful to use their excess cash wisely and often
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purchase short-term investment instruments. Depending on the timing of
future cash requirements, they may also put excess cash into longer-term
investments. Conversely, cash is generated by the sale of such invest-
ments. Such investing activities are not confined to stocks and bonds but
can include acquiring or disposing of an ownership share of a complemen-
tary business venture.

Financing activities. The third kind of transactions relate to debt. Cash
is generated and flows into the organization as a result of issuing debt or
borrowing from banks and others and flows out when debt is paid—either
retired (paid off) entirely or partially. Debt as a category can include
long-term notes payable, mortgages, bonds, and capital lease obligations.

The CFO and those in finance charged with managing cash work to
maximize its effectiveness. They focus on investing excess cash, looking
to manage the balance sheet accounts in ways that maximize cash flow,
and making sure to have sufficient liquidity (the ability to pay current
obligations with cash) to keep the business running smoothly. Failing to
manage cash properly can result in an organization finding itself placed on
“credit hold” with vendors because of unpaid bills. This not only disrupts
the flow of supplies but also can compromise patient care delivery.

It is important to remember the interplay among the operating, capital,
and cash budgets. As depicted in Figure 8.1, the three must work col-
lectively and collaboratively if the organization is to succeed, working
harmoniously to achieve the objectives.

With the exception of large amounts of borrowing associated with facil-
ity construction projects or business acquisitions, the operating activities
should be the largest source of cash for the organization. It is this cash
that provides the routine fuel for the capital budget. In turn, the equipment
acquired as part of the capital budget provides the hardware to support the
operating budget. The cycle then continues with operating budget throw-
ing off cash that feeds into the cash budget.

ROLES IN BUDGETING AND MANAGING CASH

The CFO and his staff prepare the cash flow budget by determining tar-
gets for selected cash and cash-related items. They consider cash flowing
into and out of the organization, including the cash accounts, the age of
accounts receivable and inventory, outlays for equipment, pension plan
contributions, investments (both buying and liquidating), and financing
(debt issuance and payments) and any business acquisition amounts. Tar-
gets must be set realistically and based on the general assumptions and
targets in both the operating and the capital budgets.
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The cash budget can fuel the capital budget that, in turn, provides the equip-
ment and technology to support the operating budget. The operating budget
generates cash that feeds into the cash budget.

Non-financial managers, while not directly involved in this cash bud-
geting process, can have significant impact based on how they use the
resources of the organization, how they communicate their spending
plans, and how accurately they gather data for billing.

The manager of an imaging department, for example, must let finance
know when he or she plans to place a large, multimillion-dollar order in
order to make sure the cash is available. The clinic manager must make sure
that billing information is accurately collected. Simple errors in recording
insurance information can translate into billing problems, uncollectible
receivables, and a lack of cash.

CASH FLOW CONSIDERATIONS

Cash is the lifeblood of any organization; run out of it and bankruptcy
soon follows. Bankruptcy is, in fact, not determined by profit or loss posi-
tion but rather by liquidity—the ability to pay the bills as they come due.
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Excess cash not needed for day-to-day operations can be invested and earn
a return—interest income. Further, cash needs to fuel the operation of any
company, and managers who do not pay attention to it can run into trouble
very quickly. What about a start-up company that will be able to generate
$100,000 in revenue once it gets going but needs $60,000 for staff salaries
from day one? How will it survive? Lacking sufficient cash at the very
start could put this company out of business before it ever gets started. For
this reason, new companies almost always need to secure a cash flow loan
from a bank to give them sufficient cash to operate while building their
revenue (and associated cash) stream.

Do not lose sight of the fact that a company can make a profit but not
generate sufficient cash to remain in business. If a hospital does not col-
lect its receivables, revenue will not convert to cash. If too much cash is
used to acquire equipment, there may not be sufficient cash left over to
pay trade accounts payable. Supply vendors may stop selling to the orga-
nization. To see how cash and profits relate to each other, consider the
following scenario.

A new service requires an expenditure of $60,000/month for salaries. The service
will generate revenue of $100,000/month, but only after it has been open for three
months while staff are trained and get everything set up. As the revenue is billed,
there will be a lag time of about 90 days waiting to be paid. Will the business
make a profit in its first year?

Examining the data shown in Table 8.1 reveals that the business will, in fact,
make a profit of just under $200,000 in the first year (Column D). The cash situ-
ation, however, looks a lot different. This organization is “bleeding cash,” as the
saying goes, losing $120,000 of cash (Column E) in the first year. There is even
the possibility that the business will not survive the first few months in operation
because of a cash shortage. Note that $60,000 per month is spent for staff salaries
before the first bill goes out. And when the time it takes for bills to be paid is taken
into account, a total of $360,000 is spent before the first dollar comes in the door.
If this business is to be operated successfully, some sort of cash flow loan will be
required to cover up front cash losses. It would be prudent to present the strong
profitability picture to a bank and seek perhaps as much as $400,000 in up-front
cash flow financing. As profitable as it appears this business will eventually be-
come, a bank loan should not be difficult to obtain.

Three points must be kept front and center in dealing with cash. First,
profit does not necessarily equate to cash. Second, cash supports organi-
zational growth and maneuverability. Third, running out of cash can lead
to bankruptcy.
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Table 8.1
Revenue and Cash Flow Data

Billed Cash Salaries Profitor Cash

Revenue (A) Collected (B) Paid (C) (Loss) (D) Flow (E)
January $60,000 ($60,000)  ($60,000)
February 60,000  (60,000) (60,000)
March 60,000  (60,000) (60,000)
April $100,000 60,000 40,000 (60,000)
May 100,000 60,000 40,000 (60,000)
June 100,000 60,000 40,000 (60,000)
July 100,000 $100,000 60,000 40,000 40,000
August 100,000 100,000 60,000 40,000 40,000
September 100,000 100,000 60,000 40,000 40,000
October 100,000 100,000 60,000 40,000 40,000
November 100,000 100,000 60,000 40,000 40,000
December 100,000 100,000 60,000 40,000 40,000
Total $900,000 $600,000 $720,000 $180,000  ($120,000)
CONCLUSION

Several points must be kept in mind. Cash is necessary to fuel organiza-
tional growth. It allows the organization to purchase volume-generating
equipment, build and renovate facilities to draw patients, and acquire busi-
nesses that complement the core business. For this reason, CFOs care-
fully steward company cash. They invest it when possible and carefully
build cash reserves to keep the business going in the face of a downturn
in volume.

Consider an organization that provides services in a summer resort
community and sees 70% of its business in the months of June, July,
and August. The rest of the business is spread throughout the other nine
months. How does such a business remain solvent if it does not have a
cash reserve to cover staff and other costs (rent, utilities, etc.) when there
is little volume in those off months, when cash is largely flowing out
instead of in?

Just as maneuverability in warfare is essential to success on the battle-
field, organizations need to be maneuverable in a changing regulatory and
reimbursement environment. Cash fuels maneuverability.

Finally, companies can be profitable but still face bankruptcy if they
do not manage their cash and liquidity appropriately. Many years ago, a
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hospital in Maryland was forced into bankruptcy. This was not because it
was losing money. Quite the contrary, it was profitable. But it did not man-
age its accounts receivable properly, and the lack of positive cash flow-
ing from collecting those amounts meant the hospital was unable to pay
its vendors. Its liquidity was compromised. This situation spiraled out of
control until it was forced to seek bankruptcy protection. That hospital no
longer exists.



Chapter 9

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The best ways to understand the results of financial management is by
examining three financial statements that provide a summary of what
transpired during a given period of time (e.g., the month of January,
last fiscal year) or the financial status on a particular date (e.g., June 30,
December 31). These financial statements are produced for every com-
pany: the balance sheet, the statement of operations (often referred to as
the P&L or profit and loss statement), and the statement of cash flows.

THE BALANCE SHEET

Diagrammatically, the balance sheet (Figure 9.1) can be thought of as a
family portrait. It depicts the status of a business on a particular date, just
as a family portrait freezes the action at a particular time. Like the family
portrait, it is a snapshot as opposed to a movie. It does not cover what hap-
pened over the course of time but rather is a picture of an instant in time.
As depicted in Figure 9.1, the assets are on the left side of the statement
and the liabilities and equities are on the right side.

The balance sheet tells what is owned by the company (assets), what
is owed (liabilities), and the difference between what is owned and what
is owed (equity or net assets). Assets are generally described as current
assets (cash, short-term securities, accounts receivable, inventory) and
long-term or fixed assets (typically, property, plant, and equipment). Lia-
bilities are generally classed as either current liabilities (amounts that are
due and payable during the next 12-month period) or long-term liabilities
(representing those debts that will not be paid during the next 12 months).
Equity, a surrogate for the value of the company, is the difference between
what is owned (the assets) and what is owed (the liabilities). Depend-
ing on the type of company, this may be referred to as owner’s equity,
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Current Liabilities
Current Assets

Long-Term Debt

Fixed Assets

Net Assets

Figure 9.1
The typical balance sheet layout with assets on the left and liabilities and net
assets (or equity in the for-profit sector) on the right.

stockholder’s equity, fund balance, the capital account, or, simply, capital,
or in the case of most nonprofit organizations, net assets.

A balance sheet can generally be displayed in three ways. Often, it is
prepared on a single page with the assets on the left and the liabilities and
equity on the right. If the balance sheet contains a significant amount of
information, it may be displayed on two facing pages, with the assets on
the left-hand page and the liabilities and net assets on the right-hand one.
Occasionally, a balance sheet will be stacked vertically on a single page
with assets at the top and liabilities and net assets at the bottom. Regard-
less of the format, the amounts shown represent the balances of the vari-
ous items as of the date of the financial statement, hence the title balance
sheet. Some think it is called a balance sheet because the left side (assets)
is balanced by the right side (liabilities and net assets). This, however, is
more urban legend than fact.

It is possible to learn more by examining an actual balance sheet to see
what information is presented. Table 9.1 shows the assets section of the
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Table 9.1
Mythical Community Healthcare Company

The Balance Sheet
as of June 30, 20X2, and 20X1

20X2 20X1
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $1,145,449 $1,213,026
Short-term investments 91,905 87,267
Accounts receivable, less allowance 17,942,004 15,470,077
(20X2 = $3,084,330; 20X1 = $2,489,242)
Other receivables 2,276,821 2,058,476
Due from affiliates 1,529,929 1,295,952
Inventory 1,274,718 1,187,772
Prepaid expenses 847,219 709,945
Total current assets $25,108,045 $22,022,515
Other assets
Long-term investments $9,464,738 $9,160,460
Investments in joint ventures 4,485,932 1,392,730
Interest in net assets of foundation 4,862,730 4,216,069
Total other assets $18,813,400 $14,769,259
Property, plant, and equipment
Land $1,423,566 $1,181,459
Land improvements 2,288,322 2,282,622
Buildings 52,475,472 50,263,586
Equipment 60,792,349 58,809,209
Construction in process 1,472,821 1,004,301
$118,452,530 $113,541,177
Less accumulated depreciation 77,300,854 72,242,238
Net Property, plant and equipment $41,151,676 $41,298,939
Total assets $85,073,121 $78,090,713

balance sheet of Mythical Community Healthcare Company. The initial
reaction to the substantial amount of information presented might be that
it is impossible to understand all of these numbers. It is possible, however,
if the information is examined methodically. Two columns of numbers are
displayed for each of the two dates June 30, 20X2, and June 30, 20X1.
Note the wording in the heading of the balance sheet. It is from a specific
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date. In reality, the amounts displayed can, and likely will, be different the
day before and the day after. That is because the balance sheet displays
the balance of the accounts, not the activity in the account. To the left of
the balances are the descriptions for the dollar values displayed.

Current assets are grouped together at the top. These include the organi-
zation’s cash as well as those other assets will that will be converted to cash
or consumed within one year from the date of the balance sheet: short-term
investments, inventories, accounts receivable, and prepaid items that will
benefit the future 12-month period. The short-term investments will be
converted to cash fairly quickly as opposed to long-term investments (one
hospital owns the title to a gold mine!) that will be kept for many years.

The largest current asset typically is the accounts receivable, specifi-
cally those owed by patients. Staff in the organization’s billing operation
seek to collect the patient accounts receivable as quickly as possible, again,
converting it to more useful cash. The balance sheet displays both the
net accounts receivable ($17,942,004 and $15,470,077) and the amount
of allowances for those amounts owed that will likely not be collected
($3,084,330 and $2,489,242, respectively). This gives those examining
the financial statements more information: nearly $21 million is actually
owed to the Mythical Community Healthcare Company, but just under
$18 million is expected to be collected. This represents what is referred to
as “full disclosure” reporting.

Inventories contain the stores of day-to-day supplies used in the orga-
nization. The supplies in the individual departments are usually not con-
sidered part of this formal inventory. The materials management experts
strive to keep inventory at the lowest possible level, barring shortages of
critical supplies, in order to conserve cash. A preventive maintenance con-
tract is an example of a prepaid expense. The contract may be paid on
January 1 for services provided each month for the next year. That right to
service is considered an asset—something the organization owns.

To better understand the nature of the current assets, consider, for exam-
ple, the $1,145,449 of cash listed in the 20X2 column. It is not the same
cash listed in the 20X1 column ($1,213,028). In effect, the $1,213,028 of
cash has been fully consumed in the past 12 months and has been replaced
by a new batch of cash amounting to $1,145,449. This process, which
applies to receivables, inventory, and all the other assets, is called asset
turnover or just simply turnover.

Next in the balance sheet come the longer-term assets, including just
under $19 million of long-term investments and the property, plant, and
equipment valued at $41 million net of accumulated depreciation. These
assets will remain for many years.
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The property, plant, and equipment section pulls together all of the
facility assets of the organization. Land is always listed first at its original
acquisition price. Next come land improvements (parking lots, sidewalks,
etc.), buildings (including the electrical, plumbing, air handling, and other
systems), equipment (ventilators, MRIs, OR lights, etc.) and, finally, con-
struction in progress (the investments thus far in projects that are not yet
completed). All of these assets, except the land and construction in prog-
ress, are recorded in the company’s books and displayed on the balance
sheet at the price originally paid for them and are depreciated over time (see
Chapter 2 for an explanation of depreciation methods). The accumulated

depreciation is also shown to arrive at the net or book value of the asset.
As displayed in Table 9.2, the liability section of the balance sheet is
similarly arranged with a column of descriptors and two years of dollar

values to the right.

Table 9.2
Mythical Community Healthcare Company

The Balance Sheet
as of June 30, 20X2, and 20X1

20X2 20X1
Liabilities and net assets
Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable $7,847,850  $9,918,183
Accrued payroll and related expenses 4,849,234 4,231,450
Accrued interest payable 348,351 353,672
Estimated settlements due to third-party payers 1,472,532 804,891
Advance payments 794,186 414,193
Current portion of long-term debt 1,302,774 1,151,164
Current portion of capital lease obligations 49,205
Total current liabilities $16,614,927 $16,922,758
Long-term debt, less portion classified as current ~ $23,449,935  $21,495,252
Accrued postretirement benefit liability 3,924,186 5,199,155
Total liabilities $43,989,048 $43,617,165
Net assets
Net assets at beginning of year $34,473,548  $34,473,548
Change in net assets 6,610,525 2,423,176
Net assets at end of year $41,084,073 $34,473,548
Total liabilities and net assets $85,073,121  $78,090,713
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Here again, the current items are listed first, followed by those with
longer lives. The current liabilities are those which will be paid off during
the next 12 months and subsequently replaced by others. As is typical in
most organizations, the trade payables and accrued liabilities represent the
bulk of the current liabilities. Long-term liabilities, sometimes referred
to as long-term debt or simply debt (often, the term “debt” carries with it
the notion of long term, whereas “liability” conveys short term), are those
that will not be paid off anytime soon. The personal financial corollary is
a home mortgage, which may be paid off over 20 or 30 years.

In Mythical Community Healthcare Company’s case, the final items on
the balance sheet are the equity items—called net assets in this case because
the organization is a tax-exempt one (sometimes referred to as nonprofit).
Were it to be a taxable organization (sometimes called for-profit), the sec-
tion might be labeled owner’s equity, stockholder’s equity, or some similar
phrase to denote that this is the net ownership section—representing the dif-
ference between what is owned, the assets, and what is owed, the liabilities.

THE INCOME STATEMENT

The financial statement that summarizes the revenue and expense items, and
the difference between them, is called the income statement. The income
statement has a number of informal names as well, often called the “profit and
loss statement,” the “P&L,” the “statement of earnings,” the “operating state-
ment,” or the “statement of operations.” For nonprofit or tax-exempt organi-
zations, it is often called the “statement of support, revenue and expenses.”
Regardless of its formal or informal name, the income statement is prepared
for a specific length of time, customarily one year for formal, external pur-
poses, and more frequently for internal purposes. It is not uncommon, for
example, for a board to review the income statement on a monthly basis.
While the income statements for various health care organizations can vary
in terms of appearance, they generally report the following information.

Note the date difference between the balance sheet and the income state-
ment shown in Table 9.3. While the balance sheet date uses an “as at” or
“as of” format, the income statement is always “for the xx months ended”
format. This is because the income statement is a statement of activity
(what happened financially during the period being reported), while the
balance sheet is a statement of position (on the date of the statement).

At the top of the income statement are the revenues. Net patient service
revenue is the amount paid or promised for the firm’s goods or services
during the accounting period. Net revenue begins as gross revenue (the



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 179

Table 9.3
Mythical Community Healthcare Company

Income Statement
for the 12 Months Ended June 30, 20X2, and 20X1

20X2 20X1
Net patient service revenue $113,642,095 $110,115,455
Other operating revenues 4,510,641 4,985,706
Total operating revenue $118,152,736 $115,101,161
Less operating expenses
Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits $54,816,672 $55,768,507
Supplies and other expenses 19,464,583 19,699,130
Purchased services 29,196,875 29,548,694
Depreciation and amortization 6,035,523 5,992,623
Interest expense 2,028,558 1,669,031
Total operating expenses $111,542,211 $112,677,985
Excess of revenue over expenses $6,610,525 $2,423,176

amount billed for the goods or service), which is reduced by deductions
for bad debts, charity care, and third-party discounts. Other operating rev-
enue includes revenues from those sources associated with, but not directly
connected to, the health care operation. These can include the proceeds of
gift shops and parking lots. They are part of the day-to-day operation of
the business but not the health care part of the business.

Next come the operating expenses, which are the costs of doing busi-
ness: salaries, wages, employee benefits, supplies and service, purchased
services, repairs and maintenance, interest, and depreciation. Salaries and
fringe benefits are typically the largest single expense in health care orga-
nizations, in some cases representing as much as 65% of total expenses. In
some departments, salary costs can run between 90% and 95% of total cost.

Supplies and purchased services represent the next large expense amounts
and are followed in the normal array of items by depreciation expense—
the cost of consuming the property, plant, and equipment assets in the con-
duct of the business. Finally, interest expense, the fee paid to those who have
loaned the organization money, is listed to complete the operating expenses.

The operating profit or (loss), or operating margin, is calculated by
deducting the operating expenses from the combination of net patient
service revenue and other operating revenue. In this example, the profit,
termed “excess of revenue over expenses,” is more than $6.6 million.
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If there are any non-operating income/expenses, follow after the operat-
ing profit line and include those income or expenses that are not part of
the routine operation of the business. These include donations and gifts,
and profits or losses on the liquidation of securities. Finally, net income is
calculated by combining the operating income or (loss) and any non-oper-
ating income/expenses. In Table 9.3, there is no non-operating income
or expenses, and so net income is the same as excess of revenue over
expenses.

Finally, an organization will occasionally report an extraordinary item,
an event that is unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. These are
separated from the other revenue and expense items because they are not
part of normal operations. One example would be the conversion of the
pension plan and its associated liability from defined benefit plan to a
defined contribution plan. Another would be a restatement of profits from
a prior accounting period. In such instances, the “bottom line”” would be
termed “‘net income after extraordinary items.”

THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

One financial statement that should receive more attention is the cash
flow statement. It describes, as seen in abbreviated form in Table 9.4, the
amounts and reasons cash flows into and out of the organization. Infor-
mally, the statement is sometimes referred to as the “Sources and Uses
of Cash.” Cash can flow into an organization from the regular operating
activities of the company (think sales or profits from business activities),
from borrowing (financing) activities, and from investing activities. Con-
versely, cash can flow out of the organization for business activities, for
investments, and for the repayment of debt.

This statement, like the operating statement is a statement of activity and,
thus, the date format follows the “for the xx months ended” convention.

In this example, the company added just over $7 million of cash from
the ordinary operating activities of the company during the 12-month
period ended June 30, 20X2. At the same time, it had a net reduction
of cash of over $11 million associated with investing activities, buying
equipment, selling and purchasing investments, and so on.

As a general rule, the amount spent each year on property, plant, and
equipment (PPE) assets should amount to 125% to 175% of the annual
depreciation amount. In other words, if an organization has $6 million
of depreciation expense, it should invest in between $7.5 million and
$10.5 million in PPE.
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Table 9.4
Mythical Community Healthcare Company

Abbreviated Cash Flow Statement

for the 12 Months Ended June 30, 20X2, and 20X1

20X2

20X1

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

Cash flows from investment activities
Additions to property, plant, and equipment
Net (purchases) sales of short-term
investments
Sales of long-term investments
Purchases of long-term investments
Advances to joint ventures, net
Change in capital acquisition fund

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt and capital
lease obligations
Payments of deferred financing costs
Grant received for capital improvements
Net proceeds from line of credit
Cash received from foundation for capital
acquisitions

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$7,070,600

$(463,333)

$(5,953,446)
(4,638)

13,597,304
(13,164,211)
(5,917,183)

$(3,872,887)
(3,877)

12,478,507

(12,687,765)

(579,700)
1,568,542

$(11,442,174)

$(3,097,180)

$2,861,730
(1,206,078)  (1,606,946)
(19,479)
1,200,000
833,534 3,760,000
634,291 70,584
$4,303,998  $2,223,638
(67,576)  (1,336,876)
1,213,025 2,549,901
$1,145449  $1,213,025

Finally, the company added over $4 million in financing activities. The
net of all of this activity is a reduction in cash of $67,576. For a second
straight year the company reduced its overall cash balance. This is some-
thing management and the board will want to pay close attention to, as
cash is essential to liquidity and financial maneuverability.
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An excellent free resource for further understanding of corporate
financial statements and their contents is the Merrill Lynch booklet avail-
able via Stanford University’s website: http://e145.stanford.edu/upload/
Merrill_Lynch.pdf

THE ANNUAL AUDIT

Each year, large tax-exempt and taxable organizations arrange for inde-
pendent accountants to examine the books and records of the company
and express an opinion as to the veracity of the financial statements. Such
an audit will produce four items which must be taken as a unified whole:
an opinion letter, the financial statements, notes to the financial statements,
and, if necessary, supplemental financial statements helpful to understand-
ing the information conveyed by the company. These items should never
be separated. In fact, if they are separated, the financial statement cannot
be referred to as audited.

A typical opinion letter is shown in Appendix 1. It conveys the financial
statements, describes the responsibility of management for the financial
statements, defines the scope of work and the responsibility of the audi-
tors, and lastly contains an opinion about the financial statements. The
auditor’s opinion of the financial statements adds assurance to interested
outsiders that management’s representations are not misleading. It does
not, however, guarantee that the statements are totally accurate. If any
irregularities are discovered, the opinion letter will spell them out. This
alternate opinion letter is called a qualified opinion letter.

The auditors will also review the monthly or quarterly unaudited state-
ments, often presented at board meetings, to make sure the results reported
on an interim basis are in agreement with the final year-end results. Should
there be accounting discrepancies, for example, if the interim statements
presented a better financial picture than the final, audited results, the opin-
ion letter will spell out this discrepancy. Depending on its nature and sig-
nificance, it could result in a qualified opinion letter—not something any
chief financial officer would like to see.

In addition to the annual audit report, the audit firm will provide a man-
agement letter. This document describes its observations and recommen-
dations related to the company’s finance activities. The letter might, for
example, note that all of the company’s cash is on deposit with a single
bank and recommend that it be split among several banks to avoid risk. Or
it might speak to weaknesses discovered in the fixed assets system (how
the organization’s various pieces of equipment are tracked) and make
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recommendations. While company management is not obligated to accept
and act on the recommendations, prudence would suggest otherwise.
Finally, as part of the annual audit, the auditors will test and comment
on the internal controls in place. These are internal procedures designed
to reduce the incidence of fraud and assure transactions are properly
recorded. For example, no single worker, regardless of title, should be able
to bill for services, make adjustments to the bills, and receive and post
payments. To allow this would be to invite fraud in which a bill could be
rendered, the payment pocketed, and the bill written off as uncollectible all
by the same individual worker. Such fraud, though rare, is not uncommon
and usually is the result of an absence of proper internal controls or a lapse
in their use. The separation of these job responsibilities limits but does not
entirely prevent fraud. Two or more individuals could always collude to
defraud the company, an activity that could be very difficult to uncover.

EXAMINING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The questions most people ask about the financial statements generally
relate to which items should be examined and how to understand what the
report is saying. Since financial statements typically display two years of
comparative information, it is possible and even prudent to start by mak-
ing comparisons from one year to the next.

Using the information contained in the financial statements of Mythi-
cal Community Healthcare Company, why have the patient accounts
receivables grown? Is the growth caused by an increase in billings or a
reduction in the collection effort? Why have salaries and staff costs gone
down while revenue has risen? Why are receivables growing faster than
revenue? These questions can derive from looking at one year’s values
compared to the previous year and by comparing related items from one
statement to the other. The idea is to determine what message the financial
statements are sending. In the case of Mythical Community Healthcare
Company, one message seems to be that the receivables are not being well
managed. And since the cash balance is declining, what impact will this
performance have on the future liquidity of the organization? With rev-
enue increasing and staff costs decreasing, it is natural to ask how the
provision of care is being effected.

In addition to these and similar questions arising from a comparative
analysis of the reported results, some specific items should be discussed
and understood. These questions focus on the balance sheet, income state-
ment, and cash flow statement.
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On the balance sheet, attention should be paid to the cash position, both
the amount of cash and the number of operating days of cash on hand
(see the section Financial Ratios for more on this ratio). In addition, the
age of the patient accounts receivable should be examined to make sure
proper efforts are being made to turn this largest of the current assets into
cash as soon as possible. In the fixed assets section, attention should focus
on the average age of the physical plant to make sure the facilities and
equipment are not getting too old to be of efficient or effective use in pro-
viding care. Buildings that are too old often cannot support modern tech-
nologies. Departmental adjacencies can be problematic in older facilities.

Consider the inefficiency that is built in if it takes 20 minutes for a nurse or tech
to push a stretcher from the ED to the CT/MRI suite. That represents a 40-minute
time span when the ED exam room is out of service. Time losses like this can
influence divert time which translates into the potential for lost visits and revenue
with no diminution of cost. If the CT/MRI suite was located next to or within the
ED, such a capacity loss would not be incurred. The institutional impact on divert
times can be calculated by multiplying the annual number of scans performed for
the ED by the round-trip travel time.

Putting some numbers on this scenario may help illustrate the significance
of an inefficient building. Assume an annual visit count of 60,000 visits with
two-and-a-half ambulance arrivals on average per hour. If 10% of visits required
a 40-minute round-trip to the CT/MRI suite, exam rooms would be blocked for
4,000 hours a year, roughly 10 hours per day. If the ED experienced just a single
hour of divert time each day with ambulances rerouted to other facilities, the im-
pact on volume and revenue would be significant.

Assuming the average ambulance contained a patient needing to be admitted,
how many admissions, and the associated revenue, would be lost because of this
travel distance? At roughly $10,000 of revenue per ambulance, the impact on
revenue as seen in Table 9.5 can be substantial.

Table 9.5

Revenue Impact of ED Divert

ED divert hours per day 1
Ambulances per hour 3
Diverted ambulances per day 3
Calendar days per year 365
Diverted ambulances per year 1,095
Average revenue per ambulance $10,000

Potentially lost revenue $10,950,000
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In addition to the assets, executives and board members should look
closely at long-term debt and debt capacity (the ability to take on added
debt based on the ability to repay it). Debt can rob an institution of maneu-
verability in a dynamic market by requiring its profits to be diverted to
repayment instead of repositioning. And insufficient debt capacity can
limit the ability to borrow funds if resources are not otherwise available to
pursue objectives.

On the income statement, the attention obviously focuses on the “bot-
tom line”—the amount of profit or loss. But the attention will also be
on EBITDA (pronounced Eh’-bid-ah). These letters stand for Earnings
Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization. This is a mea-
sure of the core profitability of the organization, before any consideration
of interest paid on debt, taxes, depreciation, or amortization. For Mythi-
cal Community Healthcare Company, the EBITDA profit is calculated as
shown in Table 9.6.

The individual elements of the income statement are important as well
and can begin with a focus on the mix of payers both in terms of position
(the percentage distribution of volume and revenue among them) and in
terms of trends (which ones are growing and which ones shrinking). Too
much of one single payer may be dangerous. The loss of the contract with
a payer covering a large percentage of the organization’s business could
result in a major hit to volume and revenue. And since revenues are far
more variable on the down side than costs, the bottom line could suffer an
immediate hit. As the density of Medicare and Medicaid as a percentage
of payer mix rises, the ability to negotiate reimbursement rates falls. At
some point, providers will be unable to shift unreimbursed costs to other
payers.

Table 9.6
Calculation of EBITDA Profit

20X2

20X1

Total operating revenue

Operating expenses

$118,152,736

$115,101,161

Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits $54,816,672 $55,768,507
Supplies and other expenses 19,464,583 19,699,130
Purchased services 29,196,875 29,548,694
Total $103,478,130 $105,016,331
EBITDA profit $14,674,606 $10,084,830
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The relationship of net patient service revenue to gross patient service
revenue should be scrutinized periodically to make sure the latter is not
shrinking as the former grows. That situation could signal a problem with
collections or perhaps a growth in discounts, charity care, and bad debts.
Since gross patient service is not usually shown on the income statement,
some direct questioning may be needed, or a request can be made for a
specific analysis of the revenue stream.

Beyond salary and fringe costs, the number and types of vacancies
should be understood along with the growth or shrinkage of the workforce.
Again, this discussion may not be aided solely by the information con-
tained in the financial statements, but, nonetheless, the discussion should
happen. Since the provision of health care services is dependent on people,
there must be assurances that the proper numbers and types of staff can be
recruited and retained by the organization. Certainly staff shortages can
result in higher labor costs associated with agency and overtime pay, but
they can also affect the overall quality and availability of services. Staff
vacancies should be clearly understood to make sure they are not com-
promising care. Significant shortages in nursing and pharmacy can result
in an increase in medication errors and less-than-optimum patient care.
While many look at full time equivalent (FTE) counts only in terms of
growth, it is just as important to look at which positions are going unfilled.

Any extraordinary items must be thoroughly discussed both as to their
financial significance as to the underlying dynamics that underlay them. While
typically these are unusual and represent one-of-a-kind items, it is important
to examine the environment from which they have sprung and understand
how that environment may impact the organization again in the future.

When examining the statement of cash flows, it is important to examine
the sources of the cash. How much is coming from operation of the busi-
ness, how much from financing (borrowing), and how much from invest-
ing activities? Is the organization generating cash from the operation of
the business, or is most of the cash flow associated with nonbusiness activ-
ities? Except in some relatively rare circumstances, the cash flow should
be largely from business operations. Too much reliance on borrowing or
the liquidation of investment assets suggests that the organization is not
financially healthy enough to remain viable.

Cash reserves should be carefully managed to make sure the organi-
zation is able to withstand the normal up and down cycles many orga-
nizations experience over time. At a minimum, six months of operating
cash—enough cash to pay routine operating expenses and make lease,
debt, and interest payments—is prudent. Depending on circumstances, for
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example, preparing for a planned acquisition, a larger cash reserve amount
may be necessary. Cash not needed for operations in the short term should
always be invested to maximize return.

Finally, the financial statements and the information they provide should
be examined as a unified whole as opposed to individual statements. In
this regard, the focus should be on the overall financial condition in all
aspects of the organization. The overall health of the company is the basic
question to be answered—is it a going concern? Perhaps the simplest way
to understand the overall financial health of an organization is to see if it
can obtain a bank loan. Banks balance risk and return and are not in the
practice of making loans to businesses they think are not sound enough to
repay the loan.

These questions and many others should be asked by the executive team
of the organization and by its board to make sure the financial condition
is sufficient and well managed enough to support day-to-day health care
operations in both the short term and long term.

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Organizations come in all sizes; some are quite large, others small. As a
result, balance sheets, income statements, and cash flow statements will
also be different. A 1,000-bed hospital will have more cash and other
assets than a 100-bed hospital. It may have more profit and more in the
way of financing and investing activities to report. But size is only one
aspect of financial performance. More important is the efficiency and
effectiveness with which the organization uses its financial resources to
achieve its stated objectives. A small organization may have a smaller
profit and fewer assets but a higher return on assets than a larger organiza-
tion. Financial ratios are used to assess this kind of financial efficiency.

Financial ratio analysis is the examination of one absolute value
expressed in relative terms as a ratio to another absolute value. It is pos-
sible to draw a parallel between financial ratios and diagnostic test results
the medical profession uses in determining the health status of the patient.
In the business arena, financial analysts function like “dollar doctors” try-
ing to determine the health status of the company along with symptoms,
diagnosis, treatment recommendations, if any, and so on. There are over
100 different financial ratios measuring everything from the ability to sat-
isfy creditors to efficiency to turning profits. For the purposes of this text,
three groups of financial ratios will be considered: liquidity, asset activity,
and profitability.
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Measures of Liquidity

The first group of these ratios deals with liquidity—the ability to pay cur-
rent obligations.

Current ratio. The current ratio represents the number of dollars of cur-
rent assets that are available to cover each dollar of current liabilities.

. Total Current Assets
Current Ratio =

Total Current Liabilities

Using the balance sheet of Mythical Community Healthcare Company
(Tables 9.1 and 9.2), the current ratio is 1.51, meaning the organization
has $1.51 of current assets for every dollar of current liabilities.

It is now possible to answer the question concerning health care Orga-
nizations A and B (Table 9.7). Which organization is better able to pay its
bills? The correct answer, based not on absolute values, but rather on the
financial ratio measuring liquidity (the current ratio), is Organization A,
which has a current ratio that is nearly double that of Organization B.

Working capital. The same values used in determining the current ratio
are used to determine working capital, but instead of division, subtrac-
tion is used. Using the same example as before, Health care Organization
A with $3,000,000 of total current assets and $1,500,000 of total current
liabilities would have $1,500,000 of working capital. While technically
not a ratio (of one value to another), it is still an important indicator of
liquidity.

Quick ratio. The quick ratio, sometimes referred to as the acid test ratio
or simply the acid test, is a more demanding measurable of liquidity. The
inventory values are eliminated from the calculation because they may not

Table 9.7
Selective Comparative Financial Data
Health Care Health Care
Organization A Organization B
Cash on hand $100,000 $200,000
Current assets $3,000,000 $3.,840,000
Current liabilities $1,500,000 $3,200,000
Current ratio 2 1.2

Working capital $1,500,000 $640,000




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 189

be converted to cash as quickly as other current assets. The quick ratio,
therefore, is a more conservative financial ratio than the current ratio.

(Total Current Assets — Inventory)

Quick Ratio = —
Total Current Liabilities

The quick ratio equals total current assets minus inventory divided by
total current liabilities. Using the values for Mythical Community Health-
care Company (Tables 9.1 and 9.2), the quick ratio would be 1.43, mean-
ing the organization has $1.43 of current assets for every dollar of current
liabilities. Keep in mind, however, that this ratio may not be much of
an acid test for a health care organization in which inventory is a rela-
tively small current asset. Perhaps acid test ratio in health care should
instead look at current assets exclusive of all or some portion of the patient
accounts receivable, which may not be easily converted to cash. If this
were done, Mythical Community Healthcare Company’s quick or acid test
ratio would be 0.43—just 43¢ to cover each dollar of current liability. One
could argue that some of the receivable is fairly quickly collectible and
that use of 100% is too harsh. Using a technique called factoring, receiv-
ables can be “sold” to another company that passes along the cash and is
then responsible for collecting the debt. Factoring firms charge up to 50%
to 60% of the receivable’s face value based on how long it has been owed.
If one were to assume that half of the accounts receivable balance could
be converted to cash quickly, the ratio would still be low at 97¢, roughly
a dollar on a dollar.

Days of cash on hand. This indicator describes the organization’s cash
in terms of the number of days it could continue to pay its obligations if all
incoming cash flow stopped. In this regard, it may be a better indication of
liquidity than either the current ratio or the quick ratio.

Cash and Marketable Securities
(Annual Operating Expenses — Depreciation) +365

Days of Cash =
on Hand

Using the values found in Tables 9.1 through 9.4, it can be calculated
that Mythical Community Healthcare Company has just 4.3 days of cash
on hand. This means the organization would be able to pay its bills for
less than a week if the cash flowing into the organization were to cease: a
dangerous and risky position unless positive cash flow can be guaranteed
moving forward.
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Combined with the current and quick ratios, the picture painted of
Mythical Community’s liquidity is mixed. One would need to perform
further analyses to determine the true liquidity situation and assess the
risk of bankruptcy.

These ratios are among the most commonly used indicators of liquid-
ity. As a rule, the higher the value, the better. As a trend, increasing ratio
values are favorable. However, avoid the mistake of assuming that a high
value is always a good sign and a low value is a bad sign. An institution
with an excessively high current or quick ratio may, for example, not be
investing enough funds in its property, plant, and equipment; this may
cause a serious obsolescence problem at a later date.

Activity Measures

The second group of ratios also deals with liquidity, but expressed in
terms of balance sheet activity—the time needed to convert balance sheet
items into cash. Of interest are patient accounts receivable, inventory, and
accounts payable.

Accounts receivable age. The average age of accounts receivable mea-
sures the approximate number of days that the receivables remain unpaid
or outstanding. It tells how fast bills are turned into cash. It is, in essence,
a ratio of the receivable and the average daily patient revenue (the patient
revenue for a given period of time divided by the number of calendar days
in that time period).

Net Accounts Receivable

Average Age of Accounts Receivable = -
Average Daily Net Revenue

Using the values displayed on the balance sheet of Mythical Community
Healthcare Company, the calculations would be made as follows.

($17,942,004 — $3,084,003)
($113,642,095+365)

Average Age of Accounts Receivable =

$14,858,001

Average Age of Accounts Receivable =
$311,348

Average Age of Accounts Receivable = 47.7 days

This means that it takes a little over a month and a half to convert a bill
into cash. The organization must plan its use of resources with this time
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lag in mind. As a trend, declining values are good. An accounts receivable
that contains too many days of revenue means that cash is being tied up
unnecessarily in receivables when it could be put to more productive use.

Accounts receivable turnover. This is a measure of the number of times
each year that the accounts receivable are completely replaced or “turned
over.” Calculation involves dividing 365 days by the average age of the
receivable. Using the previous data, the accounts receivable turnover rate
is 7.65 (365 + 47.7), meaning that the receivables turn over and are com-
pletely replaced about seven and a half times a year.

Average inventory age. This measures the number of days of supplies
on hand in inventory, based on the organization’s average daily use of sup-
plies. The calculation requires several steps and a piece of data not found
on the balance sheet. Step one is to determine the average inventory value
by combining the inventory value at the end of the current period with the
same value at the end of the prior period and dividing by two.

Again, using the values displayed on the balance sheet of Mythical
Community Healthcare Company, the calculations would be made as
follows.

Average Inventory value = ($1,274,718 + $1,187,772) + 2
Average Inventory value = $2,462,490 + 2
Average Inventory value = $1,231,245

Step two uses the piece of data not found on the balance sheet—the
annual amount of inventory purchases. This can be obtained from the
finance department or from the records in materials management. For this
exercise, assume that inventory purchases as reported by the materials
management department amounted to $11,081,205.

By dividing this amount by the average inventory value ($1,231,245),
the number of inventory turns per year is calculated to be nine. In other
words, the inventory is consumed and completely replaced nine times in
the course of the year. If this number is then divided into 365, it indicates
that the inventory contains, on average, about 40 days of supplies. Not
considered in this is the “informal” inventory stored in nursing units, clin-
ics, procedure rooms, and so on.

In this example, if all purchasing were to stop, about 40 days would
pass before the inventory value dropped to zero. Generally, the lower the
number of days, the better; however, a proper balance must be struck so
that critical supplies are not out of stock. Noncritical items are of less
concern and may occasionally be out of stock without causing operational
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disruption. As a trend, declining values are good. Inventory age that is
higher than necessary means that cash is being tied up unnecessarily in
inventory when it could be put to more productive use.

Consider, for example, what would happen if the manager responsible
for inventory were to reduce the average age to 30 days—a 25% reduc-
tion. At that level over $300,000 (25% x 1,231,245) would be available for
other one-time uses such as equipment purchases and facility renovations.

Accounts payable age. On the flip side, accounts payable age is a mea-
sure of the average age of bills owed to creditors. Once again a piece
of data not present on the balance sheet is needed to make the calcula-
tion; the information necessary is the annual credit purchases. Finance or
the accounts payable department can supply the necessary data. For this
example, using the accounts payable value shown on the Mythical Com-
munity Healthcare Company balance sheet ($7,847,850) and assuming
annual credit purchases of $73,163,040, the age of the accounts payable
would be calculated as follows.

Accounts Payable Balance
Annual Credit Purchases + 365

Average Age of Accounts Payable =

$7,847,850
$73,163,040+365

Average Age of Accounts Payable =

$7,847,850

Average Age of Accounts Payable =
$200,447

Average Age of Accounts Payable = 39.1 days

The lower the age, the faster bills are being paid. In times of tight
money, the age generally will increase as efforts are made to conserve
cash. Monies not used to pay current bills can be used for other purposes,
up to a point. The payment terms generally extended by creditors cannot
be consistently abused by late payment of bills without risking the loss of
a vendor. Paying too quickly is also poor practice because it does not allow
the available cash to work for the institution.

Average age of physical plant. One of the most significant and long-
lasting investments large health care organizations, particularly hospitals,
make is in facilities and equipment—referred to as property, plant, and
equipment—the organization’s buildings, equipment, and infrastructure
systems. If the averages age is too high or is aging too rapidly, it indicates
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both a lack of investment in the physical plant assets and looming obso-
lescence and inefficiency. The average age is expressed in years and is
calculated as follows.

Average Age = Accumulated Depreciation + Annual Depreciation Expense
Average Age = $77,300,854 + $6,035,523

In the case of Mythical Community, the physical plant is 12.8 years.
This is significantly older than the national average, which ranges from
9 to 11 years depending on region of the country. In this case, the orga-
nization will face mounting pressure to invest in equipment and facili-
ties to improve operating efficiency and clinical effectiveness as well
as the impression given to the public, which prefers modern over old
facilities.

Profitability and Other Measures

The third group of ratios deals with profitability—how well the company
uses its financial resources to generate profits.

Return on investment. Sometimes referred to as return on assets, this
ratio is a measure of the ability to use company assets to generate profits.
Of all the financial ratios, it may be the most important. The reason that
the terms assets and investments are used interchangeably stems from the
fact that a company’s primary investment is in itself—its assets. The inter-
pretation of this ratio is quite simple: the higher, the better. Consequently,
increasing values over time represent a favorable trend.

Mythical Community Healthcare Company’s return on investment
(ROI) is 8.1%. The numerator is the annual profit and the denominator is
the average asset value, the averages the 20X2 and 20X1 asset totals.

Excess of Revenue over Expenses

ROI =
Average Asset Value
ROI = $6,610,525
($85,073,121+ $78,090,713)+2
= $6,610,525

~ $81,581,917

ROI=8.1%
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This means that the organization’s investment in its own assets has earned
8.1%, a good return. It is the single most important ratio because it mea-
sures overall management effectiveness.

The ROI can also be calculated using the EBITDA profit (in this case
$14.6 million). This version of the ROI calculation, which shows how the
organization did exclusive of noncash items (depreciation) and apart from
any taxes and interest, provides a better sense of how well the organization
does based on its core profitability.

ROI = —$14’674’606 =17.98%
$81,581,917

The collection rate. This is an indicator of the amount of the revenue
billed that is actually collected. The higher the value, the better. As a trend,
increasing values are, of course, favorable. If a health care provider suf-
fers from a declining collection rate trend, the eventual outcome may be
bankruptcy. Consequently, the collection rate must be monitored carefully
and frequently so that corrective actions can be taken quickly if necessary.

Since only net patient service revenue is reported on the income state-
ment, further information is required of the finance staff. Dividing the
net by the gross revenue amount provides the collection rate. For Mythi-
cal Community Healthcare Organization with net patient revenue of
$113,642,095 and, for demonstration purposes, $174,800,000 of gross
patient revenue, or charges, the collection rate would be 65%.

Operating margin ratio. This ratio measures the proportion of total oper-
ating revenue that is retained after all operating costs have been paid. It is a
measure of profitability; nevertheless, comparison to industry averages should
be made carefully. Above-average values can be misleading if there is a
greater-than-average need for working capital, debt repayment, or investment
in plant and equipment, all of which are funded from operating margin. Con-
versely, an organization with substantial endowment distributions or income
from other outside sources such as philanthropy may have a lower operating
margin requirement, and, thus, a lower ratio may be quite acceptable.

In the case of Mythical Community Healthcare Organization, the oper-
ating margin ratio is 5.6% ($6,610,525 + $118,152,736). Using EBITDA,
the ratio would be 12.4% ($14,674,606 + $118,152,736).

SUMMARY

Many of those who examine financial statements and ratios are looking
for clear-cut, black and white indications of a company’s performance.
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But there are no such indications. Circumstances always play a role and
must be considered in reviewing the statements and ratios. The amount of
cash on hand will be influenced by what an organization plans to do in the
future. If it is about to acquire a large amount of equipment or purchase
several physician practices, it may need the cash to make the purchases.
Another organization of the same size, but which is not planning such
acquisitions, may be perfectly fine with far less cash. An organization get-
ting ready to issue a large amount of bonds to raise money for a major
building program would concentrate on driving up its operating margin to
present the best profit picture to potential bond buyers.

The rule of thumb in looking at liquidity and profitability ratios is that
higher values are better and increasing values are favorable. When exam-
ining balance sheet activity measures, the rule of thumb is that for assets
(inventory age and accounts receivable age), the lower the number of days,
the better. With receivables, it means the bills are being collected and thus
converted to cash expeditiously. With inventory, the lower the number of
days of average age, the better; however, a proper balance must be struck
so that critical supplies are not out of stock. Noncritical items are of less
concern and may occasionally be out of stock without causing operational
disruption. As a trend, declining values are good. Inventory age that is
higher than necessary means that cash is being tied up unnecessarily in
inventory when it could be used more productively.

With accounts payable, the lower the age, the faster bills are being paid.
In times of tight money, the age generally will increase as efforts are made
to conserve cash. Cash not used to pay current bills can be used for other
purposes, up to a point. The payment terms generally extended by credi-
tors cannot be consistently abused by late payment of bills without risking
the loss of a vendor. Paying too quickly is also poor practice because it
does not allow available cash to work for the organization.

Financial statement and ratio values can and should be compared to
national and regional averages and, perhaps more important, to competitor
organizations. These values are best judged in light of the organization’s
need for financial strength, growth, and maneuverability in a dynamic
marketplace.
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Chapter 10

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

A manager’s responsibilities include planning, organizing, staffing, direct-
ing or leading, and controlling elements of the organization. In essence,
the manager becomes the CEO of a particular element or elements of the
organization. To do this successfully requires information, which is nor-
mally contained in periodically issued performance reports. These reports
are usually prepared on a monthly basis and contain information about
business volume, revenues, full time equivalents (FTEs), salary and fringe
benefit costs, supplies, purchased services, and so on.

Much like the stadium scoreboard, which shows how the team is doing,
performance reports show what the manager did and didn’t do during
the reporting period. Remember, accountants merely prepare the reports
based on the actions of managers.

WHY ORGANIZATIONS REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

Several important reasons exist for reporting on departmental perfor-
mance. First and foremost is the need to measure actual performance
compared to planned performance. Is the manager running favorable to
budget, or unfavorable? Is action needed to modify performance? Lacking
a performance report, a manager is unable to influence performance in the
appropriate manner.

A second reason is to increase awareness among all those working in
the departments and throughout the organization. Workers in a depart-
ment should understand how their actions have translated into perfor-
mance results. Often, their actions are what makes or breaks departmental
performance. Sharing performance report information with them is a way
of “keeping them in the loop” when it comes to running the department.
Similarly, managers and other departments need to be aware as well. This
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is because the performance of any department is influenced by the per-
formance of many other departments. The performance of the surgical
intensive care unit (SICU) involves not only those working in the SICU
but also those working in departments both upstream and downstream,
such as the recovery room and the progressive care unit. The following
scenario illustrates this relationship.

The manager in the post anesthesia care unit (PACU) implements a staffing re-
duction in order to comply with his salary budget and increase the level of pro-
ductivity. With the lower staffing level, patients are not extubated before being
transferred to the SICU. As expected, productivity in the PACU increases because
of the reduction in staff FTEs. But because the additional work of extubating the
patients has been passed along to the SICU nurses, it takes them longer to move
patients through the SICU, thereby reducing their productivity level. This down-
turn in performance is reported only to the manager of the SICU. If, however, he
or she shares the performance with the staff, the chances are good that the under-
lying cause of the decrease in productivity will be identified. If only the manager
looks at the reports, the cause may not be identified. Further, if the manager of
the PACU sees the drop in SICU productivity, he or she may be able to work to
resolve the budget and productivity issues in both departments. Not knowing that
the SICU has a problem, the PACU manager may take no action.

Related to the notion of increasing awareness is involvement of the man-
agement team. As a group, managers need to be aware of and understand
performance levels throughout the organization. Since organizational per-
formance is the sum of departmental performance, it is essential that the
departments act in concert with each other. This requires that each know
what the other is doing and how the various departments are performing.

A prudent approach to management dictates that periodically managers
call a “time-out” and assess their performance. This is really no different
from what nurses do at change of shift—the day shift hands off care to
the evening shirt. Assessments are made and actions planned. Similarly
with management, the assessment is based on the information contained
in the performance reports, and the actions planned are those necessary to
achieve compliance with the budget.

The last reason to report on performance is to achieve objectives.
Without a good set of performance reports, managers are, essentially, fly-
ing blind. They do not know if they are performing better or worse than
planned. Are they underachieving their goals or overachieving? What
actions need to be taken? Which performances should be reinforced and
which ones modified? Performance reports are an essential element in
support of this main focus of a manager.
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CHARACTERISTICS OF GOOD PERFORMANCE
REPORTS

Good performance reports are timely, frequent, understandable, and com-
prehensive. The timeliness of the reports is judged by the amount of time
that elapses between the end of the performance reporting period and the
issuance of the reports. All too often in health care settings, reports are
received well after the end of the reporting period. Departmental perfor-
mance information for the three months ended on March 31, for example,
may not be available to managers until the end of April. By then, however,
another month has gone by. If performance has been poor, there is now
another month of problematic performance before the manager becomes
aware of the situation. Additional time will be spent analyzing the reported
data before the manager can begin to take appropriate corrective action.
Consider, forexample, the revenue performance displayed in Figure 10.1.
After rising slightly in the month of February, revenue performance has
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Figure 10.1

Revenue performance has been declining each month following a high of
$1,150,000 in February. Earlier efforts to stem the tide may have helped
avoid some of the decline.
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declined nearly every month. Perhaps there is no real cause for concern
at the end of the first three months, but when revenue declines again in
the month of April, the manager should be worried. When will the April
numbers become available to the manager? Regrettably, the answer is the
end of May. The manager will spend some time then analyzing the rev-
enue performance to determine what went wrong and to determine what
actions can be taken to remedy the situation. That’s going to take a bit of
time. As a consequence, the manager may not be able to implement cor-
rective action until sometime in the month of June. When will the reports
for June be available so the manager can know if his actions were success-
ful? Not until the end of July. And it will not be until sometime in August
that the manager will have analyzed the data to determine, hopefully, the
effectiveness of his remedial actions. Thus, the revenue slide that began at
the beginning of the year may not be fully understood and corrected until
nearly six months after the slide began.

This does not have to be the case, however. Other industries have dis-
covered ways of getting performance reports to managers much sooner.
In a health care setting, managers should work with the finance staff to
make available the preliminary reports or reduce the time lag between
the end of the reporting period and availability of the reports. This may
require executive action to convince the finance department that timeli-
ness outweighs accuracy. It should be remembered that the finance disci-
pline places a significant value on accuracy of information. As a result, the
accountants are reluctant to release reports until they are certain that they
are as accurate as can be. This, however, works to the disadvantage of line
management, which needs information as rapidly as possible, even if it is
not entirely accurate. A simple test. Which is better? To know that pre-
liminary actual spending is $755,000 compared to a budget of $700,000
or to wait a month only to find out that the actual spending is $757,000
compared to the same $700,000 budget? An active manager would rather
have the report that’s just slightly inaccurate because he can begin to take
action immediately. It does not matter whether he is overspent by $55,000
or $57,000. What matters is that he knows his position and takes action
immediately. Waiting an additional month for the modest increase in accu-
racy may result in a further deterioration of performance.

While managers must wait for performance reports dealing with overall
performance, reports relative to salary costs are available on a more timely
basis. Every pay period, the payroll report provides information for the pay
period just ending. Considering that the labor resource represents as much
as 65% to 70% of overall hospital operating cost, and at the department
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level as much as 90% of operating cost, the use of payroll reports to con-
trol salary spending provides managers with an effective way to shorten
the time and begin taking appropriate action far sooner than waiting for a
summary performance report. In order to take advantage of this, however,
it is essential that the budget be divided into pay periods, not just monthly
amounts. In essence, this approach allows managers to manage the largest
fraction of their budget with near real-time control.

The frequency of reports (how often they are received) is important as
well. For the most part, a monthly reporting cycle works well for over-
all department performance management. Any more frequently and the
reports would merely serve to confuse and disrupt management. The
proper frequency for labor reports is every pay period. And, again, timeli-
ness is essential. Reports should not lag past the end of the period being
reported by more than a day or two.

When reports are prepared, finance uses a technique called data reduc-
tion (Figure 10.2) to summarize the data. In this example, it combines

Revenue
Reports
Payroll
Distribution
Reports
Departmental L_aundry and
Performance Linen Usage
Reports Report
Supply
Consumption
Reports
Inventory
Distribution
Report
Accounts
Payable
Figure 10.2

Data reduction is used to summarize and combine data into departmental
performance reports. Laundry and inventory report data are combined and
reported as part of the supply reports which, in turn, are combined with
other reports to populate the departmental performance report.
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information from a laundry usage report with that from an inventory dis-
tribution report to make a supply consumption report. In turn, that supply
consumption report may be combined with other reports and funneled into
an overall summary departmental performance report. Often, however,
managers do not understand how the summarization process works.

When managers analyze their performance to determine, for example,
what they are spending their consumable supply dollars on, they need to be
able to backtrack through the summarized data to get to the source. How
can they do this, if they do not know how the summarization was done to
begin with? Managers should invest in the relationship with finance and
work together to develop a reporting system road map that indicates how
each line in the summary performance report accumulates data. Which
reports funnel into which other reports? What lines from one report are
combined onto a single line in another report? By understanding the data
reduction routine, managers will be better equipped to analyze their per-
formance and spot reporting errors.

In order to be effective, managers need information about the elements
of the organization for which they are responsible. That means reports
must support the information needs of the managers. Reports must be
timely, understandable, and free of material misstatement. And the reports
must be comprehensive, providing a detailed accounting for all trans-
actions that affect the departments. A list of such reports is provided in
Table 10.1 These reports must inform the manager about all aspects of
the department’s performance and provide what amounts to be a mini
profit and loss statement supporting the notion that the manager is the
department’s CEO.

A departmental performance report will tell the manager, in a reason-
ably summarized fashion, about the revenues, expenses, and profits of the
department for the time frame being reported. In most cases this is both
the current month and the year-to-date.

Two other reports would support this departmental performance report.
The revenue and usage report details volume of services and the revenues
associated with them for those departments that provide billable services.
The volume and service statistics report does the same for those depart-
ments like maintenance and medical records that are unable to bill for
their services. These reports indicate the source of the volume, the loca-
tions of the services, and, in the case of revenues, whether it is inpatient or
outpatient revenue and perhaps its third-party classification.

Since labor costs represent a substantial fraction of total operating
costs, and at the departmental level may represent as much as 90% to 95%
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Table 10.1

Financial Performance Reports to Support Management
Report Title/Description Frequency
Departmental Performance Report Monthly
Revenue and Usage Report Monthly
Volume and Service Statistics Report Monthly
Payroll Report Pay period
Labor Distribution Report Monthly
Position Control Report Monthly
Supply Distribution Report Monthly
Pharmaceuticals Usage Report Monthly
Laundry and Linen Usage Report Monthly
Outside Purchases Report Monthly
Report of Interdepartmental Transfers Monthly

Accounting Department Adjustments Report ~ Monthly
Supply Usage Trend Reports
Medical and Surgical Supplies Usage Quarterly
Pharmaceuticals Usage Quarterly

of operating cost, reports detailing this cost category are essential. The
payroll report is produced along with each payroll and is especially useful
since it provides information during the time frame in which the expense
is being incurred. Rather than wait until the end of the following month
to receive a monthly summary (the labor distribution report), salary costs
during the current month can be monitored in the current month. This
gives managers a leg up time-wise in controlling their costs, assuming,
of course, that they have seasonalized the salary budget into pay periods
and not just monthly amounts. A second report of labor costs, the labor
distribution report, is generally prepared on a monthly basis. It details the
hours and wages associated with each type of pay: regular, overtime, sick,
vacation, and so on. This allows managers to focus on such elements of
performance as negative time use and overtime.

Finally, some organizations use a position control report as a means of
controlling the hiring process. This report lists all positions along with
a position or control number for each. If a numbered position is already
filled, obviously, another worker cannot be hired. If a numbered posi-
tion is vacant, the manager can proceed with the hiring process. If the
manager wishes to pursue a new hire, but does not have a numbered, and
thereby authorized, position, he or she is barred from hiring. Some love
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the position control approach because it represents a higher level of con-
trol over the hiring process. Others see it as intruding into the manager’s
area of responsibility. The reality is probably somewhere in between. If
the management staff are mature, self-discipline should be sufficient to
prevent over-hiring and a position control system is superfluous. If, on the
other hand, the management staff are relatively inexperienced, a properly
used position control system will prevent them from making costly and
long-lasting hiring mistakes.

The next set of reports deals with consumables (supplies, pharmaceu-
ticals, linens, and outside or direct purchases—those not coming through
the normal internal supply system) and provide managers with informa-
tion about the biggest elements of nonlabor spending. While for most
departments labor is the biggest expense, some, like the pharmacy and
the ORs, spend the biggest chunk of their budgets on consumables. These
reports will show both current month and year-to-date activity.

Also of value are reports listing any transfers from one department to
another (interdepartmental transfers like the cost of maintenance work
orders) and any adjustments to the reported data made by the accounting
department (correcting a miscalculated charge or fixing a charge applied
to the wrong department). Basically, department managers need to know
the details of anything added to or removed from the department—much
like a prudent customer questions every transaction appearing on a bank
statement. These reports should be reviewed every month.

Finally, trend reports allow managers to look for patterns of spend-
ing that may prove useful in using their resources more effectively. Are
purchases properly timed along with volume? Does supply consumption
track with the rise and fall of service volume?

READING THE REPORTS

One challenge for managers, especially those new to the management
role, is how to read the reports, that is, what numbers should be examined
first, second, and so on. Even a summary performance report can contain
hundreds of numbers: current month and year-to-date amounts for actual
and budget, variance amounts, revenue and expenses, and so on. There is
a lot to look at, and some managers suffer from a bit of overload. A sys-
tematic review of the performance report serves them best.

Generally, as seen in the simplified, six-month performance report
in Figure 10.3, the department’s revenues are reported at the top. This
is followed by the operating expenses and then the departmental profit,
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Typical Hospital
Departmental Performance Report
December 31, 20XX

CURRENT MONTH YEAR-TO-DATE
ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE
DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE
5 70,000 $ 100,000 $ (30,000) INPATIENT REVENUE 600,000 600,000 1 -
50,000 50.000 - OUTPATIENT REVENUE 320,000 300,000 20,000
S 120,000 $ 150,000 5 {30,000) TOTAL PATIENT REVENUE $ 920,000 $ 900,000 $ 20,000
DIRECT EXPENSES
S 70000 § 70000 § - SALARIES 428,000 420,000 ' (8,000.00)
10,000 10,000 5 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 62,000 60,000 (2,000)
17,000 20,000 3,000 SUPPLIES 125,000 120,000 (5,000)
16,000 20,000 4000  PURCHASED SERVICES 118,000 120,000 2,000
13,000 15,000 2,000 REPAIRS 88,000 90,000 2,000
4,000 5,000 1,000 OTHER EXPENSES 29,000 30,000 1,000
5 130,000 $ 140,000 $ 10,000 TOTAL DIRECT EXPENSES $ 850,000 $ B40,000 $ (10,000)
$ {10,000} 3 10,000 5 (20,000) INCOME CONTRIBUTION $ 70,000 $ 60,000 $ 10,000
Figure 10.3

A departmental summary performance report provides managers with rev-
enue, expense, and profit data each month.

sometimes referred to as the department’s income contribution. Some
reports list current month activity on the left and year-to-date on the right
separated by the line descriptions. Others have the descriptors on the left
and then show current month and year-to-date in the middle and right,
respectively.

The most effective way to manage is to act on the basis of approxi-
mate location, direction, and pace. Managers must ask three ques-
tions: Where am I performance-wise? Where am I heading? How fast
am I moving? In reviewing performance using the report depicted in
Figure 10.3, the first thing to look at is the lower-right corner of the
report—the six-month year-to-date variance from ‘“bottom-line” per-
formance. This is the approximate location: $10,000 favorable to bud-
get. So the answer to the first question is that the location is ahead of
plan and thus favorable by a significant amount. The second question,
direction, is answered by looking at the corresponding variance on the
current month side of the report. In this case, performance is $20,000
unfavorable. Thus, performance is favorable so far, but deteriorating.
And what about movement? Performance is changing fairly rapidly. If
January’s performance is like that experienced in December, year-to-
date performance will be unfavorable.

Once these three questions have been answered, the manager can pro-
ceed to analyze the department’s performance by working up and to the
left in looking at the revenues and expenses and the variances. Generically,
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this question must be answered: why is the actual amount reported higher
or lower than budget? With the inpatient revenue, for example, why is the
revenue in December so much lower than the budget? This continues until
all the significant variances are understood. (See Chapter 11 for an expla-
nation of Variance Analysis.)

Remember to look at the budget amounts to determine not only their
accuracy in terms of the amount of budget allotted to the department but
also their seasonalization. If the budget is not divided into the monthly
amounts properly, it can give the impression of a performance variance
when none really exists. Consider, for example, the inpatient revenue as
reported in Figure 10.3. The budget of $100,000 for the month is exactly
one-sixth of the amount of year-to-date revenue budget, indicating that
the year’s budget was divided by 12 and spread evenly to all months. But
is this realistic? Is it proper to assume the same amount of inpatient vol-
ume and revenue will accrue to the hospital in December, a month that
typically experiences a drop in elective admissions? Perhaps the budget
should have been seasonalized, with more allotted to other months and
less in December. A review of past history can provide valuable insights
into possible seasonal patterns, which can then be taken into account as
the budget is seasonalized.

HOW TO LOOK AT THE NUMBERS

Examine the ER visit counts shown in Table 10.2. Is volume rising or fall-
ing? Is there a pattern of business? Is there a seasonal cycle? How easy is
it to discern the answers to these questions?

It is virtually impossible to answer those questions merely by examin-
ing the table. Trying to “see” patterns and trends requires the mind to make
over 12,000 individual comparisons—not a good use of brain power—and
a potentially migraine-inducing exercise! But if this same data were dis-
played graphically (Figure 10.4), a clear picture would be evident. First,
over the long run, volume is essentially flat at between 2,700 and 2,800
visits a month. However, in the short run from November of fiscal year
2003 until the present, there is a strong upsurge in volume. It is clear, as
well, that there is a cycle to the business—down in the winter months and
then back up.

Why are these trends and patterns important? If volume continues to
grow, there could eventually be issues with staffing and physical plant
capacity. If renovations are necessary, the winter months look to be the
best time since volume is lowest and the chance for disruption would be
minimized. The winter months could also be the time for staff in-service



Table 10.2
The Pattern of Emergency Room Visits

The Makebelieve Medical Center

For the Fiscal Years Ending June 30

20X1 20X2 20X3 20X4
July 2,989 2,960 3,016 3,035
August 2,928 2,939 2,768 2,941
September 2,783 2,994 2,572 2,863
October 2,929 2,749 2,749 3,051
November 2,676 2,575 2,396 2,630
December 2,556 2,538 2,436 2,660
January 2,612 1,978 2,555 2,686
February 2,474 2,234 2,482
March 2,977 2,626 2,614
April 2,835 2,658 2,694
May 2,976 2,913 2,921
June 2,760 2,795 2,826
Total 33,495 31,959 32,029 19,866
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Figure 10.4

The graph allows the reviewer to visualize the up and down monthly per-
formance over the years. This makes it easier to discern patterns and trends
that are not readily evident when looking only at the data table.
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programs and for recruiting in anticipation of an upswing in volume com-
ing out of the winter months.

Clearly the data presented in Table 10.2 tell the same story, but the data
itself cloud perception. The graph, on the other hand, makes patterns and
trends more easily discernable. However, no graph should be presented
as a single line without some other data being plotted along with it. Con-
sider, the graphs displayed in Figure 10.5. At the top is a single-line plot
of business volume. Clearly, it is rising, but is it better or worse than
planned? There’s really no way with this single line to tell the complete
story.

The middle graph is better because there is now a qualitative aspect
to the graph. Think of the straight lines as budgeted volume. If the lower
line represents the budget, then the department’s volume is performing
better than planned. If the upper line is the budget, it is easy to see that
the department is performing worse than planned. Normally, only a sin-
gle line would be used to represent the budgeted amount. In this exam-
ple, both are shown for the sake of simplicity. There is one situation in
which two straight lines might be plotted—if one were trying to display
a best-case/worst-case situation. It would be easy to see that the volume
growth exceeds the worst-case estimate but has not grown as rapidly as the
best-case estimate. In either situation, the graph that displays both quan-
titative data (actual volume) and qualitative data (budget, estimate, etc.)
conveys far more information and is far more useful.

Both the top and middle graphs shown in Figure 10.5 represent
graphs that are rearward focused. They answer the question: How did
the organization perform? A graph containing historic information can
also be used to answer the forward-focused question: How will the
organization perform? This is illustrated at the bottom of the figure.
Here, the graph displays the trend of volume along with a capacity
line (the solid horizontal line at about 150 units of volume per month)
along with a projection of volume into the near term future. As seen
in the figure, demand will soon exceed capacity. If this graph was a
representation of ambulatory surgery volume and the indication was
that demand would exceed capacity in approximately 18 months, man-
agement would have the advance notice to modify the surgical sched-
ule, increase the number of days the ORs are available for ambulatory
cases, or even begin construction of added OR capacity. The ability to
see projections like this allows management to deal proactively with
various situations.
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Figure 10.5

A qualitative plot line along with a quantitative line provides more

information.
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SOME IMPORTANT POINTS TO REMEMBER

Graphs are a simple and effective tool that helps managers to discern pat-
terns and trends. This is because large data tables are very difficult to
assimilate. It takes an inordinate amount of effort to “crack the code” so
to speak and discern the message of the data. A well thought-out graph,
on the other hand, immediately converts data into useable information.
That’s not to suggest that tabular data reports can ever be eliminated. On
the contrary, they are essential to business decision making because they
are the reality behind the graphs.

Graphic data presentations are easy to comprehend and can be especially
useful in visualizing the future. Just as the bottom graph in Figure 10.5
provided a glimpse into the future, graphs can also make it easier for man-
agers to make a point about overall performance. Graphs also facilitate
understanding of relationships between one element of performance and
another—for example, vacancies in nursing and pharmacy and medication
errors. One can talk about the connection, but the ability to present a graph
that displays both vacancies and errors rising and falling in sync with each
other drives the point home more effectively than discussion alone.

DASHBOARDS AND BALANCED SCORECARDS

The performance dashboard or balanced scorecard is a performance mea-
surement tool that provides a multidimensional view of where an organi-
zation is going compared to its chosen destination. It provides a record of
performance over time. As part of the financial management paradigm of
performance planning, performance measurement, and performance man-
agement, it is an essential tool for managing organizations.

In today’s environment, managers are overloaded with performance
reports. They receive report after report full of data. How effective are
these reports in guiding managers? Do they provide useful information
or merely mountains of data that actually obscure what is going on? To
be useful, performance information needs to be available quickly and in a
form that is easily understood.

While performance reports are indispensable, large tabular reports con-
taining all manner of data are difficult to assimilate. While these tabular
data reports can never be eliminated, graphic data presentations used in
dashboards are far easier to comprehend. Performance reports presented
in tabular form are indispensable. They provide the raw data needed for
analysis and to support decision making. But to provide immediate infor-
mation to be used to make “mid-course” adjustments, managers should
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rely not on the performance reports but rather on performance dashboards
tailored to the specific needs of the operating unit and its objectives. The
current environment demands vigilance and rapid response. Poor mea-
surement, lagged in time, improperly measured, or erroneously or inap-
propriately measured, can quickly lead to crisis.

THE VALUE OF THE DASHBOARDS

In the best health care accounting systems, a significant lag exists between
the end of a month and the availability of the monthly performance reports.
Performance in January, for instance, will not be reported until the end of
February. Even then the performance that is reported may not be fully
analyzed and understood until sometime late in March. As result, a perfor-
mance problem that occurs in the month of January may not be fully acted
upon until April at which time the performance in February and March
has deteriorated as well. As depicted in Figure 10.6, the dashboard, which
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Figure 10.6

As performance deteriorates, the lag time between the performance-altering
event availability of the performance report is greater than the lag time be-
tween the event and the alert provided by the dashboard. This permits man-
agement to take remedial action sooner rather than later.



212 HEALTH CARE BUDGETING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

reports leading performance indicators, is more likely to alert management
about performance problems far earlier than the performance reports.

STRATEGIC VERSUS OPERATIONAL

In order to manage any business effectively, it is important to look at both
short-term (operational) performance and the strategic or long-term needs
of the business. Dashboards and scorecards can be set up in such a way
that the dashboard concentrates on the operational indicators, while the
balanced scorecard focuses its attention more strategically.

By focusing on the strategic direction of the organization, the bal-
anced scorecard takes into account those factors, which are essential to
the long-term success of the organization. These include its competitive
positioning, the quality and efficiency of the services provided, the cre-
ativity and collaboration of its human resources, and the organization’s
growth. The scorecard seeks to provide leadership with information about
its position in the current time frame relative to its desired position in the
long term. Is the organization thriving? Is continued growth assured? Will
the current way in which the organization is operating assure its strategic
survivability? Is it growing over time?

By using appropriate measures for the long term, the balanced score-
card allows leadership to focus its attention on those elements of per-
formance that can best position the organization for long-term success.
Measuring and reporting on the competitive environment (market share,
volume growth), the organization’s financial strength (financial reserves,
debt capacity), its clinical quality and satisfaction levels and reputation
(use of best practice medicine, patient survey scores, staff turnover rates),
and investments in staff development (individual staff certifications,
group certifications like Magnet Status®' for nursing, staff participation
in national meetings) are important to keep an organization moving in the
proper long-term direction in an evolving health care environment.

Performance dashboards, on the other hand, focus attention on the
short-term or operational side of the business. The dashboard is structured
so that management can determine if current operations are consistent
with strategic goals. Leading indicators, which tell where the organization
is going, are used to supplement trailing indicators, which tell where the
organization has been. The dashboard strives to be multidimensional in
order to provide a richer view of performance. For example, if an impor-
tant operational objective is to reduce the age of the accounts receivable,
it is important to measure not only the total value or number of days in the
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receivables but also the write-offs. If write-offs are increasing, the receiv-
ables will be reduced, but the organization will suffer because amounts
owed to it will not be collected. For this reason, it is often necessary to use
multiple metrics when examining performance—two or three elements
that are interrelated or dependent on each other, such as the age of the
accounts receivable (the A/R) and write-offs. Performance dashboards
should contain metrics that report on both departmental performance and
organizational performance.

RAPIDLY AVAILABLE, REASONABLY SOUND DATA

Whatever performance metrics are selected to populate the dashboard,
they must use rapidly available and reasonably sound data and must be
leading versus trailing indicators. Management relies on approximate
location as opposed to GPS-style precision. As a result, it is not impor-
tant to understand exactly, to the penny, the size of the deviation from
the expense budget. What is important is the order of magnitude of the
deviation. Is a department $200,000 overspent? Or is it merely $2,000
overspent? Time consumed to determine the exact amount of the deviation
robs management of the time it needs to turn around performance. Further,
as demonstrated previously, waiting for the most accurate numbers can
cause performance reports to lag behind actual performance far further
than necessary. A dashboard that is built around approximate data and
available almost immediately is far more useful. As a result, managers
should not focus their attention on absolute precision with the measures
but rather their approximate value and rapid availability.

LEADING VERSUS TRAILING INDICATORS

Leading indicators of performance are far preferable to trailing indica-
tors. Trailing indicators tell where the organization or department has
been (past tense). Performance managers find more value in where the
organization is going (future tense). Thus, leading indicators are far more
important in populating the dashboard.

For example, consider cost per case—an appropriate measure of depart-
mental financial performance. This measure, however, is a trailing one; it
tells how the department performed in the past. More important is how
well the department will do in the future. For that reason a leading indi-
cator should be selected. Knowing that cost per case is calculated by
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dividing the department’s costs by the number of admissions or cases,
a prudent manager would want to populate the dashboard with indica-
tors about admissions: the raw number, admissions by the top 25 physi-
cians, average length of stay (ALOS), and so on. Selecting measures that
can give an indication of what is likely to happen with admissions (will
they rise, fall, or remain fairly constant over time?) allows the manager
to get out in front of the situation. In addition, the manager may wish to
populate the dashboard with leading indicators of cost performance: over-
time hours, monthly rate of spending, and so on. In this way, the manager
can see performance issues as they begin to develop and take appropriate
action before performance deteriorates.

POPULATING THE DASHBOARD

Managers are often unsure of the parameters to be included on the dash-
board. What indicators should be used? Budget compliance? Income con-
tribution? Vacancy rates? Cost per unit of service? To determine the best
indicators to use, one must first answer several other questions.

First, what are the primary objectives? Considering that the role of the
manager is to achieve the organization’s objectives and not merely the
departmental or operating unit objectives, the dashboard should include
measures of both operating unit and organizational performance. Manag-
ers should clearly understand what is expected at both levels. This dual
set of objectives forms the basis for selecting the dashboard metrics. The
evaluation of performance should be based on a combination of metrics.
Keeping in mind the need to balance the clinical imperative with the finan-
cial reality, both quality measures and financial measured should populate
the dashboard.

Next, once appropriate performance outcomes have been determined,
what are the best indicators of this performance and how easy is it to
obtain the indicators? If the desired clinical outcome is to move patients
through the hospital more effectively from a clinical standpoint and
thus more efficiently from a financial standpoint, it is fairly easy to
choose the metrics—ALOS for clinical and cost per case for financial.
But determining the proper metric to use if the desired clinical outcome
is the elimination of complications from venous thromboembolisms
in surgical patients may be far more difficult. Clinical complications
can often occur post-discharge and be difficult, if not impossible, to
quantify.
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The current environment demands vigilance and rapid responsiveness.
Poor measurement, lagged in time, improperly measured, or erroneously
or inappropriately measured, can quickly lead to crisis.

Reports that measure the wrong parameters or measure the right ones
the wrong way are useless. Consider ALOS. Hospitals measure ALOS in
days. But is that the right way to measure it? A patient in a bed for 96 hours
equates to a four-day stay. But what if that patient is appropriately dis-
charged in 100 hours? That, too, is a four-day stay, but the patient has been
exposed longer to the harm that is present in hospitals by about 4%—a
greater risk of mistake, hospital acquired infection, and so on. In addi-
tion, the bed’s capacity to be occupied by patients is reduced by the same
4%. That decrease in capacity can translate into a decrease in revenue.
Consider the difference such a shift in ALOS could mean for a 100-bed
hospital, as demonstrated in Table 10.3. At an average of 92 hours, a bed
can accommodate 95 cases a year. At 100 hours, that same bed can accom-
modate only 88 cases, a difference of 7 cases. For a 100-bed hospital,
that equates to 700 admissions. Assuming average net revenue per bed
of just $20,000, the monetary value is $14 million. If one were to assume
that because of operating inefficiencies the beds could not be immediately
refilled once emptied and the potential revenue stream was discounted by
15%, the monetary value remains high (nearly $12 million)—a tidy sum
for hospitals that are often cash strapped.

Table 10.3
Impact of Length of Stay on Hospital Net Revenue and Cash Flow

92-Hour Stay 100-Hour Stay

Calendar days 365 365
Hours per day 24 24
Hours per year 8,760 8,760
Hours of stay 92 100
Maximum potential cases 95 88
Potential additional cases 7
Average net revenue/case $20,000
Potential additional revenue/bed $140,000
Potential (assuming 15% inefficiency) $119,000
Impact by hospital bed size

100 beds $11,900,000

200 beds $23,800,000

300 beds $35,700,000
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MAKING DASHBOARDS MORE USEFUL

Once the decision has been made to develop a performance dashboard
or balanced scorecard, the focus should shift to the best way to present
the data. Graphs are far better than numeric indicators. As the old adage
goes, “a picture is worth a thousand words.” Among the best visualiza-
tions are line charts that indicate position and show trends in performance
over time. They can be annotated to highlight particularly good or bad
performance. Line charts are, by their very nature, simple and easy to
comprehend. They can be supplemented with comparative budget data,
best practice data, best-case/worse-case scenario estimates, and so on. In
this way, the quantitative data being reported can be given a qualitative
aspect to help put it into context. Is performance better or worse than
the budget? Is the department outperforming industry averages? Has per-
formance exceeded the expectations contained in the business proposal?
The following two examples in Figure 10.7 illustrate the importance of
comparative data.

The performance on the top merely conveys a sense of how busy the
organization was over the course of the year. The dotted line represents
actual business volume for each month of the year. It is fairly easy to see
that business is growing over time. But is it the level of business and the
rate of growth management should celebrate? Is the organization doing
as well as expected? If a budget line is added (the solid line in the bottom
graph), it is easy to judge performance. While the year started slowly, the
business volume outperformed the plan in the second half of the year and,
for the year as a whole, achieved a level of volume consistent with the plan.

IMPORTANT CHARACTERISTICS

When the decision to use dashboards and scorecards to convey informa-
tion and guide performance has been made, it is important to keep in mind
several characteristics that apply to the metrics being used, the perfor-
mance being reported on, and the manner in which measurement is used
in the organization.

The performance being reviewed and the outcomes to be achieved
must be measurable. The late Peter Drucker, the renowned management
expert, wisely observed, “If you can’t measure it, you can’t manage it.””?
It may sound wonderful that the principal objective of an organization
is to provide a high-quality patient care, but how exactly is quality mea-
sured? Although many areas of measurability surround clinical quality,
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Business volume over time is easy to see with a graph. But lacking a qualita-
tive indicator (budgeted volume), it is impossible to know if volume is consis-
tent with the organization’s plan.

including process measures, outcomes and patient satisfaction, the reality
is that there is no useable measure of clinical quality. Instead, measurable
surrogates for quality must be used to populate the dashboard. These can
include such measures as the quantity or rate of medication errors, patient
falls, and sudden and unexpected returns to the operating room.
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If the dashboard is going to be used as part of an individual perfor-
mance evaluation methodology, it is essential that there be agreement, in
advance, about the measures to be used. A moving target is impossible for
even the best managers to hit. So it is important to pick a target and stick
with it for a reasonable stretch of time (likely the full fiscal year). This
does not mean that the objectives or the measurements of performance
cannot be changed. On the contrary, they must change in response to mar-
ket conditions, changes in process, and other internal and external stimuli.
They can and should be changed over time to make them more rigorous so
as to require elevated levels of performance. At the same time, they should
not be changed so frequently as to confuse managers.

The metrics employed should be significant. There should be a strong
relationship between the data being reported and the desired outcomes
(almost an if-then relationship). For example, the volume of admissions
is a significant data element. If admissions decrease, bottom-line profit-
ability reduces dramatically and rapidly. Staff overtime, while important,
does not have the same if-then relationship to the bottom line. Profits can
actually increase at the same time staff overtime is rising if the added over-
time allows for additional volume of business. But whichever direction
admissions go, profits will go with them.

Because knowing where performance is going as opposed to where it
has been is so essential, leading indicators, those that are predictive of
future performance results, should be used in the dashboard. Knowing
how the organization or department has performed is important, but it is
more important to know where the organization or department will be per-
forming in the future. Measuring critical service vacancy rates (the num-
ber of vacancies in important positions such as nursing and pharmacy) is
a leading indicator of the potential for untoward events such as patient
falls and medication errors. Given the choice, it is more important to mea-
sure, for example, the vacancy rate in critical positions than it is to mea-
sure medication errors. The number of medication errors tells how many
patients were injured (past tense). A high vacancy rate in critical positions
is predictive of errors that likely will happen (future tense).

The measures used to populate the dashboard should be understand-
able. In other words, users of the data must understand how the individual
values are calculated. Knowing the formula, one is able to devise a strat-
egy to move the value in the desired direction. For instance, assume that
the performance measure in the OR is cost per case. That value is deter-
mined by dividing OR cost by the number of surgical cases. If one knows
that, then the efforts to improve the value will focus on either increasing
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the number of surgical cases or decreasing cost. Not knowing how the
measure is calculated, a manager might waste his or her time implement-
ing inappropriate strategies that are doomed to fail.

Frequency with which data are reported should be carefully controlled.
Reports that arrive too “fast and furious” can often be quite distracting.
For the most part, the appropriate frequency of reporting is monthly. But
for some indicators, a greater frequency is very appropriate. In the admit-
ting office, a report of available beds that was received only once a month
would be completely useless. Far better would be a report that flashes bed
availability in real time much like the ticker in Times Square. Equally
important, the timeliness of the dashboard can either help or hinder man-
agement. Because it is perfectly legitimate to populate dashboards with
data that is merely approximately accurate as opposed to absolutely accu-
rate, the dashboard can be assembled and published faster than the usual
performance reports that it supplements. The rapid availability of such
data can shorten the time between actual events and the discovery by man-
agers, which, in turn, shortens the time interval between the event and
remedial action.

Another important characteristic of the dashboard elements is that
they be communicable. It is impossible for managers alone to achieve
operating results. The entire staff must be involved. Because of this, it
is important that the entire staff understand what is being communicated
via the dashboard. For this reason, every element of the dashboard must
be communicated in a way that the staff can understand it. While tables
of numbers can convey data, a graphic presentation of dashboard results
conveys information. The brain does not have to sort through the numbers
to determine if a trend is developing; the eye can see it. The use of graphs,
color-coding (the red light, green light logic of traffic signals), and other
similar visualizations enhances communicability.

Figure 10.8 displays a dashboard with a mix of metrics dealing with
financial and operational matters as well as clinical quality and satisfac-
tion. Note that the data displayed in the upper dashboard must be care-
fully read to determine the favorable and unfavorable performance. At the
bottom, however, the use of bold face and italic typefaces (bold type for
unfavorable and italics for favorable) clearly indicates if the performance
is good or bad for each indicator. Another approach is to use circles in
much the same way that Consumer Reports® does in rating products it
has reviewed. The best approach is to color code performance—red for
unfavorable, yellow for transitional, green for good, and blue for superior
performance.
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Figure 10.8

The indicators in the top dashboard must be read carefully to determine
performance compared to target. The bottom dashboard, displaying the
same values, uses different typefaces to identify favorable and unfavorable
performance.

Finally, the number of metrics should be limited in number. A dash-
board that displays over 100 indicators is, essentially, useless because it
provides too much data. It confuses. It overwhelms. A far better approach
is to limit the number of measures that are being reported. A decent start-
ing point is to suggest perhaps a dozen critical indicators. These can be
segregated into clinical, satisfaction, financial, and operational. This pro-
vides a snapshot of performance that strikes a balance between the clinical
side and the business side. The number of data elements can be expanded
if color-coding is employed. Those data elements coded green are within
performance specifications and need not be attended to, while those in red
are in need of attention. In this way many more indicators can be reported
without overwhelming management.

ONE FINAL CHOICE

The final step in developing a performance dashboard or balanced score-
card is to decide between accountability and improvement. Is the purpose
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of developing the dashboard to hold people’s feet to the fire or to improve
the overall functioning of the organization? If accountability is the pur-
pose, trailing indicators will suffice. Accountability is, after all, a rearward
look at performance. But if the purpose is to improve performance, leading
indicators are essential. These are the ones that tell where the organization
is going, and in knowing that, one can take steps to improve performance.
But which is more important, accountability or improvement? Per-
haps the most prudent approach is to develop dashboards that do both by
including leading and trailing indicators that provide a sense of where the
organization is going while at the same time telling where it has been.

NOTES

1. Magnet Status® is a registered trademark of the American Nurses Creden-
tialing Center. For more information visit http://www.nursecredentialing.org/
Magnet/ProgramOverview.

2. “If You Can't Measure It, You Can't Manage It!” National Computing Center,
Amersham, UK http://www.ncc.co.uk/article/?articleid=15472.

3. Consumer Reports is a publication of Consumer Union.
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Chapter 11

ANALYTICAL TOOLS

Whether trying to determine the cause of a performance variance, forecast
future business results, or make a decision about equipment acquisition
program viability, a number of financial analytical tools are available to
assist managers throughout the organization.

VARIANCE ANALYSIS

Simply stated, a variance is the difference between actual performance and
planned performance. In examining performance reports, do not worry
about whether actual is more or less than budget; concentrate on better or
worse. If the actual amount is better than budget, the variance, regardless
of how it is marked, is favorable. If the actual value is worse than budget,
the variance is unfavorable. Since almost all performance reporting sys-
tems list actual, budget, and a variance amount, managers do not need to
calculate the variance. Instead, their effort should be focused on under-
standing how a variance occurred; what was the underlying cause?

Given the manager’s responsibility to control the use of resources, vari-
ance analysis is one of the most important tools a manager can use. It is
the only way to understand the real cause of the variance so that appropri-
ate action can be taken. If drug utilization is the reason pharmaceutical
spending is worse than budget, the solution may lie in physician educa-
tion, clinical pharmacist interaction, and so on. But if the real reason for
the unfavorable variants is the price of the drugs, a different set of actions
will be necessary. Guessing the cause can send the pharmacy director off
in the wrong direction and yield no improvement despite a great deal of
activity. Variance analysis will assist the pharmacy director in determin-
ing if the cause is price, drug utilization, or a combination of the two. Do
not confuse variance reporting with variance analysis. Variance reporting
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merely lists the elements that sum up to the variance, while variance anal-
ysis determines underlying cause.

TYPES OF VARIANCES

Several types of variances associated with revenues and expenses can be
accounted for:

Volume variance

(Revenue) Price variance
(Service) Utilization variance
Labor rate variance

(Labor) Efficiency variance
Purchase price variance

(Supply) Usage variance

The first of these, the volume variance, applies to both revenues and
expenses. The volume variance accounts for differences in either revenue or
expense associated with differences in volume between actual and budget.
Higher (better) volume than budgeted should mean more revenue, while
less (worse) volume than planned would suggest a lower amount of revenue.

In examining revenue performance, variances can be associated either
with price or utilization. A price variance occurs when the actual price
differs from budget. Prices that are lower (worse) than budget result in an
unfavorable variance, while prices that are higher (better) result in a favor-
able variance. Similarly, a utilization variance occurs when the actual ser-
vice utilization differs from budget. Utilization that is lower (worse) than
budget results in an unfavorable variance while utilization that is higher
(better) results in a favorable variance.

Four different variances can be calculated to explain a deviation from
budget in the operating expenses: two for labor costs and two for supply
costs. In the labor expense category, a labor rate variance results from pay-
ing higher (worse) or lower (better) hourly rates of pay than contemplated
in the budget. The labor efficiency variance is associated with the use of
more (worse) or less (better) labor hours than budgeted.

In examining supply spending, a purchase price variance results from
paying prices that are more (worse) or less (better) than budgeted. A sup-
ply usage variance results from supply consumption that is lower (better)
or higher (worse) when compared to that which was budgeted.
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WHEN TO LOOK

Many departmental performance reports list dozens and dozens of line
items, and the thought of analyzing each variance can be daunting. Should
every line item variance be examined using variance analysis? To answer
this question, consider the performance report showing Table 11.1.
A responsible manager must perform enough variance analysis to under-
stand the underlying causes of the total variance of $151,300. The best
approach to reducing the amount of analysis work is to establish a perfor-
mance corridor. This approach recognizes that there will always be a few
variances. Only those significant enough to fall outside of a predetermined
performance corridor must be analyzed.

There are two ways to establish this corridor. The first is to base it on a
dollar amount, say $500. All variances greater than $500, whether favor-
able or unfavorable, would be examined. Had this $500 corridor been used
with the data in Table 11.1, only 8 of the 12 variances (those marked **)
would be analyzed. The problem with a dollar corridor is that in some
cases, it can mislead. A $500 variance against a $350,000 budget is not
worth the effort, but a $500 variance against a $700-budget item should
be examined.

Table 11.1
Departmental Spending for the Period Ending January 31, 20XX
Actual Budget Variance Percent Variance
Printing $198,200 $200,000 $1,800%* 0.9%
Office supplies 10,800 100,000 89,200%* 89.2%++
Uniforms 19,800 20,000 200 1.0%
Books and 8,900 9,000 100 1.1%
periodicals
Equipment— 28,800 3,000 (25,800)**  —-860.0%++
noncapital
Instruments 58,200 60,000 1,800%* 3.0%
Linens 183,000 104,000 (79,000)**  —76.0%++
Chemicals 38,200 5,600 (32,600)**  —582.1%++
IV supplies 437,500 430,000 (7,500)** -1.7%
1V solutions 92,800 93,000 200 0.2%
Stock drugs 135,600 36,200 (99,400)**  -274.6%++
Medical gasses 90,300 90,000 (300) -0.3%

Total $1,302,100 $1,150,800  $(151,300) -13.1%
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A better approach is to establish a percentage corridor. If a 5% corridor
had been established in approaching the data in Table 11.1, five variances
(those marked ++) would be analyzed. The advantage of a percentage cor-
ridor is that it establishes the limit in terms relative to the size of the bud-
get. Thus, a $200 variance against a $900 budget, which missed the dollar
cut, would now be included because it is a 22.2% variance.

As important as when to look is when not to look. Do not confuse
variance analysis with simple spending analysis that merely identifies
how funds were used. Although large expense amounts may yield sav-
ings, they may not involve a variance for the budget. Again, consider the
data in Table 11.1 to determine why the budget is overspent by more than
$150,000. The manager’s time and effort should be directed at the major
variances, in this case, those greater than 5% deviation from budget. The
account with the greatest amount of spending (IV supplies) had very little
variance, and based on a 5% corridor, it need not be examined. If, on
the other hand, the manager wished to develop a corrective action plan
to reduce spending on IV supplies, spending analysis may be helpful in
identifying some future spending that could be deferred.

HOW TO LOOK

Two methods can be used to analyze variances. These can be used when
dealing with either revenue or expense variances. One is an unsophisti-
cated method that accounts for differing volumes as part of the explana-
tion. The other is a sophisticated method that accounts for volume before
any analysis is prepared. Using the unsophisticated method, variance anal-
ysis would resemble the following.

Case 1

Table 11.2 reports the actual and budgeted supply consumption for the
first two months of the fiscal year. Actual consumption is favorable to the
budget by $15,100 ($42,600 — $27,500).

A usage variance can be developed by examining the quantities of
actual and planned consumption. Note that in Table 11.3 supply item 1
represents a 1,000-unit difference in consumption.

Next, a review of prices reveals that the price paid for supply item 3
was different (better); therefore, there is a purchase price variance (also
referred to as a price variance) that can be accounting for, as shown in
Table 11.4.
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Table 11.2
Actual and Budgeted Supply Consumption
Items Quantity Unit Price Total
Actual consumption
Supply item 1 1,000 $15.00 $15,000
Supply item 2 2,000 5.25 10,500
Supply item 3 1,000 2.00 2,000
$27,500
Planned consumption
Supply item 1 2,000 $15.00 $30,000
Supply item 2 2,000 5.25 10,500
Supply item 3 1,000 2.10 2,100
$42,600

Table 11.3

Usage Variance

Budgeted usage 2,000

Actual usage 1,000

Better usage 1,000

Price x$15.00

Usage variance $15,000 favorable

Table 11.4

Purchase Price Variance

Budgeted price $2.10

Actual price 2.00

Price improvement $0.10

Actual usage x1,000

Purchase price variance $100 favorable

Thus, the variance of $15,100 is now completely accounted for, as
shown in Table 11.5, and the manager can claim to have improved perfor-
mance by reducing supply consumption.

But did the manager consciously reduce consumption of supply item 1,
or was volume reduced significantly and only 1,000 units needed to be
consumed? In other words, was this performance caused mainly by a
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Table 11.5

Combined Variances

Usage variance $15,000 favorable
Purchase price variance 100 favorable
Total variance $15,100 favorable

reduction in service volume? To answer these questions, one would need
to prepare a more sophisticated variance analysis, one that took into
account actual volume compared to budgeted volume. This sophisticated
approach will be explained later in this chapter.

Case 2

Sometimes these variances may go in opposite directions (some favor-
able, some unfavorable), with a total of variance that may be either.
Using the performance data in Table 11.6, the variance to be accounted
for is ($14,900)—the parentheses indicating that the amount is unfa-
vorable. Actual spending is worse than budget ($42,600 — $57,500) by
$14,900.

Once again, the unsophisticated method will account for usage and pur-
chase price elements, as shown in Table 11.7.

Note that this variance is shown in parentheses to indicate that it is
unfavorable. Next, the purchase price variance is calculated, as shown in
Table 11.8.

Thus, the variance of ($14,900) is now completely accounted for, as
demonstrated in Table 11.9. The manager can claim to have improved
performance by reducing supply consumption.

Note that instead of being added, the smaller amount is subtracted
from the larger to arrive at the total. This is because similar variances are
combined (added), and dissimilar parents are netted, with the sign of the
largest (bracketed or unbracketed) carried forward to the total. In deter-
mining if a variance is favorable or unfavorable, the simplest and most
accurate method is to disregard the mathematics of whether actual per-
formance is higher or lower or more or less than planned. Instead, if the
actual performance is better than budget, the variance is favorable. If the
actual performance is worse than budget, the variance is unfavorable. Just
remember, whether talking about revenues or expenses, better = favorable
and worse = unfavorable.



Table 11.6
Actual and Budgeted Supply Consumption

Items Quantity Unit Price Total
Actual consumption
Supply item 1 3,000 $15.00 $45,000
Supply item 2 2,000 5.25 10,500
Supply item 3 1,000 2.00 2,000
$57,500
Planned consumption
Supply item 1 2,000 $15.00 $30,000
Supply item 2 2,000 5.25 10,500
Supply item 3 1,000 2.10 2,100
$42,600

Table 11.7

Usage Variance

Budgeted usage 2,000

Actual usage ﬂ

Worse usage 1,000

Price x$15.00

Usage variance ($15,000) unfavorable

Table 11.8

Purchase Price Variance

Budgeted price $2.10

Actual price ~2.00

Price improvement $0.10

Actual usage 1,000

Purchase price variance $100 favorable

Table 11.9

Usage and Price Variance

Supply usage variance ($15,000) unfavorable
Purchase price variance 100 favorable

Total variance $(14,900) unfavorable
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Case 3

One can also examine revenue variances using the same unsophisticated
method. The revenue data is shown in Table 11.10. The inpatient reve-
nue variance is favorable because actual revenue is better than budget by
$1,000,000 and the ancillary variance is unfavorable by $500,000 because
that kind of revenue is worse than budget. Because the variances are dis-
similar, they are netted to arrive at a total of $500,000, which is shown in
the table in parenthesis because it is unfavorable—worse than budget. The
detailed accounting for this variance begins by examining the elements
contributing to the inpatient revenue variance. This analysis uses a three-
column format to make it easier to comprehend.

There is a favorable volume variance in inpatient revenue of $1,000,000
resulting from 400 patient days more than in the budget. The calculation
is shown in Table 11.11.

The analysis would continue by examining the unfavorable ancillary
revenue variance of ($500,000) and, again, breaking it down into its

Table 11.10
Actual and Budget Revenue Data
Actual Budget Variance
Inpatient revenue ($) $10,000,000 $9,000,000 $1,000,000
Outpatient revenue ($) 5,000,000 5,000,000 -
Ancillary revenue ($) 7,500,000 8,000,000 (500,000)
Total ($) $22,500,000 $22,000,000 $500,000
Inpatient revenue data
Patient days 4,000 3,600 400
Room and board rate ($) $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00
Total revenue ($) $10,000,000 $9,000,000 $1,000,000
Ancillary revenue data
Radiology procedures 50,000 50,000 -
Procedure rate $105.00 $115.00 $(10.00)
Radiology revenue $5,250,000 $5,750,000 $(500,000)
Laboratory tests 20,000 20,000 -
Test rates $11250 811250 -
Laboratory revenue w w -

Total revenue $7,500,000 $8,000,000 $(500,000)
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Table 11.11
Utilization Variance
Actual volume 4,000 patient days
Budget volume 3,600
Better volume 400
Room and board rate x$2,500.00

Utilization variance

$1,000,000 favorable

Table 11.12

Rate Variance

Actual rate $105.00

Budget rate 115.00

Worse rate ($10.00) unfavorable
Procedure volume x50,000

Rate variance ($500,000) unfavorable

Table 11.13
Total Variance

Volume variance (inpatient)
Rate variance (ancillary)

$1,000,000 favorable
(500,000) unfavorable

Total variance $500,000 favorable

component pieces. In this case, for simplification, it is assumed that the
ancillary revenue is composed of only radiology and laboratory revenue.
In the “real world,” there would be many more pieces: pharmacy, nuclear
medicine, EKG, EEG, anesthesia, and so on.

It appears that a rate variance is involved in radiology; the plan was
to charge $115 for each procedure, but actually only $105 was charged.
Table 11.12 shows the calculation of the variance.

Thus, the revenue variance is accounted for, as shown in Table 11.13.

Up to this point, the unsophisticated method has been used to exam-
ine simple and straightforward variances; each variance is the result of a
single cause—price, usage, and so on. Often, however, a combination of
factors contributes to a variance.
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Case 4

The radiology department has recorded revenue from inpatient services
that is nearly 11% below the budgeted expectation (Table 11.14). In exam-
ining this situation, the manager needs to consider a number of factors that
have contributed to this situation. Inpatient volume, expressed in patient
days, is higher (better) than budget, and it stands to reason that radiology
procedures should also be higher, but they are not. In addition, the price
charged per procedure is less (worse) than planned. In this situation, three
different variances are at play: volume, utilization, and price.

Using the sophisticated approach, the first step in analyzing the per-
formance variance is to adjust the radiology budget to reflect an expecta-
tion that its departmental volume would be 10% higher—the assumption
being that if inpatient days are higher, radiology volume would also be
higher. The assumption is that radiology volume is 100% variable with
inpatient day volume. This results in an adjusted radiology volume budget
of 55,000 procedures, as seen in Table 11.15.

This volume adjustment results in a significantly larger and more unfa-
vorable revenue variance of nearly $1.2 million. Following this volume
adjustment to the budget, the variance analysis concentrates on utilization
and price variance calculations, as shown in Table 11.16.

Table 11.14
Selected Inpatient and Radiology Department Data
Actual Budget Variance

Patient days 11,000 10,000 1,000
Inpatient radiology procedures 49,000 50,000 (1,000)
Procedure price $105.00 $115.00 $(10.00)
Inpatient radiology revenue $5,145,000 $5,750,000 $(605,000)
Table 11.15
Selected Inpatient and Volume-Adjusted Radiology Department Data

Actual Budget Variance
Patient days 11,000 10,000 1,000
Inpatient radiology procedures 49,000 55,000 (6,000)
Procedure price $105.00 $115.00 $(10.00)

Inpatient radiology revenue $5,145,000 $6,325,000 $(1,180,000)
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Table 11.16

Total Variance

Utilization variance = (49,000 — 55,000) x $105 = ($630,000)
Price variance = ($105 - $115) x 55,000 = (550,000)
Total variance = ($1,180,000)

Utilization variance = (actual volume — adjusted budget volume) x actual price.
Price variance = (actual price — budget price) x volume-adjusted budget volume.

Following this analysis, the manager understands the magnitude of
the problem to be significant monetary deviations well in excess of what
was originally thought to be the case both in radiology utilization and in
procedure pricing. The manager can now begin taking corrective action.
This could include examining departmental throughput, which may be
the cause of the underutilization, and checking the price list to see if the
proper charge per procedure is being recorded. Remedial action, if pos-
sible, can be based on what is determined by the manager’s review.

Case b

A department manager has just received the monthly performance report
and notes that actual salaries are favorable to budget. Preliminary data are
listed in Table 11.17.

Based on a cursory review, the manager determines that no action is
needed—salaries are favorable to budget—and moves on to other issues. But
is the manager safe in doing so without performing variance analysis? A look
at the post-variance analysis data provided in Table 11.18 suggests otherwise.

As seen in this analysis, the situation faced by the manager is now
significantly different. Instead of a favorable position, salary and wage
costs have swung unfavorable to ($70,621)—an unfavorable performance
of 5.2%. The analysis is prepared by first gathering seven data elements:
actual and budget volume, actual and budget salaries, actual and budget
payroll hours, and the variable expense factor. Once these elements are
gathered, the math of the analysis can begin.

The variable expense factor represents that portion of the budget being
analyzed that goes up and down with volume. It is calculated this way. The
budget may contain 50 or 60 different items, maybe more. Some of them
don’t budge when volume goes up or down—the rental on the department
photocopier is an example of a fixed expense item. Others do. In the phar-
macy, for instance, some of the drugs are requisitioned out to the operating
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Table 11.17

Selected Monthly Performance Report Data

Description Actual Budget Variance
Salaries and wage cost $1,420,000 $1,425,400 $5,400
Payroll hours 47,300 46,000 (1,300)
Table 11.18

Volume-Adjusted Salary Variance Analysis

Actual volume 220,000

Budgeted volume 300,000

Variable expense factor 20.0%

Volume change factor -26.7%

Volume adjustment factor -5.3%

Description Actual Budget Variance
Salaries and wage cost $1,420,000 $1,425,400 $5,400
Volume adjustment (76,021) (76,021)
Volume adjusted amounts $1,420,000 $1,349,379 $(70,621)
Payroll hours 47,300 46,000 (1,300)
Volume adjustment (2,453) (2,453)
Volume-adjusted amounts 47,300 43,547 (3,753)
Labor rate $30.02 $30.99 $0.97
Labor rate variance $42,058

([Budget labor rate — actual rate] x volume-adjusted budgeted hours)
Efficiency variance $(112,679)
([Volume-adjusted budgeted hours — actual hours] x actual labor rate)

Total variance $(70,621)

units based on the number of patient encounters, visits, procedures and so
on. These are variable expense items. The variable expense factor is used
to limit any volume adjustment to the proportion of items that actually
vary with volume.

The best way to calculate the factor is to examine all of the budget items
and determine which ones actually do rise and fall with volume. These are
the variable ones. To do this, list all the budget items in one column, as
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Table 11.19

Variable Budget Items

Budget Item Total Budget Variable Portion
Item 1 $10,000 $5,000
Item 2 10,000 1,000
Item 3 10,000 500
Item 4 10,000 400
Item 5 10,000 1,000
Item 6 10,000 600
Item 7 10,000 4,500
Item 8 10,000 2,000
Item 9 10,000 5,000
Item 10 10,000 -
Total $100,000 $20,000

shown in Table 11.19. Then, in a separate column, list the amounts that
vary with volume.

Divide the total of the variable portion column by the total of the total
budget column. In this example, the result is 20%, the variable expense
proportion. This percentage is used as the variable expense factor, mean-
ing that 20% of the budget varies with volume. This is the only part of the
budget that needs to be adjusted for volume. The other proportion (the 80%)
does not need to be adjusted. Ask a colleague to check the logic because this
proportion will be used for the entire budget year and cannot be changed
from month to month. The proportion can be changed for the following fis-
cal year, but for the rest of the current fiscal year it must remain unchanged.

Having now determined the variable expense factor, the variance calcu-
lations can be made. First, the amount of change from budget the volume
has experienced. This is done by subtracting the budget amount from the
actual amount and dividing the result by the budget amount. Using the
data from Table 11.18,

Volume Change Factor = (220,000 — 300,000) + 300,000 = -26.7%.

The actual volume is less than budget by 26.7%. The budgets for salary
costs and payroll hours should be reduced. Not by the entire —26.7% but
rather by a lesser amount. In this case, the volume change factor will be
multiplied by the variable expense factor to arrive at the volume adjust-
ment factor. Table 11.20 shows the calculations.
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Table 11.20

Volume Adjustment Factor

Actual volume 220,000
Budgeted volume 300,000
Variable expense factor 20.0%
Volume change factor —26.7%
Volume adjustment factor -5.3%

Volume adjustment factor = Variable expense factor x vol-
ume change factor.

Volume adjustment factor = 20% x —26.7%.

Volume adjustment factor = 5.3%.

The salary and payroll hours budgets will be reduced by 5.3%. Once
that adjustment is made, the variances are called “volume-adjusted vari-
ances” because the budgets have been adjusted for volume. The budget for
salaries is reduced by just over $76,000, and the budget for payroll hours
is reduced by 2,453 hours. These “adjusted” amounts will next be used to
calculate the labor rate and efficiency variances.

Labor rate variance $42,058

([Budget labor rate — actual rate] x volume-adjusted budgeted hours)
Efficiency variance ($112,679)

([Volume-adjusted budgeted hours — actual hours] x actual labor rate)
Total variance ($70,621)

Now the manager knows what is driving the unfavorable performance.
Rather than having a favorable variance of $5,400, the department faces
an unfavorable variance of more than $70,000—a deviation of 5.23%.
While the labor rate performance is favorable by $42,058, the unfavorable
efficiency swamps the boat. Management action will focus primarily on
efficiency. Have work processes changed, thus requiring more manpower
than planned? Are the patients somehow different requiring more worker
time with each? Has the facility been modified increasing the distances
workers must travel in doing their day-to-day activities? And while the
labor rate variance is favorable, it could be impacting efficiency. Are the
workers less skilled and thus paid less than planned? Is the mix of high-
skill/low-skill workers different? Are the workers relatively new to the
organization, still in the orientation phase of employment and being paid a
“probationary” rate until they have proven their capabilities? New workers
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not only produce less work than longer-tenured workers but also consume
some time of longer-tenured workers with whom they are “buddied” dur-
ing their orientation or probationary period. It is entirely possible that the
department’s underlying problem may be the wrong workforce—paid less
for lesser skills and working less efficiently because of it. At this point, all
of this is speculation, but it is clear that the manager needs to investigate
the situation and take action to remedy it as soon as possible.

In fairness to the manager, it should be noted that the labor component
in this example is only 20% variable with volume. As a result, the nearly
30% drop in volume from the level originally budgeted may be too sig-
nificant for the manager to deal with effectively. Can a department rid
itself of a sufficient amount of salary cost to make up for a 30% drop in
volume? True, some of the labor component is a variable with volume
(overtime, float pool, agency use, etc.). But the vast majority of labor is a
fixed expense—it does not respond quickly to downturns in volume. Fir-
ing workers, reducing scheduled hours, and other drastic measures can be
used, but they are very disruptive to both the department and to the orga-
nization. Staff reduction via attrition is far less painful but takes far longer
to have an impact on cost. The solution to this manager’s problem may lie
not in adjusting the workforce but in finding ways to increase volume up
to the budget level. That may require communication to the executive level
as that may be where an increase in volume may originate.

Case 6

A similar variance analysis can be performed on supply performance.
In this case, the analysis takes on a horizontal display, as shown in
Table 11.21. Note that here, instead of a single salary line being analyzed,
a variety of supply items are listed and analyzed.

Once again, actual and budgeted volumes are used to calculate the vol-
ume change factor—in this example, volume is 10% higher (better, favor-
able) than budget. The variable expense factor, based on a careful review
of costs, is set, in this instance, at 100%, meaning all supplies move in
lock step with volume. If volume rises, so do costs. If volume falls, so do
costs. The volume adjustment factor is 10% (100% x 10%), meaning that
all budget lines will be increased by 10%.

Just as was done with salary variance analysis, the budgets for salary
spending and payroll hours were adjusted by the volume adjustment fac-
tor, so, here, the spending budgets and usage budgets are adjusted upward
by the 10% volume adjustment factor. The spending variance, which



(6T€°S$) SeL'ee1$  8SITIS (LSY'LT$) LLS'TTIS  $90°6ET$ [eoL,
9) P11 0TI 1T 1LE9 6LS (82¢) T6L'S 0TI1‘9 [ wa
- 0¢ 0¢ 0ce 0L¥'C Y44 (<) S¥TT 0STC I waly
@ 8¢ 0S¢ €8 8156 L8 (o) LOL'S LYL'S H wayy
61 €6 L 718 126°C 997 9tS $S9°C 601°C O woy
08 081 001 PIvT $10°€ vLT ovI‘l 0rLT 009°T o wag
¥2) 9Ty 0S¥ 08€T 0816 91¢'8 (9¢6°9) Y91°€8 001°68 T wo
I (187 00% €8 €8 SL 8 8L ovL q way
(956°'1) YTsT 08¢ 08€°6— 759 €65 (€L6°S) 626°S 206°T1 D way
(D 66S°1 009°1 LO6~ 699°L L69 (#09°D) TL6%9 9LS'8 g W)y
©10°1) 0SL 09L°T (€€0°S$) 888°C$ €9C$ (S6T°5$) ST9°C$ 0T6°'L$ v Wy
(3[qeI0ARJU()) UBLIBA 198png [emy AUBLIBA 193png judx (drqeroAe) 193png [eny wNT
pasnlpy  pasnlpy  -snlpy -un) £ddng
-WIN[OA =-WIN[OA QUIN[OA ADUBLIBA
adesn Surpuadg
10108} Jusunsn(pe awnjop %001
10)0B] 93URYD QWIN[OA %001
10308} 9suadxa d[qeLIeA %0001
Qwinjoa paredpng 0006
QUIN[OA [eN)Oy 0066

sisf[euy uelieA A[ddng pajsnfpy-sawnjop

TITT1919BL

238



(6T€°S$) (6LT°¢$) (050°C$)
1154 (29] SLT (61°0) 18°0S 00°'1S S cTl 1
0ce 9) Y44 (L1°0) €8 YL 00°SL € €€¢ €
1€8 1 078 €00 05T 66'7C X3 €8¢ Se
718 S LOS S0'0 68T 08T 8C 201 6
P11 (298] 8961 (8L°0) 49! 0091 86 861 81
08¢€C (Toen) £89°¢ (8L0) TTS61 00861 61 69% (9%
€8 (28] 96 (€0°0) 81 68’1 s 454 It
(08¢°S) 88L (691°9) LY0 68'¢ we 081 9L9°1 491
(L06) (6SL'T) 758 0 1) 9y 9¢'S 651 6SL1 091
(€£0°6$) (Sz8$) (80T¥$) 00°1$) 0S°€$ 0S'7$ SE6~ 4] SL
AUBLIBA AUBLIBA AUBLIBA (d1qeaoaejun)) 193png [eny AUBLIBA 193png judunsSn{py dwnjop
parsnlpy-awnjop ERTRE | agesn duUBLIBA pasnlpy pasnlpy
e, -WIN[OA -3WIN[OA
AdUBLIBA LI Nun

239



240 HEALTH CARE BUDGETING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

originally amounted to 17,487 unfavorable, has been reduced to $5,329
of unfavorable performance after the volume adjustment to the individual
supply budgets. The individual usage budgets are also adjusted upward by
10%. Because usage is budgeted on an individual item basis, there is no
single amount for total volume-adjusted variance.

Continuing with the analysis, individual unit prices are calculated by
dividing actual spending by actual usage to arrive at the actual unit price
and by dividing budgeted spending by budgeted usage to arrive at the bud-
geted unit price. When these amounts are compared, the individual supply
item price variances are determined. Using item A, for example, the actual
unit price is $4.50, while the budgeted unit price is $3.50, thus yielding an
unfavorable $1.00 per unit price variance.

The next step is to total the usage, purchase price and total variance for
each supply item. The sum of these will explain the total volume-adjusted
variance of $5,329. Using Line item A, the variances are calculated, as
shown in Table 11.22.

At this point, the department manager knows that the original $17,487
unfavorable variance has been mitigated by a volume adjustment of
$12,158, reducing the overall unfavorable variants to just $5,329. Further,
the manager knows that this variance is caused by both usage ($2,050)
and price ($3,279). Strategies can then be developed to attack the usage

Table 11.22

Total Volume-Adjusted Variance
Usage variance ($4,208)
Purchase price variance (825)

Total volume-adjusted variance ($5,033)

Usage variance = (Volume-adjusted usage budget — actual usage) x actual price
Usage variance = (825 — 1,700) x $4.50
Usage variance = $4,208 unfavorable

Purchase price variance

= (budgeted unit price — actual price) x volume-adjusted usage budget
Purchase price variance = ($3.50 — $4.50) x 825
Purchase price variance = $825 unfavorable
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and price problems. For usage, these may include examining the quality
of the products purchased or the pattern of usage. The strategies to deal
with price differences may involve the rebidding of supply contracts or
contacting vendors to arrange credits for incorrectly billed amounts. The
price strategies may be easier to implement than usage strategies.

One should also examine “contradictory” or offsetting variances as seen
with items C and E. The performance of item C illustrates what can hap-
pen when the lowest price item is purchased. The amount saved because
of low price ($788) is offset by higher consumption ($6,189). Item E illus-
trates what can happen when value is pursued instead of price. Here, the
extra spend on a more expensive item ($1,302) was more than made up
for by lower usage ($3,683). The moral of the story is, purchase wisely
and look at the total product cost of the item, not just the purchase price.

SOME CAUTIONS

Exercise caution when deciding not to analyze an account that has a small
variance. Not doing variance analysis in such a situation could result in
a false sense of security and inappropriate management inaction. It is
always possible that two variances, one strongly positive and one strongly
negative, are canceling out each other. If the favorable one deteriorates
over time, as often as the case in the “real world,” the manager may face
a sudden financial performance “surprise” and not be able to recover and
achieve the budgeted result. The best approach in situations like this is
to analyze these small variance accounts periodically, but less frequently
than monthly. The best way to make variance analysis easier is to prepare
the budget with sufficient detail. Budgeting only a single total amount
for large categories like pharmaceuticals makes variance analysis virtually
impossible. Insufficient detail is provided to result in any useful informa-
tion. With the information gained from properly prepared variance analy-
sis, there are three action steps for managers. The first is to communicate
the facts of the situation to higher management. In this way, everyone
benefits from the analysis, increasing its value to the organization. The
second step is the preparation of an action plan to remedy a bad situation
or take advantage of a good situation. The last step is to maintain vigilance
to avoid problems as time progresses. The knowledge gained from the
variance analysis should be helpful in this regard.

One question many managers ask is, by what amount can the budget
be overspent?” Since the manager’s principal role is to achieve the objec-
tives of the organization, overspending in one department that benefits
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the organization as a whole should not just be tolerated, but encouraged.
Remember, with the exception of grant or appropriation budgets, a budget
is a guide, not an absolute. A manager who refuses to overspend even if it
costs the greater organization is not helping the organization. The question
is, how much deviation is acceptable? A frank conversation with upper
management can answer that question. In some organizations, a deviation
of 1% or 2% may be tolerated. In some organizations and under certain
circumstances, even a small deviation cannot be tolerated.

In the for-profit arena, publically traded companies have far less toler-
ance for deviations. Projecting that the organization will miss the bottom-
line budget by two or three percentage points can trigger a profit warning
to the listing market (Nasdaq, New York Stock Exchange, etc.), never a
good thing for management or the company’s board. Managers, therefore,
must understand t